




















REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   923 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi, was convened at City Hall at 10:00 a.m. on September 10, 2024, being the second 
Tuesday of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

Present: Council Members:  Virgi Lindsay, Council President, Ward 7; Brian 
Grizzell, Vice-President, Ward 4; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth Stokes, 
Ward 3; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Aaron Banks, Ward 6. Directors: 
Chokwe Antar Lumumba, Mayor; Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of Council; 
Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Drew Martin, City 
Attorney. 

Absent:  None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The meeting was called to order by President Lindsay. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The invocation was offered by Bishop Dorothy Sanders Well of the Episcopal Diocese of 
Mississippi. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

The Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

The following announcements were provided to open the meeting: 

• Council Member Banks announced the following:

o Welcomed Supervisor Wanda Evers.

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

President Lindsay requested that Agenda Item No. 23 be moved forward on the Agenda. Hearing 
no objections, the Clerk read the following:  

ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI DECLARING A 
MUNICIPAL HOLIDAY IN HONOR OF CHARLES JAMES EVERS.  

WHEREAS, Mr. Charles Evers served the community in many capacities in the City of 
Jackson and the State of Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Charles Evers was the head of a local radio station in the City of Jackson 
known as WMPR; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Charles Evers has fearlessly contributed to the enhancement of the 
quality of life for the poor and disenfranchised citizens of the City of Jackson and the State of 
Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3-3-7 of the Mississippi Code, the State of Mississippi 
has declared the second day of September (Labor Day) to be a legal holiday and, as the birthday 
of Charles James Evers falls on September 11th, the second day of September is an appropriate day 
to set aside as an additional observance and commemoration of the life of Charles James Evers, a 
prominent Civic activist and political leader.  

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the City Council of the City of Jackson, that the second 
day of September be declared a municipal legal holiday in honor of Charles James Evers, in 
observance and commemoration of his life and his valuable contributions to the civil rights 
movement in this country.  

Consent Agenda Item No. 3
10.8.2024
(S.Jordan, Lindsay)



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   924 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the second day of September be officially recognized 
by the City of Jackson, Mississippi, as a legal holiday commemorating both Labor Day and Charles 
James Evers’ birthday.  

 Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Lindsay recognized Supervisor Wanda Evers and Carolyn Evers Cockrell, who 
thanked the Jackson City Council for honoring their father, James Charles Evers.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Lindsay recognized Council Member Hartley who moved, and Council Member 
Banks seconded, to amend said order to read “James Charles Evers” throughout the body of the 
said order. The motion prevailed by the following votes: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.     

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said order, as amended: 
 

ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI DECLARING A 
MUNICIPAL HOLIDAY IN HONOR OF JAMES CHARLES EVERS.  

WHEREAS, Mr. James Charles Evers served the community in many capacities in the 
City of Jackson and the State of Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. James Charles Evers was the head of a local radio station in the City of 
Jackson known as WMPR; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. James Charles Evers has fearlessly contributed to the enhancement of 
the quality of life for the poor and disenfranchised citizens of the City of Jackson and the State of 
Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3-3-7 of the Mississippi Code, the State of Mississippi 
has declared the second day of September (Labor Day) to be a legal holiday and, as the birthday 
of James Charles Evers falls on September 11th, the second day of September is an appropriate day 
to set aside as an additional observance and commemoration of the life of James Charles Evers, a 
prominent Civic activist and political leader.  

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the City Council of the City of Jackson, that the second 
day of September be declared a municipal legal holiday in honor of James Charles Evers, in 
observance and commemoration of his life and his valuable contributions to the civil rights 
movement in this country.  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the second day of September be officially recognized 
by the City of Jackson, Mississippi, as a legal holiday commemorating both Labor Day and James 
Charles Evers’ birthday.  

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.     
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Lindsay recognized Council Member Stokes who moved, seconded by Council 
Member Hartley to add an item to the agenda on an emergency basis, rescinding the order 
authorizing the Mayor to enter into an agreement with MV Contract Transportation Inc. for the 
provision of operations and maintenance of Jackson’s Public Transportations System (JTRAN) 
commencing January 1, 2024.  The motion failed by the following vote: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley and Stokes. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   925 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Nays – Grizzell and Lindsay.  
Absent – None.     
 
Note:  Said item failed due to lack of a unanimous vote. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

There came on for Introduction, Agenda Item No. 2: 
 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 
MODIFYING CHAPTER 26: ARTICLE XII ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
FOR RENTAL HOUSING. President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks 
who took a straw poll to allow legal to make any amendments before the next council 
meeting.  The vote was 6-0. President Lindsay stated that said item would be placed on 
the next Regular Council agenda to be held on September 24, 2024. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
There came on for Introduction, Agenda Item No. 3: 
 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI FOR THE 
HONORARY RENAMING OF A ONE BLOCK PORTION OF PASCAGOULA 
STREET TO HAL WHITE WAY. President Lindsay stated that said item would be 
placed on the next Regular Council agenda to be held on September 24, 2024. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
 

ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 62-12 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 
OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 
 
WHEREAS, the Neighborhood Traffic Calming Procedure was established to provide a 

procedure to consider, evaluate, implement and remove traffic calming measures on residential 
streets in the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, due to City funds for traffic being exhausted, several years have passed since 
the City has received applications for traffic calming and the traffic calming committee established 
by section 118-595 of the Code of Ordinances is now defunct; and 
 

WHEREAS, there is now a need to reconstitute the committee to review a self-funded 
application for traffic calming under the Neighborhood Traffic Calming Procedure; and 
 

WHEREAS, due to sporadic activity of the traffic calming committee, the operation of a 
separate committee is unnecessary and unduly burdensome to administer; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is proposed that a subcommittee of the City Planning Board appointed by 
the chairman of that Board to meet as needed to consider traffic calming application and to 
otherwise perform the duties of the committee originally created by the ordinance by amending 
section 118-593 of the Code of Ordinances as follows: 
 

The following words, terms and phrases, as used in this article, shall have the meanings 
respectively ascribed to them in this section, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

Arterial street means any major street in the city that serves as an avenue for the circulation 
of traffic onto, out of or around the city and carries high volumes of traffic. 

Collector street means any two- or four-lane street that links an arterial street with another 
collector street or a local street. 

Dwelling unit means one or more rooms physically arranged to create an independent 
housekeeping establishment for occupancy by one family. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   926 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Local street means any two-lane street with the primary purpose for providing access to 
abutting residential properties. 

Traffic calming committee means the seven-member subcommittee of the City Planning 
Board, each member representing one of the City’s seven wards and appointed by the 
Chairman of the Planning Board. The committee shall have the responsibilities set forth in 
Section 110-594 of the Code of Ordinances. 

Traffic calming device means an element of a traffic calming plan selected from among 
those devices authorized herein for use within the city. 

Traffic calming study means an appraisal of traffic conditions in the development of a plan 
for installing one or more traffic calming devices in a residential neighborhood. 

Traffic count means a manual or automatic count of the number of vehicles traversing a 
particular street in a given time period; and 

WHEREAS, the Neighborhood Traffic Calming Procedure currently requires one member 
of fifty-one percent (51%) percent of the dwelling units having automobile access on the block of 
the street where a traffic calming device is requested to initiate a traffic calming study; and 

 
WHEREAS, during the previously active period of the Traffic Calming Committee, the 

previous Committee enacted a regulation that required one member of seventy-six percent (76%) 
of the dwelling units having automobile access on the block of the street where a traffic calming 
device is proposed sign the petition agreeing to its installation; and 
 

WHEREAS, the previous Committee determined that this level of support on a block was 
essential to maintaining cordial relations among neighbors; and 
 

WHEREAS, based on the previous experience of the traffic calming committee, amending 
the ordinance to increase the threshold for initiation of a traffic calming study appears prudent for 
the continued efficient operation of the traffic calming committee; and 
 

WHEREAS, to accomplish this change, sections 118-595 & 600 of the Code of 
Ordinances should be amended as follows: 
 
Sec. 118-595. 
 

A traffic calming study shall be considered upon receipt by the traffic calming committee 
of an application signed by at least one member of at least seventy-six percent (76%) of 
the dwelling units having automobile access on the block of the street where a traffic 
calming device is requested. In the instance that a traffic calming device is proposed at the 
intersection of two streets, the signature requirement shall apply to all intersecting street 
blocks. In addition to the required signatures, the application shall identify the traffic 
problems to be remedied and goals to be achieved through traffic calming and the 
suggested traffic calming devices to be installed. 
 
Sec. 118-600. 
 
(a) Evaluation. The traffic engineering division shall evaluate traffic calming projects 

from a safety perspective within one year after installation. The evaluation will include, 
at a minimum, a review of traffic volumes, speeds, and accidents. 

 
(b) (b)Modification or removal. Upon a finding by the city traffic engineer of a hazardous 

situation or condition created by a traffic calming device, said situation shall be 
immediately corrected through modification or removal of traffic calming device or 
devices. Residents of an affected area may, upon submission of a petition to the traffic 
calming committee signed by at least one member of at least 76 percent of the dwelling 
units having automobile access on the block of the street where a traffic calming device 
is located, request its removal. In the instance that a traffic calming device is located at 
the intersection of two streets, the signature requirement shall apply to all intersecting 
street blocks. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   927 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. Section 118-593 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances is amended to read as 
follows:  
 

The following words, terms and phrases, as used in this article, shall have the meanings 
respectively ascribed to them in this section, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

Arterial street means any major street in the city that serves as an avenue for the circulation 
of traffic onto, out of or around the city and carries high volumes of traffic. 

Collector street means any two- or four-lane street that links an arterial street with another 
collector street or a local street. 

Dwelling unit means one or more rooms physically arranged to create an independent 
housekeeping establishment for occupancy by one family. 

Local street means any two lane street with the primary purpose for providing access to 
abutting residential properties. 

Traffic calming committee means the seven-member subcommittee of the City Planning 
Board, each member representing one of the City’s seven wards and appointed by the 
Chairman of the Planning Board. The committee shall have the responsibilities set forth in 
Section 110-594 of the Code of Ordinances. 

Traffic calming device means an element of a traffic calming plan selected from among 
those devices authorized herein for use within the city. 

Traffic calming study means an appraisal of traffic conditions in the development of a plan 
for installing one or more traffic calming devices in a residential neighborhood. 

Traffic count means a manual or automatic count of the number of vehicles traversing a 
particular street in a given time period. 

SECTION 2. Section 118-595 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances is amended to read as 
follows: 
 

A traffic calming study shall be considered upon receipt by the traffic calming committee 
of an application signed by at least one member of at least seventy-six percent (76%)of the 
dwelling units having automobile access on the block of the street where a traffic calming 
device is requested. In the instance that a traffic calming device is proposed at the 
intersection of two streets, the signature requirement shall apply to all intersecting street 
blocks. In addition to the required signatures, the application shall identify the traffic 
problems to be remedied and goals to be achieved through traffic calming and the 
suggested traffic calming devices to be installed. 
 

SECTION 3. Section 118-600 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances is amended to read as 
follows: 
 

(a) Evaluation. The traffic engineering division shall evaluate traffic calming projects 
from a safety perspective within one year after installation. The evaluation will include, 
at a minimum, a review of traffic volumes, speeds, and accidents. 

 
(b) Modification or removal. Upon a finding by the city traffic engineer of a hazardous 

situation or condition created by a traffic calming device, said situation shall be 
immediately corrected through modification or removal of traffic calming device or 
devices. Residents of an affected area may, upon submission of a petition to the traffic 
calming committee signed by at least one member of at least 76 percent of the dwelling 
units having automobile access on the block of the street where a traffic calming device 
is located, request its removal. In the instance that a traffic calming device is located at 
the intersection of two streets, the signature requirement shall apply to all intersecting 
street blocks. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   928 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

SECTION 4.  This ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days after passage. 
 
SECTION 5.  The Municipal Clerk shall cause this ordinance to be publish. 

 
 Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

The following individuals provided public comments during the meeting:  
 

• Lazar Hardy expressed concerns about a beautification contract with the City of Jackson. 
 

• Sheila O’Flaherty expressed concerns in regard to the impact of the JTRAN strike. 
 

• Bettersten Robinson expressed concerns regarding the purchase of the property next to 
hers that was recently torn down. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 30689 to 30736 APPEARING AT 
PAGES 338 TO 363 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 
CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,843,743.95 AND MAKING 
APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 30689 to 30736 appearing at pages 

338 to 363, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 
$2,843,743.95 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 
immediate payment thereof. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 
 
                                                                                                              TO 
                                                                                              ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
         FROM:                                                                                     FUND 

GENERAL FUND   1,868,543.94  
TECHNOLOGY FUND  68,303.83  
PARKS & RECR. FUND  134,986.45  
BUSINESS IMPROV FUND (LANDSCP)  375.98 
LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  11,935.73  
STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND   22,361.84  
WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  102.21 
DISABILITY RELIEF FUND  81,815.69 
EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE FUND  6,626.50 
HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  33,532.49 
EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT (ESG)  14,089.00 
UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION REVO  13.21 
TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS   32,189.06 
INFRASTRUCTURE BOND 2020 $32M  14,160.19 
TRANSPORTATION FUND   66,049.84 
RESURFACING – REPAIR & REPL. FD  4,234.97 
P E G ACCESS – PROGRAMMING FUND  2,611.33 
CAPITAL CITY REVENUE FUND   3,296.19 
MHC BLIGHT ELIMINATION PROGRAM   4,625.00 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   929 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

MODERNIZATION TAX  7,296.09 
2019 ED BRYNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE   9,015.00 
PLANNING AND DEV GRANTS  15,500.00 
CDBG COVID CARES  75,000.00 
PARKS & RECS GRANTS   73,338.00 
ZOOLOGICAL PARK  8,965.93 
LIBRARY FUND  162,250.74 
DFA-SB2971-TOUGALOO CENTER   4,059.00  
DFA-THALIA MARA HALL $2M  445.00 
DFA-EUBANKS HB1353  59,947.94 
BELHAVEN COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT   6,846.12 
2022 CRIME GUN INTEL GRANT  51,226.68 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $2,843,743.95 
 

Council Member Banks moved adoption; President Lindsay seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Lindsay recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who recommended 
an amendment on claims to remove a payment to Ultimate Merchant in the amount of $14,313.12. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

Council Member Banks moved; seconded by Council Member Hartley, to amend said order to 
reflect the changes as stated by Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer.  The motion 
prevailed by the following vote: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Lindsay recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who provided a 
brief overview of larger claims at the request of President Lindsay. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item, as amended: 
 

 
ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 30689 to 30736 APPEARING AT 
PAGES 338 TO 363 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 
CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,829,430.83 AND MAKING 
APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 30689 to 30736 appearing at pages 

338 to 363, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 
$2,829,430.83 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 
immediate payment thereof. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 
 
                                                                                                                 TO 
                                                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
         FROM:                                                                                         FUND 

 
GENERAL FUND   1,854,230.82  
TECHNOLOGY FUND  68,303.83  
PARKS & RECR. FUND  134,986.45  
BUSINESS IMPROV FUND (LANDSCP)  375.98 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   930 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  11,935.73  
STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND   22,361.84  
WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  102.21 
DISABILITY RELIEF FUND  81,815.69 
EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE FUND  6,626.50 
HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  33,532.49 
EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT (ESG)  14,089.00 
UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION REVO  13.21 
TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS   32,189.06 
INFRASTRUCTURE BOND 2020 $32M  14,160.19 
TRANSPORTATION FUND   66,049.84 
RESURFACING – REPAIR & REPL. FD  4,234.97 
P E G ACCESS – PROGRAMMING FUND  2,611.33 
CAPITAL CITY REVENUE FUND   3,296.19 
MHC BLIGHT ELIMINATION PROGRAM   4,625.00 
MODERNIZATION TAX  7,296.09 
2019 ED BRYNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE   9,015.00 
PLANNING AND DEV GRANTS  15,500.00 
CDBG COVID CARES  75,000.00 
PARKS & RECS GRANTS   73,338.00 
ZOOLOGICAL PARK  8,965.93 
LIBRARY FUND  162,250.74 
DFA-SB2971-TOUGALOO CENTER   4,059.00  
DFA-THALIA MARA HALL $2M  445.00 
DFA-EUBANKS HB1353  59,947.94 
BELHAVEN COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT   6,846.12 
2022 CRIME GUN INTEL GRANT  51,226.68 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $2,829,430.83 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell and Lindsay. 
Nays – Hartley and Stokes.  
Absent – None. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER APPROVING GROSS PAYROLL INCLUDING PAYROLL 
 DEDUCTION CLAIMS NUMBERED 30689 TO 30736 AND MAKING 
 APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payroll deduction claims numbered 30689 to 30736 
inclusive therein, in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $93,550.45 
plus payroll, are approved for payment and necessary amounts are appropriated from various 
municipal funds for transfer to the payroll fund for the immediate payment thereof. 
 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the following expenditures from the accounts payable 
fund be made in order to pay amounts transferred thereto from the payroll fund for payment of the 
payroll deduction claims authorized herein for payment:    

 
         TO                                           TO 

FROM:                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE                  PAYROLL     
                                                                                           FUND                                    FUND 

GENERAL FUND  2,616,171.10 
PARKS & RECR FUND  83,695.92 
LANDFILL FUND  23,284.54 
SENIOR AIDES  3,461.95 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   931 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WATER/SEWER OPER & MAINT  61,507.37 
PAYROLL  $93,550.45  
HOUSING COMM DEV  5,143.96 
TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS  5,962.95 
TRANSPORTATION FUND  17,066.84 
PEG ACCESS-PROGRAMMING FUND  5,452.89 
2020 SAKI GRAND DOJ  7,434.55 
ZOOLOGICAL PARK  25,688.19 
NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING COMM  4,142.69 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,859,012.95 
 
Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING AND AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF A GRANT 
APPLICATION FOR AND RECEIPT OF ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND 
CONSERVATION BLOCK GRANT (EECBG) FUNDS FROM THE UNITED 
STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC 
WORKS. 

 
WHEREAS, the Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant (EECBG) Program 

is designed to assist states, local governments, and Tribes in implementing strategies to 
reduce energy use, reduce fossil fuel emissions, and improve energy efficiency; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Department of Energy (DOE) provides extensive opportunities for 

support to local governments to reduce barriers to achieving their clean energy and 
energy efficiency goals and maximize project impact; and 

 
WHEREAS, according to the EECBG application, the City's goal is to explore 

technical assistance options via peer networks and cohort-based learning, expert assistance in 
problem solving, document templates, and more opportunities that help meet specific needs of the 
City; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Grants Division recommends that the governing authorities for the City 

of Jackson ratify the submission of the City's EECBG grant application wherein the City goal is to 
reduce energy use by 50% by 2050 or sooner; and 

 
WHEREAS, as part of the Federal government's Inflation Reduction Act, $149,114,790 in 

EECBG Program formula funding was awarded to 175 communities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Grants Compliance Officer represents the City of Jackson's federal 

allotment is $201,980; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works recommends that EECBG funds facilitate 

the development of a transformational comprehensive Energy Plan for city assets, focusing on 
reducing energy consumption, promoting renewable energy adoption, and fostering sustainability, 
with a commitment to equity and environmental justice. 

 
IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Department of Public Works, in 

coordination with the Grants Management Office, apply for and receive the $201,980 in EECBG 
funds allocated by formula by the Department of Energy to the City of Jackson, Mississippi. 
 
Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
President Lindsay recognized Sondra Lee Bell, Grants Division, who provided a brief overview 
of said item. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   932 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER CONFIRMING THE MAYOR’S REAPPOINTMENT OF MARGIE VAN 
METER TO THE JACKSON HOUSING AUTHORITY BOARD. 
 
WHEREAS,the Jackson Housing Authority Board consist of five (5) members for a term 

of five (5) years; and 
 

WHEREAS, Margie Van Meter’s term expired on May 28, 2024, thereby creating a 
vacancy; and   
 

WHEREAS, Margie Van Meter, resident of Ward 1, after evaluation of her qualifications, 
has been reappointed by the Mayor to fill said vacancy. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor’s reappointment of Margie Van Meter 
to the Jackson Housing Authority Board be confirmed with said term to expire September 9, 2029. 
 
Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Lindsay recognized Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff, who provided a brief overview of 
said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes.   
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN ASSET DISPOSITION 
SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON'S POLICE 
DEPARTMENT AND PROPERTYROOM.COM, INC. FOR SURPLUS ASSET 
MANAGEMENT, SELLING, AUCTION, DISPOSITION, AND RELATED 
SERVICES OF ITEMS IN THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT'S 
EVIDENCE AND PROPERTY ROOM. 
 

   WHEREAS, the City of Jackson routinely receives and recovers lost, stolen, abandoned, 
and misplaced personal property which must be disposed of pursuant to the procedure set forth in 
Section 21-39-21, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is required under said statute to sell lost, stolen, abandoned, or misplaced 
personal property and equipment at a public auction; and 
 
            WHEREAS, when governing authorities approved the continuation of the 2024 auctions, 
a list of the personal property available for sale at a public auction will be placed on file with the 
City Clerk, and posted in accordance with Section 21-39-21, Mississippi Code of 1972, as 
amended; and 
 
              WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department obtained evidence and property from various 
crimes and events in Jackson, Mississippi; and 
             WHEREAS, the evidence and property obtained from crimes and events were lawful and 
for proper police and municipal purpose; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   933 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 
         WHEREAS, some items were recovered and never identified by owner or owners refused 
to claim; and 
 
        WHEREAS, contracts for asset disposal do not appear to require the implantation of a 
competitive process; and 
 
      WHEREAS, PropertyRoom.com, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place 
of business located at 5257 Buckeystown Pike, Suite 475, Frederick, Maryland 21704; and 
 
    WHEREAS, PropertyRoom.com, Inc. will provide surplus asset management, selling, 
disposition, auctioneer, and related services to the City of Jackson Police Department on dates set 
by the Chief of Police, for the sale of abandoned personal property in the possession of the Jackson 
Police Department; and 
 
    WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department emergent circumstances affecting public 
health, storage, space, safety, and case dispositions arose concerning the disposal of evidence and 
personal property; and 
 
    WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department desires to enter into an Asset Disposition 
Services Agreement with PropertyRoom.com, Inc. and PropertyRoom.com, Inc. and desires to 
provide services subject to this agreement; and 
 
      WHEREAS, this agreement shall become effective on the date of signature and shall 
continue for an initial term of one (1) year from the effective date and thereafter will automatically 
renew for consecutive one (1) year terms unless written notice of non-renewal is provided by either 
party to the other at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the then current term; Either 
party may terminate the agreement upon thirty (30) days prior to the other party; and 
 
      WHEREAS, the success fee, fuel surcharge fee, towing, and miscellaneous fees will come 
from the proceeds related to the items sold and are indicated in the fee schedule and Sourcewell 
Fees and Services Addendum attached hereto and made a part of the minutes; and 
 
              IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Asset Disposition Services Agreement between the 
City of Jackson Police Department and PropertyRoom.com, Inc. is hereby accepted. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   934 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   935 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   936 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 
 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Banks seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Lindsay recognized Vincent Grizzell, Assistant Chief of the Jackson Police 
Department, who provided a brief overview of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
After a thorough discussion, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell and Lindsay.  
Nays – Stokes. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   937 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING A PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH 
ELECTION SYSTEMS & SOFTWARE (ES&S) TO PROVIDE THE CITY OF 
JACKSON WITH TECHNICAL SUPPORT AND RELATED SERVICES DURING 
THE 2024 SPECIAL MUNICIPAL ELECTION TO FILL THE WARD 2 CITY 
COUNCIL VACANCY. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, is preparing for a 2024 Special Municipal 

Election to fill the Ward 2 City Council vacancy; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council has set the date for the special election for October 
1, 2024; and  
 

WHEREAS, it has been determined by the City Clerk and the Municipal Election 
Commissioners that technical support and related services for the use of County voting machines 
are necessary to properly conduct said election; and 
 

WHEREAS, Election Systems & Software ("ES&S") has proposed to provide the 
following support services: election technical support, L & A support, election day support, post-
election day support and election ware coding and support in an amount not to exceed Four 
Thousand Six Hundred Five Dollars ($4,605.00); and 
 

WHEREAS, ES&S will provide said services and in the event of a run-off election, will 
provide additional election support in an amount not to exceed Four Thousand Four Hundred Five 
Dollars ($4,405.00). 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is hereby authorized to execute an 
agreement with ES&S to provide technical support and related services to the City of Jackson, 
during the 2024 Special Municipal Election to fill the Ward 2 City Council vacancy, and if needed 
the 2024 Special Run-off Municipal Election, at a cost not to exceed Nine Thousand Ten Dollars 
($9010.00) for the special election including a run-off election, if applicable. 

 
Council Member Banks moved adoption; Vice President Grizzell seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Lindsay recognized Angela Harris, Municipal Clerk who provided a brief overview 
of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

Thereafter, President Lindsay, called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell and Lindsay.  
Nays – Stokes. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PARCELS OF REAL PROPERTY IN 
THE CITY OF JACKSON TO BE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 
AND WELFARE PURSUANT TO SECTION 21-19-11 OF THE MISSISSIPPI 
CODE AND BASED ON ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS HELD ON AUGUST 6, 
2024 FOR THE FOLLOWING CASES: 

  
24-1346 24-655 24-1348 22-583 24-617 24-1132 22-353 
24-54 24-976 24-1359 24-1355 24-677 24-376 24-1365 
24-1027 23-2742 22-1525 23-2019 24-763 24-381 23-2502       

24-1344 
 

WHEREAS, Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code, as amended, provides that a 
governing authority shall conduct a hearing to determine whether property or parcels of land 
located within a municipality is in such a state of uncleanliness as to be a menace to the public 
health, safety, and welfare of the community; and 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   938 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code as amended sets forth the 
procedure for mailing and posting notice of the hearing; and 
 

WHEREAS, hearings were held on August 6, 2024; and 
 

WHEREAS, the hearing officer determined that notice was provided in accordance wit
h Section 21-19-11 prior to the hearings; and 
 

WHEREAS, after hearing testimony and reviewing evidence, the hearing officer made 
findings and recommendations for adjudication concerning certain parcels as follows: 
 

1) Case #24-1346: Parcel #626-105-2 located at 500 Sykes Rd.: After hearing testimony 
from Austin Lance, hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare, however, Austin Lance shall be afforded thirty 
(30) days to cut grass until September 6, 2024 and ninety (90) days until November 6, 2024 
to cure the violations by completing the scope of work. If there is default and the City 
proceeds with cleaning, hearing officer recommends an assessment of actual costs and a 
penalty of $500.00. Ward 6 
 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
2) Case #24-54: Parcel #606-238 located at 422 Arbor Hills Dr.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $500.00.  Ward 7 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
3) Case #24-1027: Parcel #209-2 located at 2761 Terry Rd.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $750.00.  Ward 5 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
4) Case #24-655: Parcel #209-151 located at 2747 Glenn St.: No appearance by owner or an 

interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a menace 
to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty of 
$500.00. Ward 5 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
5) Case #24-976: Parcel #611-240 located at 3519 Ridgecrest Dr.: No appearance by 

owner or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated 
as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 
penalty of $500.00.  Ward 7 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   939 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
6) Case #23-2742: Parcel #613-10 located at 3921 Ilano Dr.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $500.00.  Ward 7 

 
Scope of Work:  Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 
 

7)  Case #24-1348: Parcel #640-437 located at 214 Merrimack St.: No appearance by owner 
or an interested party Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $500.00. Ward 4 

Scope of Work: Board up and/or secure structure(s). Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence 
line, bushes, and saplings as needed. Remove trash and debris. 

 
8) Case #24-1359:  Parcel #802-381 located at 6380 Abraham Lincoln Dr.: No appearance 

by owner or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be 
adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual 
costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 2 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
9) Case #22-1525: Parcel #802-108 located at 6540 Franklin D. Roosevelt Dr.: No 

appearance by owner or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property 
be adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual 
costs and a penalty of $750.00. Ward 2 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
10) Case #22-583: Parcel #802-407 located at 220 William McKinley Cir.: No appearance 

by owner or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be 
adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual 
costs and a penalty of $750.00. Ward 2 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
11) Case #24-1355: Parcel #640-200 located at 506 E. Hillsdale Dr.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $500.00.  Ward 4 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   940 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

12) Case #23-2019: Parcel #547-108 located at 1006 Adkins Blvd.: No appearance by owner 
or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $750.00. Ward 1 

Scope of Work. Remove trash and debris. 
 

13) Case #24-617: Parcel #125-42-2 located at 172 Kolb St. Unit 74: No appearance by owner 
or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $1,000.00. Ward 5   

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 
 

14) Case #24-677: Parcel #162-315 located at 1408 Hill Ave.: No appearance by owner or an 
interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a menace 
to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty of 
$1,000.00. Ward 5 
 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
15) Case #24-763: Parcel #157-83 located at 833 Brookside Pl.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $500.00. Ward 5 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
16) Case #24-1132: Parcel #59-10-31 located at 1609 Adelle Ct.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $750.00. Ward 7   

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
17) Case #24-376: Parcel #101-116-6 located 2975 Marion Dunbar St.: No appearance by 

owner or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated 
as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 
penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
18) Case #24-381: Parcel #423-44 located at 3235 Marion Dunbar St.: After hearing 

testimony from Robert Shelton, hearing officer recommends that the property be 
adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare, however, Robert Shelton 
shall be afforded thirty (30) days to clean until September 6, 2024 to cure the violations by 
completing the scope of work. If there is default and the City proceeds with cleaning, 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   941 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

hearing officer recommends an assessment of actual costs and a penalty of $500.00.   Ward 
7 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
19) Case #22-353: Parcel #627-120 located at 115 Wildwood Ter.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $500.00. Ward 6   

 
Scope of Work: Remove inoperative vehicle(s) or vehicle(s) parked on lawn. Cut grass,     
weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. Remove trash and debris.  
  

20) Case #24-1365: Parcel #619-45 located at 318 Fairhill Dr.:  After hearing testimony 
from Daryen Proctor, hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare, however, Daryen Proctor shall be afforded 
sixty (60) days to cut grass until October 6, 2024 to cure the violations by completing the 
scope of work. If there is default and the City proceeds with cleaning, hearing officer 
recommends an assessment of actual costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 6 
 
Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

 
21) Case #23-2502: Parcel #619-121 located at 367 Fairhill Dr.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $750.00. Ward 6 

 
Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
22) Case #24-1344: Parcel #210-93 located 2563 Belvedere Dr.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 
menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 
of $750.00. Ward 6 
 
Scope of Work:  Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 
foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 
of any and all health hazards. Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings 
as needed. 

 
Vice President Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Lindsay recognized Latonya Miller, Department of Planning and Development, 
who provided a brief overview of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

 After a thorough discussion, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell and Lindsay.  
Nays – None. 
Abstention – Stokes.  
Absent – None. 
 
The Notices of Hearing pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code, as it relates to each 
parcel of property, is incorporated herein in their entirety, and located in Public Notices, located 
in the City Clerk’s Office of the City of Jackson, Mississippi. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   942 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A 48-MONTH RENTAL 
AGREEMENT AND RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH ADVANTAGE BUINESS 
SYSTEMS FOR A KONICA MINOLTA BIZHUB C650I COPIER TO BE USED BY 
THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT, OFFICE OF 
HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT. 
 
WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development, Office of Housing and 

Community Development Division, desire to enter into a 48-month rental agreement of a copier 
machine, and 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi, Department of Finance and Administration has 
negotiated a price agreement contract with Advantage Business Systems for the rental and 
purchase of copiers on a nonexclusive basis for twelve months beginning May l, 2024, and ending 
on April 30, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, this state contract agreement #8200073984 was entered into for the benefit 
of governing authorities and agencies; and 

WHEREAS, Advantage Business Systems provides a Konica Minolta Bizhub C650i 
Copier through the State of Mississippi Contract #8200073894, which meets the needs of the 
Office of Housing and Community Development; and 

WHEREAS, Advantage Business Systems will provide the machine to the City of Jackson 
at a cost of $325.00 per month, plus all the black/white copies will be billed at $.08 and all the 
color copies will be billed at $.05 to include service and maintenance and staples; and 

WHEREAS, the Office of Housing and Community Development Division recommends 
that the Mayor be authorized to execute the agreement and related documents with Advantage 
Business Systems. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute an agreement 
and related documents between Advantage Business Systems, providing for the 48-month rental 
of a Konica Minolta Bizhub C650i Copier, to meet the needs of the Office of Housing and 
Community Development as related to the functions of said division, at a cost of $$325.00 per 
month plus all the black/white copies billed monthly at $.08 and all the color copies billed at $.05 
to include service and maintenance and staples. This agreement is effective August 1, 2024 
through July 31, 2028. 
 
Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF SEVEN (7) 17-PASSENGER ADA-
ACCESSIBLE CUTAWAY BUSES FROM TRANSPORTATION SOUTH 
PURSUANT TO MISSISSIPPI STATE CONTRACT # 8200069338 TO BE 
UTILIZED BY THE CITY’S PUBLIC TRANSIT SYSTEM, JTRAN.  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Mississippi desires to purchase seven (7) 17-passenger 

ADA accessible cutaway buses pursuant to guidelines established by the Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA); and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson is eligible to participate and purchase buses from 
Transportation South through Mississippi state contract #8200069338; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has sufficient funding from the FTA and its local match to purchase 
seven (7) buses for its public transit system; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   943 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the purchase of the seven (7) 17-passengers ADA accessible cutaway buses 
pursuant to the state contract is not intended and will not create an exclusive supplier relationship 
with Transportation South and the best interest of the City would be served by authorizing the 
purchase of these buses in fiscal year 2024 (FY24), from Transportation South pursuant to 
Mississippi state contract #8200069338 and FTA guidelines; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the cost shall not exceed the sum of eight hundred nine hundred ninety-nine 
thousand four hundred and fifty-one dollars ($899,451.00), which is covered by FTA funds and 
the City’s local match in FY17 . 
 
            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the purchase of seven (7) 17-passenger ADA accessible 
cutaway buses in fiscal year 2024 from Transportation South for the City’s public transit system 
shall be authorized. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that 80% of the sum of seven hundred nineteen thousand 
five hundred and sixty-one dollars ($719,561.00) may be expended from the available FTA funds 
and 20% match in the amount of one hundred seventy-nine thousand eight hundred and ninety 
dollars ($179,890.00) from general funds in FY24 on seven (7) 17-passenger ADA accessible 
cutaway buses. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the purchase of the buses from Transportation South 
pursuant to the Mississippi state contract#8200069338 shall not be construed as obligating the City 
to purchase additional buses from Transportation South or creating an exclusive supplier 
relationship with Transportation South. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor shall be authorized to execute any all 
purchase orders, contracts, or other documents required by Transportation South which relates to 
the purchase of the seven (7) 17-passenger ADA accessible cutaway buses pursuant to the 
Mississippi state contract. 
 
Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Lindsay recognized Christine Welch, Deputy Director of the Department of 
Planning and Development and Drew Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview 
of said items. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER ACCEPTING THE BID OF QUALITY COMMUNICATIONS, INC (QCI) 
FOR A SECURITY CAMERA SYSTEM SOLUTION (RFP#2024-01) AND 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH QCI 
FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE JACKSON'S PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION 
SYSTEM (JTRAN). 
 
WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development has determined that it is in the 

City’s best interest to seek a professional company to provide a security camera system solution 
that will function as an access control system for said public transportation system; and 
 

WHEREAS, on March 29, 2024, the City issued a Request for Proposal for a professional 
company to provide a security camera system solution and received proposals from three (3) 
companies, i.e. Skyline Innovations, LLC, Quality Communications, Inc., and Moore Prime 
Development, LLC; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the proposal receiving the highest total score shall be deemed the proposal 
in the opinion of the City of Jackson, best meets the established criteria listed herein.   The 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   944 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

evaluation criteria are as follows: Proposed Solution and Functionality (30%), Overall Project Cost 
Including Reoccurring Charges (35%), Proven Experience with Related Projects (10%), Value 
Add, Emerging Technologies/Innovative Design Ability for Chosen Solution to Expand with City 
of Jackson’ Future Needs (15%) and Qualifications of Firms Proposed Staff (10%); and 
 

WHEREAS, based on the scoring of the interviewers and review of the proposals, QCI 
scored the highest overall and is fully capable and competent to provide a security camera system 
solution that will function as an access control system for said public transportation system; and 
 

WHEREAS, Quality Communications, Inc. (“QCI”) proposes to provide the best value in 
security camera system solutions for the next three years with two one-year options to be exercised 
at the future sole discretion of City Council and Quality Communications, Inc.; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development recommends that the 
governing authority authorize the Mayor to execute an agreement with QCI to replace their existing 
surveillance cameras with new digital Surveillance Cameras and systems; and 
 

WHEREAS, QCI agrees to provide installation and maintenance for Surveillance 
Cameras, Card Access, and Monitoring services for a three (3) year term with an optional two (2) 
years term for the following locations: 
 
                Administration Building: 1785 Highway 80W 
                Maintenance Building: 1785 Highway 80W 
                Service Building: 1785 Highway 80W 
                Union Station Building: 300 Capitol Street – (No Monitoring or Card Access) 
 
 WHEREAS, payment terms are as follows: 
 

a. 1st Invoice – QCI will invoice COJ 25% of the Agreement cost once the equipment 
has been ordered. With supporting documentation—not to exceed $98,568.16 

b. 2nd Invoice – QCI will invoice COJ 25% of the Agreement cost once the equipment 
has arrived and COJ designated project liaison has verified. With supporting 
documentation—no to exceed $73,926.12 

c. 3rd Invoice – QCI will invoice COJ 25% of the Agreement cost once (2) buildings 
have been installed and trained. System fully functional—not to exceed $55,444.59 

d. 4th Invoice – QCI will invoice COJ the remaining of the Agreement cost for the 
remaining (2) buildings that have been installed and trained. System fully 
functional—not to exceed $166,333.78. 

e. Year 2 Recurring payment in the amount of $59,543.40 due one year from Go Live 
Date. 

f. Year 3 Recurring payment in the amount of $59,543.40 due one year from Year 2. 
 

WHEREAS, the Federal Transit Administration will pay eighty percent (80%) of the cost 
or Four Hundred Ten Thousand Six Hundred Eighty-Seven Dollars and Fifty-Six Cents 
($410,687.56), and the remaining twenty percent (20%) of the cost or One Hundred Two Thousand 
Six Hundred Seventy-One Dollars and Eighty-Nine Cents ($102,671.89) will be paid from the 
Transit Division’s FY2024 budget; and 

 
WHEREAS, all equipment purchased from QCI, will warrant with factory warranty of 

(10) Years from the date of delivery to the customer and software is for the duration of the 
subscription. Warranty follows the camera subscription. If, during the Warranty Period, a Product 
does not conform to the above warranty, QCI contacts manufacture for an advance replacement 
with written notice of such nonconformance. The manufacturer will repair or replace 
nonconforming components or otherwise correct the nonconformity in accordance with its stated 
warranty service terms; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson may terminate this contract, in whole or in part, at any 
time by written notice to contractor when it is in the City’s best interest. Contractor shall be paid 
its costs, including contract close-out costs, and profit on work performed up to the time of 
termination. Contractor shall promptly submit its termination claim to the City of Jackson. If 
contractor is in possession of any of the City of Jackson’s property, contractor shall account for 
same, and dispose of it as the City of Jackson directs; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   945 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 WHEREAS, QCI agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City of Jackson, its affiliates 
officers, directors and employees from and against any and all claims (including claims by third 
parties), costs, liabilities and damages resulting from QCI’s gross negligence or willful 
misconduct. Contractor will hold and save the City of Jackson, its officers, agents, and employees 
harmless from every claim or demand made, and every liability, loss, damages or expenses of any 
nature or kind including attorney fees, and costs, for or on account of any patented or unpatented 
invention, process, article, or appliance manufactured or used in the performance of this contract, 
including its use by the City of Jackson, unless otherwise specifically stipulated in the contract 
documents and unless such liability arises from the negligence or willful misconduct of the City 
of Jackson, its officers, employees, agent, or independent contractors who are directly employed 
by the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, a copy of the scope of work is attached as Appendix A and the required 
contractual provisions applicable to Federal Transit Administration funding is attached as 
Appendix B and both are made part of the minutes. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to enter into an 
Agreement with Quality Communications, Inc. for the provision of security camera system 
solutions of the public transportation system (JTRAN) for three (3) year period with two, one-year 
options to be exercised upon approval of the City Council and Quality Communications, Inc. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDEREDthat should an agreement with Quality Communications, 
Inc. not be executed, that the Mayor is authorized to negotiate and execute an Agreement with 
Moore Prime Development as the second most responsive bidder and shall negotiate a BAFO with 
Moore Prime Development. 
 

IT IS, FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract and 
related documents with Quality Communications, Inc. to provide security camera system solutions 
in the amount of five hundred thirteen thousand three hundred fifty-nine dollars and forty-five 
cents ($513,359.45), which eighty percent (80%) of the cost or four hundred ten thousand six 
hundred eighty-seven dollars and fifty-six cents ($410,687.56), and the remaining twenty percent 
(20%) of the cost or one hundred two thousand six hundred seventy-one dollars and eighty-nine 
cents ($102,671.89) will be paid from the Transit Division’s FY2024 budget. 
 
Vice President Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Lindsay recognized Christine Welch, Deputy Director of the Department of 
Planning and Development, who provided a brief overview of said items. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AMENDING THE JULY 2, 2024 ORDER THAT AUTHORIZED THE 
MAYOR TO EXECUTE CONTRACTS BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON 
AND VARIOUS ORGANIZATIONS FOR THE USE OF 2022 COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) FUNDS TOTALING $212,611.00 TO 
IMPLEMENT VARIOUS PUBLIC SERVICE ACTIVITIES IN THE JACKSON 
METROPOLITAN STATISTICAL AREA (MSA). 
 

            WHEREAS, on July 2, 2024, the City Council adopted an Order, authorizing the Mayor 
to execute contracts between the City of Jackson and various organizations for the use of 2022 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds to implement various Public Service 
activities; and 
 
            WHEREAS, through scriveners error the contract amount with Midtown Partners, Inc. 
was entered incorrectly as $9,243.00, the correct amount of the allocation amount should be 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   946 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

$23,770.00; and the contract amount with Harbor Houses of Jackson, Inc. was entered incorrectly 
as $23,770.00, the correct amount of the allocation amount should be $23,776.00. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City Council hereby amends the prior Order 
approved on July 2, 2024 to include the correct amounts of $23,770.00 and $23,776.00 in 2022 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds to implement various Public Service 
activities. 

 
Vice President Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Banks seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Lindsay recognized Reginald Jefferson, Housing and Community Development and 
Stephanie King, Development Assistance Manager, who provided a brief overview of said 
items. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay.  
Nays – Stokes. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING THE PROCUREMENT OF SERVICES FROM CERTAIN 
VENDORS AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO SAID VENDORS. 

 
WHEREAS, the Building Maintenance Division of the Department of Public Works had 

need of certain services necessary to the operation and maintenance of the City’s facilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary services 
was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of the City 
of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the services set forth in certain invoices attached hereto were provided to the 
City’s facilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to ensure the continued and proper operation and maintenance of the 
City’s facilities, it is necessary to pay these outstanding invoices to continue receiving any needed 
services from these vendors. 
 
 IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the procurement of the services described in the 
attached invoices is hereby ratified and payment to the following vendors in the amounts set forth 
be made, consistent with the attached invoices: 
 

Global Sector Security, LLC                                                                         $202.50 
A Complete Flag Source, Inc.                                                                       $250.00 
Southern Electric Corporation of Mississippi                                            $7,595.35 

 
Total                                                                                                           $8,047.85 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   947 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   948 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 
Council Member Banks moved adoption; Vice President Grizzell seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO THE AGREEMENT WITH 
COOKE DOUGLASS FARR LEMONS ARCHITECTS + ENGINEERS PA 
("CDFL") FOR RENOVATIONS TO THALIA MARA HALL TO PROVIDE 
SPECIAL SUB-CONSULTING SERVICES FOR STAGE RIGGING AND FIRE 
CURTAIN EVALUATION AND TESTING. 
 
WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services further recommends that the 

City Council authorize the Mayor to execute Amendment No. 2 to the contract with CDFL for 
continued architectural and engineering services; and 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   949 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, due to concerns that recently arose about the stage rigging and the fire 
curtain, CDFL has recommended the retaining of Mr. Schuler Shook as a special subconsultant to 
evaluate and test the existing state rigging and the fire curtain; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City agrees to additionally compensate CDFL for the special sub-
consulting services provided under this Amendment No. 2 agreement at an additional fee not to 
exceed $20,500.00; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the total not to exceed fee under the City’s Agreement with CDFL with this 
amendment will be $143,000.00. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Amendment 
No. 2 in an amount to exceed $20,500.00 to the contract with CDFL to provide special sub-
consulting services for the Phase Two renovations, repairs and upgrades to Thalia Mara Hall. 
 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley second. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Lindsay recognized Drew Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of 
said items. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF TRAFFIC SIGNAL REPAIR 
SERVICES AT VARIOUS LOCATIONS FROM BUCKET WORKS, INC. AND 
AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO SAID VENDOR. 
 
WHEREAS, the Infrastructure Management Division of the Department of Public Works 

had need of certain repairs services necessary to the operation and maintenance of the traffic 
signals located at University Boulevard and Florence Road; Northside Drive and Methodist Home 
Road; Terry Road and McDowell Road; Watkins Drive and Beasley Road; Hang Moss Road and 
Forrest Avenue; Cooper Road and Wheatley Street; and Medgar Evers Boulevard and West 
Ridgeway; and 
 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary repair 
services was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of 
the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the repair services set forth in certain invoices attached hereto where 
provided for City traffic signals listed above; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to ensure the continued and proper operation and maintenance of the 
City’s traffic signals in the future, it is necessary to pay these outstanding invoices to continue 
receiving any needed repair services from this vendor. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the procurement of repair services for City traffic 
signals from Bucket Works, Inc. as shown in the attached invoices is hereby ratified. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment to the following vendor in the amount set 
forth be made, consistent with the attached invoices: 
 
Vendor                                                                                                                       Amount 
Bucket Works                                                                                                          $6,500.00 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   950 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   951 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Banks seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent –None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF SERVICES FROM UNIVERSAL 
SERVICES, LLC AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO SAID VENDOR. 

 
WHEREAS, the Building Maintenance Division of the Department of Public Works had 

need of certain repairs services necessary to the operation and maintenance of the City’s buildings; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary repair 
services was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of 
the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the repair services set forth in certain invoices attached hereto where 
provided to the City’s buildings; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to ensure the continued and proper operation and maintenance of the 
City’s buildings, it is necessary to pay these outstanding invoices to continue receiving any needed 
repair services from these vendors. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the procurement of the repair services in the 
attached invoices is hereby ratified. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment to the following vendor in the amount set 
forth be made, consistent with the attached invoices: 
 
           Universal Services, LLC                                                                             $7,384.00 
 
             



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   952 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

                                                                                                                                             
 
          Total                                                                                                               $7,384.00 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   953 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   954 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent –None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF PARTS AND REPAIR SERVICES BY 
THE MUNICIPAL GARAGE FROM VARIOUS VENDORS AND AUTHORIZING 
PAYMENTS TO SAID VENDORS. 
 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Garage Division of the Department of Public Works had need 

of certain parts to make repairs to City vehicles and found it necessary to send certain City vehicles 
for outside repairs; and 
 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary parts and 
repairs was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of 
the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, the parts and repairs set forth in certain invoices attached hereto were 
provided to the Department of Public Works, Municipal Garage Division, and the in-house and 
outside repairs have been completed. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the procurement of the parts and repair services 
set forth in the attached invoices is hereby ratified. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment to the following vendors in the amounts set 
forth be made, consistent with the attached invoices: 
 
 

GRAINGER $579.04 
CUMMINS SALES AND SERVICES $3,764.19 
MAC HAIK FORD $11,470.00 
ON THE WAY SERVICES, LLC $1000.00 
OLD SCHOOL, LLC $1000.00 
LANDON’S WORLD AUTO $225.00 

 
Total                                                                                                                               $18,038.00 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   955 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   956 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   957 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   958 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   959 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   960 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   961 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   962 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   963 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 
 
 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   964 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   965 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   966 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

  

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   967 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   968 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Banks second. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Lindsay recognized Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Officer and Safiya Omari, 
Chief of Staff, who provided a brief overview of said items. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lindsay and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI (1) DECLARING 
SUPPORT FOR TINY HOMES FOR HOMELESS – AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
PROGRAM GRANT APPLICATION WITH THE FEDERAL HOME LOAN 
BANK OF DALLAS SUBMITTED BY JACKSON RESOURCE CENTER IN 
PARTNERSHIP WITH HOPE FEDERAL CREDIT UNION (2) EXPRESSING 
THAT THE TINY HOME HOUSING PROJECT SUPPORTS THE CITY OF 
JACKSON COMMUNITY REVITALIZATION EFFORTS. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi, recognizes the need for innovative solutions 

to address the growing homelessness crisis and is committed to providing support and resources 
to the city’s most vulnerable populations; and 
 

WHEREAS, Jackson Resource Center, a not-for-profit civic corporation organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of Mississippi, which has been granted tax-exempt status by 
the Internal Revenue Service, has proposed the development of the Safe Place Safe Space Tiny 
Homes for Homeless Project to be located at 300 Capers Ave, Jackson, MS 39209; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Safe Place Safe Space Tiny Homes Project will consist of tiny homes to 
serve as permanent housing for individuals and families experiencing homelessness within the 
City of Jackson, providing access to secure, permanent housing; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson Resource Center will provide onsite supportive services 
including but not limited to workforce development, mental and behavioral health counseling, 
financial literacy education, and assistance with navigating other necessary resources; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s revitalization efforts seek to address homelessness by 
helping individuals and families transition to permanent housing and preventing them from 
returning to homelessness through comprehensive support services and affordable housing 
solutions; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Safe Place Safe Space Tiny Homes Project aligns with the City of 

Jackson’s commitment to improving housing stability, reducing homelessness, and fostering 
community development in economically disadvantaged areas of the city; and 
 

WHEREAS, this project represents an important collaboration between public and private 
entities, supporting the City of Jackson’s overarching goals to enhance the quality of life for all 
residents, particularly those in need of housing assistance. 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Jackson, 
Mississippi, fully supports the Safe Place Safe Space Tiny Homes for Homeless Project located at 
300 Capers Ave, Jackson, MS 39209, as it directly contributes to the City's community 
revitalization and homelessness reduction efforts. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Jackson, Mississippi, commits to 

working collaboratively with Jackson Resource Center and all involved partners to ensure the 
successful implementation and sustainability of this critical housing initiative. 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   969 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Council Member Banks moved adoption; Vice President Grizzell second. 
 
Yeas – Banks, Grizzell and Lindsay.  
Nays – Foote, Hartley and Stokes. 
Absent – None. 
 
Note:  Said item failed for lack of a majority vote. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 22: 
 

ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI AUTHORIZING 
THE INVESTIGATION OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE 
TERMINATION OF KEYSHIA SANDERS AND THE ALLEGATIONS OF 
MISSING CITY FUNDS. Said item was pulled by Council Member Stokes. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks who moved, seconded by Vice President 
Grizzell to reconsider Agenda Item No. 21. The motion failed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell and Lindsay. 
Nays – Foote, Hartley and Stokes. 
Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
There came on for Discussion Item No. 24: 
 

DISCUSSION: BAILEY AVENUE: President Lindsay recognized Council Member 
Stokes who received a call near Save-A-Lot where a barrier blocked the entry way of the 
shopping center which caused citizens to have to go to Woodrow Wilson and turn around 
which is inconvenient and dangerous for the community. President Lindsay recognized 
Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Officer, who stated that the barrier was a temporary 
barricade to deal with storm drainage who stated that the Administration would investigate 
the longevity of the barrier. 
  

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
There came on for Discussion Item No. 25: 
 

DISCUSSION: JAYNE AVENUE PARK:  President Lindsay recognized Council 
Member Hartley who stated that his discussion item had been resolved. President 
Lindsay recognized Council Member Stoke who spoke about a shooting at Jayne Avenue 
and asked that we do something to safeguard our parks and spoke of arranging a meeting 
with the District Attorney and the US Attorney in regards to gun violence.  Attorney Drew 
Martin agreed to meet at the District Attorney’s office.  President Lindsay recognized 
Council Member Hartley who recommended reaching out to State Representative, 
Zakiya Summers and Credell Calhoun who are a part of the Jayne Avenue Community 
Neighborhood Association. 

   
 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
Note:  Vice President Grizzell left during the discussion. 
 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

There came on for Discussion Item No. 26: 
 

DISCUSSION: WHEELERS PARKED IN RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS:  
President Lindsay recognized Council Member Foote who stated that hiring additional 
Code Enforcement Officers to deal with drivers of 18 wheelers, who are parking in 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   970 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

neighborhoods that are not authorized and are damaging the roads. President Lindsay 
recognized Council Member Stokes who agreed with Council Member Foote, who 
stated that the 18-wheelers were knocking down utility poles and needed to receive hefty 
fines. President Lindsay also stated the problem was also in Ward 7 and needed to be 
addressed. 

 
 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks who moved, seconded by Council 
Member Hartley to add an item to the agenda on an emergency basis, Discussion of Hurricane 
Francine. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 
 
Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley Lindsay and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Grizzell. 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
Note: Council Member Foote left the meeting.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
There came on as the Emergency Agenda Item: DISCUSSION:  EMERGENCY 
PREPARATIONS READINESS FOR HURRICANE FRANCINE.  President Lindsay 
recognized Council Member Banks who asked the Administration about the Emergency 
Preparations Readiness for Hurricane Francine. Council Member Banks also inquired about 
shelters and the ordinance regarding overhanging limbs and trees and whether or not it would be 
enforced. President Lindsay recognized Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff, who stated that an 
emergency preparedness meeting was scheduled for later in the day. She also stated that there 
would be two shelters opened with the approval of the American Red Cross.  Ms. Omari informed 
the council that the Mayor would declare a State of Emergency that would be inclusive of the 
ordinance on overhanging limbs and trees.  
 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 
 

• Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff announced the following: 
 

• Safety reminders for the residents to follow Hurricane preparedness procedures. 
• Residents may call 311, 601-960-1111 and 601-960-1234. 
• Volunteers are needed to assist seniors in bagging sand for the storm. 

 
• Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Officer announced the following: 

 
• Sandbags are available to residents at Central Supply located 4225 Michael Avalon 

Street. 
 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORTS OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED 
ACCORDING TO SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE 
ANNOTATED OF 1972. President Lindsay stated that all City Council members had 
received the monthly financial report for review. 
 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
President Lindsay announced the following: 
 

• Finance Committee Meeting on Wednesday, September 11, 2024, at 9:00 a.m. 
• Special Council Meeting on Wednesday, September 11, 2024, at 2:00 p.m. 

     
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                         TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 10, 2024 10:00 A.M.                   971 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

The meeting was closed in memory of the following individuals: 
 

• In Memory of Jerome Patterson “Diddy Boy” 
• In Memory of Ella Jane McDuffy 
• In Memory of Rosie Lee Dixon-Nelson 
• In Memory of Dr. Curtis Johnson 
• In Memory of James Earl Jones 

 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until Special Council Meeting at 2:00 p.m. September 11, 2024.  At 12:14 p.m., the 
Council stood adjourned.   
 

 
PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
 
                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
  
 
 
                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 
      ATTEST: 
  
 
 
             _______________________________        
                                                                        CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 







SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

 WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.         972 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Special Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi, was called by a majority of the City Council Members and notices having been placed 

by the Clerk of Council at 1:38 p.m. Tuesday, September 10, 2024, in the Clerk of Council’s 

Office, electronic notifications to all Council Members, on the City's website and on the public 

bulletin board in City Hall, relative to: (1) Ordinance of the City Council of Jackson, Mississippi 

preventing any administration, department head or employee of the City of Jackson from 

restricting, cancelling, and or decreasing the full viewable access of all budget information 

including expense and revenue reports, cash reports, encumbrances against all city accounts and 

all information pertaining to the budget of the City of Jackson on any network, software, or record 

kept. (2) Ordinance amending Section 2-336 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi, to change the name of the Constituent Services and Information Department and place 

functions and duties of the Office of Publications under Constituent Services and Communications 

Department (formerly known as the Constituent Services and Information Department). (3) Order 

rescinding the order authorizing the Mayor to enter into agreement with MV Contract 

Transportation Inc. for the provision of operations and maintenance of Jackson’s Public 

Transportation System (JTRAN) commencing January 1, 2024. (4) Resolution approving and 

adopting the municipal budget for Fiscal Year 2024-2025. (5) Discussion: Litigation.  The meeting 

was convened in the Council Chambers located at 219 S. President Street at 2: 00 p.m. on 

September 11, 2024 being the second Wednesday of said month, when and where the following 

things were had and done to wit: 

Present: Council Members: Virgi Lindsay, Council President, Ward 7; Brian 

Grizzell, Council Vice President, Ward 4 (via teleconference); Ashby 

Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth Stokes, Ward 3; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Aaron 

Banks, Ward 6. Directors: Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Officer; 

Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff; Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of Council; Sabrina 

Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Drew Martin, City Attorney.  

Absent:   None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

The meeting was called to order by President Lindsay. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

President Lindsay opened the meeting in a moment of silence to honor those who lost their lives 

as well as the heroes on September 11, 2001. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

Council Member Banks opened the meeting in memory of the following individual: 

• In Memory of Frankie Beverly of Maze.

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

President Lindsay requested that Agenda Item No. 2, Introduction of Ordinances be moved 

forward on the Agenda. Hearing no objections, the Clerk read the following:   

ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 2-336 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, TO CHANGE THE NAME OF THE 

CONSTITUENT SERVICES AND INFORMATION DEPARTMENT AND PLACE 

FUNCTIONS AND DUTIES OF THE OFFICE OF PUBLICATIONS UNDER THE 

CONSTITUENT SERVICES AND COMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT 

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS THE CONSTITUENT SERVICES AND 

INFORMATION DEPARTMENT). 

Consent Agenda Item No. 4
10.8.2024
(S.Jordan, Lindsay)



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        973 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities of the City of Jackson, Mississippi, previously 

adopted an ordinance that established various departments within the City of Jackson and defined 

the functions of such departments; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities have determined the name of the Constituent 

Services and Information Department will now be Constituent Services and Communications 

Department; and 

            WHEREAS, the governing authorities have also determined that the functions and duties 

of the Office of Publications should no longer operate under the Department of Information 

Technology and shall be under the Constituent Services and Communications Department; and 

         

WHEREAS, the governing authority finds that Section 2-336 of the Jackson Code of 

Ordinances should be amended as follows to rename the Department of Constituent Services and 

Information and to move the Office of Publications under Constituent Services and 

Communications: 

 

Sec. 2-336. Creation; functions. 

There are hereby created the following departments which shall have the following 

principal functions: 

(1)        Administration. The department of administration shall perform the functions of 

finance and management, fleet management, purchasing and municipal court services. 

(2)        Fire. The fire department shall perform the functions of fire prevention, 

suppression and education. 

(3)        Police. The police department shall perform the functions of crime prevention and 

suppression, animal control, youth court, and community improvement. 

(4)        Public works. The public works department shall perform the functions of water 

and sewer engineering and maintenance; streets, bridges and drainage engineering and 

maintenance; traffic engineering and maintenance; water/sewer business administration, 

right-of-way maintenance; cemetery maintenance; building maintenance; wastewater 

treatment plant contract administration and maintenance of wastewater collector system, 

solid waste collection contract administration; management of water treatment and 

distribution facilities; administration of the pest control contract; central supply, and 

custodial services. 

(5)        Human and cultural services. The human and cultural services department shall 

perform the functions of senior services, early childhood education, museums, art galleries, 

arts centers, auditoriums and planetariums. 

(6)        Human resources. The human resources department shall perform all human 

resources functions including the administration of benefits. 

(7)        Planning and development. The planning and development department shall 

perform the functions of planning and zoning, developmental assistance including, but not 

limited to, housing, economic development and grants, federal programs, public 

transportation/JATRAN, building and permits, and community improvement. 

(8)        Parks and recreation. The parks and recreation department shall perform a variety 

of recreational services including maintenance, programming, athletics, special events and 

the administration of contract facilities. 

(9)        Constituent services and communications and information. The constituent 

services and communications information department shall be responsible for the quality 

and content of information regarding city government. This department will serve as an 

information conduit for the city council, department heads, employees, and citizens. This 

department will also conduct site visits with businesses and citizens to identify problems 

and find solutions before they become unmanageable. The divisions of Action Line, Public 

Education and Government (PEG) Television, publications, public relations and quality of 

life, Office of Publications, and related duties shall be under this department. 

(10)      Municipal clerk. The department of municipal clerk shall perform the functions of 

and duties of the municipal clerk as inherent by law, and those duties referenced in the 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        974 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Mississippi Code Annotated (1972), as amended as belonging to the "clerk", "municipal 

clerk", or "city clerk". The municipal clerk shall attend all council meetings and, 

subsequent to the meeting, shall receive the compiled minutes from the clerk of council for 

recordation. The municipal clerk shall keep the official minutes of the proceedings of the 

council, shall have custody of records of the municipality and be responsible for record 

retention, and shall be responsible for publication of all matters which require publication 

by law. In the absence of the municipal clerk, the duties of the municipal clerk shall be 

performed by that person serving as the chief deputy clerk of municipality. The municipal 

clerk shall plan and assign work and exercise general supervision of the deputy municipal 

clerks, and clerical employees that are assigned to the municipal clerk. 

(11)      Information technology. The department of information technology shall perform 

all of the functions of information technology, information systems, office of 

publications and telecommunications. 

WHEREAS, no ordinance shall be in force for one (1) month after its passage; however, 

any ordinance for the immediate and temporary preservation of the public peace, health or safety 

or for other good cause, which is adopted by unanimous vote of all members of the governing 

body, may be made effective from and after its passage by a unanimous vote of all members of the 

governing body as outlined in Section 21-13-11 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended; and 

 

WHEREAS, governing authorities of each municipality shall, not later than September 15 

each year, prepare a complete budget of the municipal revenues, expenses, and working cash 

balances estimated for the next fiscal year; and 

 

WHEREAS, placing the Office of Publications under Constituent Services and 

Communications will require a budget revision; and 

 

WHEREAS, funds must be transferred from the Department of Information Technology 

to the Constituent Services and Communications Department to complete the budget by September 

15, 2024. 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, THAT: 

 

Sec. 2-336. Creation; functions. 

There are hereby created the following departments which shall have the following 

principal functions: 

(1)        Administration. The department of administration shall perform the functions of 

finance and management, fleet management, purchasing and municipal court services. 

(2)        Fire. The fire department shall perform the functions of fire prevention, 

suppression and education. 

(3)        Police. The police department shall perform the functions of crime prevention and 

suppression, animal control, youth court, and community improvement. 

(4)        Public works. The public works department shall perform the functions of water 

and sewer engineering and maintenance; streets, bridges and drainage engineering and 

maintenance; traffic engineering and maintenance; water/sewer business administration, 

right-of-way maintenance; cemetery maintenance; building maintenance; wastewater 

treatment plant contract administration and maintenance of wastewater collector system, 

solid waste collection contract administration; management of water treatment and 

distribution facilities; administration of the pest control contract; central supply, and 

custodial services. 

(5)        Human and cultural services. The human and cultural services department shall 

perform the functions of senior services, early childhood education, museums, art galleries, 

arts centers, auditoriums and planetariums. 

(6)        Human resources. The human resources department shall perform all human 

resources functions including the administration of benefits. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        975 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

(7)        Planning and development. The planning and development department shall 

perform the functions of planning and zoning, developmental assistance including, but not 

limited to, housing, economic development and grants, federal programs, public 

transportation/JATRAN, building and permits, and community improvement. 

(8)        Parks and recreation. The parks and recreation department shall perform a variety 

of recreational services including maintenance, programming, athletics, special events and 

the administration of contract facilities. 

(9)        Constituent services and communications. The constituent services and 

communications department shall be responsible for the quality and content of 

information regarding city government. This department will serve as an information 

conduit for the city council, department heads, employees, and citizens. This department 

will also conduct site visits with businesses and citizens to identify problems and find 

solutions before they become unmanageable. The divisions of Action Line, Public 

Education and Government (PEG) Television, publications, public relations and quality of 

life, Office of Publications, and related duties shall be under this department. 

(10)      Municipal clerk. The department of municipal clerk shall perform the functions of 

and duties of the municipal clerk as inherent by law, and those duties referenced in the 

Mississippi Code Annotated (1972), as amended as belonging to the "clerk", "municipal 

clerk", or "city clerk". The municipal clerk shall attend all council meetings and, 

subsequent to the meeting, shall receive the compiled minutes from the clerk of council for 

recordation. The municipal clerk shall keep the official minutes of the proceedings of the 

council, shall have custody of records of the municipality and be responsible for record 

retention, and shall be responsible for publication of all matters which require publication 

by law. In the absence of the municipal clerk, the duties of the municipal clerk shall be 

performed by that person serving as the chief deputy clerk of municipality. The municipal 

clerk shall plan and assign work and exercise general supervision of the deputy municipal 

clerks, and clerical employees that are assigned to the municipal clerk. 

(11)      Information technology. The department of information technology shall perform 

all of the functions of information technology, information systems, and 

telecommunications. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDAINED that this Ordinance shall become effective from and after 

its passage by a unanimous vote of all members of the governing body. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks who moved, seconded by Vice President 

Grizzell to make said item effective immediately. The motion failed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay. 

Nays – Stokes. 

Absent – None.                                 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

President Lindsay stated that aid item will be placed on the next Special Council Meeting on 

Wednesday, September 25, 2024. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Lindsay requested that Agenda Item No.4 be moved forward on the Agenda. Hearing 

no objections, the Clerk read the following:   

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE MUNICIPAL BUDGET FOR 

THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the governing authorities of each municipality of the State of Mississippi shall, not later 

than September 15th of each year, prepare a complete budget of the municipal revenues, expenses 

and working cash balances estimated for the next fiscal year, and shall prepare a statement showing 

the aggregate revenues collected during the current year in said municipality for municipal 

purposes; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        976 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the statement of revenue and expenses shall show every source of revenue along with 

the amount derived from each source; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the budget and statement of revenue and expenses, shall be published at least one (1) 

time during September in a newspaper published in the municipality; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, prior to the adopting of the budget, the governing authority of each municipality shall 

hold at least one (1) public hearing to provide the general public with an opportunity to comment 

on the taxing and spending plan incorporated in the proposed budget; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the public hearing shall be held at least one (1) week prior to the adoption of the budget 

with advance notice and held outside normal working hours and the advance notice shall include 

an announcement published or posted in the same manner as required for the final adopted budget; 

and 

 WHEREAS, on August 19th, 22nd and 26th of 2024, a notice of a public hearing on the 

proposed budget for the upcoming fiscal year for the City of Jackson, MS was advertised in the 

Mississippi Link and the Clarion Ledger; and 

 WHEREAS, the required public hearing was advertised for and held on August 30, 2024, 

at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers located in City Hall, 219 South President Street, Jackson, 

Mississippi 39201; and 

 WHEREAS, the proposed budget is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

Exhibit “A”; and 

 WHEREAS, as mandated by Section 21-35-9 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, 

as amended, the proposed budget sets out separately each item for which any appropriation of 

expenditures is authorized to be expended and the fund out of which it is to be paid, the proposed 

budget also sets out the total amount appropriated and authorized to be expended for each fund, 

the cash balance in the fund at the close of the present preceding fiscal year, the working cash 

balance necessary for the next fiscal year, the estimated amount, if any, which will accrue to the 

fund from sources other than taxation for the current fiscal year, and the amount necessary to be 

raised for each fund by tax levy during the current fiscal year. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY ACTING 

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE MUNICIPALITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Declaration of official intent. The City of Jackson, Mississippi, hereby declares 

its official intent to approve and adopt the Municipal Budget, attached hereto and incorporated by 

reference as Exhibit “A,” that sets out separately each item for which any appropriation of 

expenditures is authorized to be expended and the fund out of which it is to be paid, the total 

amount appropriated and authorized to be expended for each fund, the cash balance in the fund at 

the close of the present preceding fiscal year, the working cash balance necessary for the next 

fiscal year, the estimated amount, if any, which will accrue to the fund from sources other than 

taxation for the current fiscal year, and the amount necessary to be raised for each fund by tax levy 

during the current fiscal year. 

Section 2.   Incidental action. The Mayor is authorized to take such action as may be 

necessary to carry out the purpose of this Resolution. The City of Jackson shall not authorize any 

expenditure of money, and the city clerk shall not issue any warrant for same, except for bonds, 

notes, debts and interest, after October 1, unless and until this budget is finally approved, and such 

approval is entered upon the Jackson City Council minutes.  

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        977 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 

 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI     

 BUDGET OF ESTIMATED REVENUES     

 AND EXPENDITURES FOR THE FISCAL     

 YEAR ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2025     

      

      

GENERAL  FUND  

        

   2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025 

   Actual  Adopted  Revised Adopted 

      

 REVENUES     

       

 LICENSES AND PERMITS:     

      

4210    PRIVILEGE LICENSES - MISC 

                                         

$40  

                                     

$100  

                               

$100  

                                   

$100  

4211    PRIVILEGE LICENSES 

                                 

408,723  

                                

355,000  

                           

355,000  

                             

355,000  

4215    BUILDING PERMITS 

                              

1,021,783  

                                

685,309  

                           

685,309  

                             

685,309  

4216    A/C & DUCT PERMITS 

                                    

15,322  

                                  

43,085  

                             

43,085  

                                

43,085  

4217    PLUMBING PERMITS 

                                    

21,030  

                                  

32,000  

                             

32,000  

                                

32,000  

4218    ELECTRIC PERMITS 

                                 

162,502  

                                

156,509  

                           

156,509  

                             

156,509  

4219    GAS PERMITS 

                                    

33,262  

                                  

32,144  

                             

32,144  

                                

32,144  

4221    MAINTENANCE FEES 

                                            

75  

                                     

1,000  

                               

1,000  

                                  

1,000  

4222    LANDSCAPE PERMITS 

                                         

135  

                                        

350  

                                   

350  

                                     

350  

4223    HISTORIC PRESERVATION 

                                      

3,331  

                                     

3,000  

                               

3,000  

                                  

3,000  

4224    DANCE HALL & REC FEES 

                                         

225  

                                     

2,000  

                               

2,000  

                                  

2,000  

4225 TRANSIT MERCHANTS 

                                             

-    

                                     

1,250  

                               

1,250  

                                  

1,250  

4227 AIRCRAFT REGIST FEES 

                                      

7,832  

                                  

12,710  

                             

12,710  

                                

12,710  

4229 ADULT ENTERTAINMENT LICENSE 

                                      

5,732  

                                     

3,000  

                               

3,000  

                                  

3,000  

4230 SPECIAL EVENT FEE 

                                    

19,115  

                                     

3,000  

                               

3,000  

                                  

3,000  

4240    SIGN --MISC. 

                                             

-    

                                     

7,527  

                               

7,527  

                                  

7,527  

4241    SIGN PERMITS  

                                    

26,150  

                                  

35,850  

                             

35,850  

                                

35,850  

4242    SIGN REGISTRATION 

                                             

-    

                                        

300  

                                   

300  

                                     

300  

4243    SIGNS TEMPORARY 

                                         

360  

                                     

2,570  

                               

2,570  

                                  

2,570  

4249    FIRE INSPECTIONS PERMITS 

                                    

47,957  

                                  

60,000  

                             

60,000  

                                

60,000  

4250    COMMERICAL BURN PERMIT 

                                      

1,400  

                                        

401  

                                   

401  

                                     

401  

4251    COMB. & FLAM. LIQUID PERMIT 

                                      

4,750  

                                     

7,400  

                               

7,400  

                                  

7,400  

4252    FIREWORKS DISPLAY PERMIT 

                                      

1,650  

                                        

900  

                                   

900  

                                     

900  

4260    ZONING PERMITS 

                                    

45,985  

                                  

38,834  

                             

38,834  

                                

38,834  

4280 TAXICAB LICENSE FEES 

                                         

100  

                                        

500  

                                   

500  

                                     

500  

          TOTAL LICENSES & PERMITS 

                      

1,827,460  

                     

1,484,739  

                 

1,484,739  

                   

1,484,739  

      

 FINES AND FORFEITURES:     

      



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        978 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4311    MISDEMEANOR FINES 

                                    

88,458  

                                

200,000  

                           

200,000  

                             

200,000  

4312    VEHICLE PARKING FINES 

                                    

12,585  

                                  

50,000  

                             

50,000  

                                

50,000  

4313    MOVING TRAFFIC VIOLATIONS 

                                 

479,461  

                                

671,704  

                           

665,086  

                             

671,704  

4314    CITY COURT COST 

                                      

2,452  

                                     

6,425  

                               

6,425  

                                  

6,425  

4315    WARRANT FEE 

                                    

28,686  

                                  

69,439  

                             

69,439  

                                

69,439  

4316    ANIMAL CONTROL CITATIONS 

                                            

25  

                                     

1,387  

                               

1,387  

                                  

1,387  

4318    MUNICIPAL COURT COMPUTER 

                                      

5,570  

                                     

9,766  

                               

9,766  

                                  

9,766  

4319    MUNICIPAL COURT DRIVER IMPR FEE 

                                             

-    

                                          

35  

                                     

35  

                                        

35  

4322    ADMINISTRATIVE FEE - DEL C 

                                    

87,904  

                                

184,683  

                           

184,683  

                             

184,683  

4323    CONTEMPT FEE - MUNICIPAL COURT 

                                    

16,081  

                                  

51,674  

                             

51,674  

                                

51,674  

4324 

   COMPUTERIZED CRIME PREVENTION- 

POLICE 

                                      

5,632  

                                  

11,115  

                             

11,115  

                                

11,115  

4325    MUNICIPAL COURT ENHANCEMENT 

                                    

56,178  

                                  

85,000  

                             

85,000  

                                

85,000  

4326    JACKSON ENCHANCEMENT FEE 

                                    

28,081  

                                  

49,976  

                             

49,976  

                                

49,976  

4330    BAD CHECK FEES 

                                         

290  

                                     

1,153  

                               

1,153  

                                  

1,153  

4340    DAILY STORAGE FEE - VEHICLE 

                                    

80,000  

                                  

62,139  

                             

62,139  

                                

62,139  

4341    WRECKER FEE 

                                    

49,050  

                                  

60,000  

                             

60,000  

                                

60,000  

4344    EXPUNGEMENT FEE - MUNICIPAL 

                                      

1,100  

                                     

8,650  

                               

8,650  

                                  

8,650  

4345    JACKSON COLLECTION FEE 

                                    

11,051  

                                  

30,000  

                             

30,000  

                                

30,000  

4346    DOCKET FEE - MUNICIPAL COUT 

                                    

22,884  

                                  

70,535  

                             

70,535  

                                

70,535  

4347    DROPPED CHARGE FEE - MUN COURT 

                                         

950  

                                        

900  

                                   

900  

                                     

900  

4348    CASH BOND CLEARING ACCOUNT 

                                      

6,377  

                                     

5,091  

                               

5,091  

                                  

5,091  

4349    REARRAIGNMENT FEE - MUN COURT 

                                      

5,125  

                                     

9,833  

                               

9,833  

                                  

9,833  

       TOTAL FINES AND FORFEITURES 

                        

987,940  

                     

1,639,505  

                 

1,632,887  

                   

1,639,505  

      

      

      

 REVENUES     

 INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUE     

      

  FEDERAL     

      

4408 POLICE OVERTIME - FBI/DEA GRANT 

                                    

23,416  

                                  

59,325  

                             

59,325  

                                

59,325  

4410 DEA - MS GULF COAST (HIDTA) 

                                    

15,781  

                                  

26,806  

                             

26,806  

                                         

-    

4420 DEA - ASSEST & FORFEITURE 

                                    

14,344  

                                  

31,000  

                             

31,000  

                                         

-    

 

       TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL - 

FEDERAL 

                                    

53,541  

                                

117,131  

                           

117,131  

                                

59,325  

      

 STATE     

      

4511    ALCOHOL PERMITS - ABC 357,231.74 330,649.00 330,649.00 330,649.00 

4512    GASOLINE TAX 576,061.87 569,395.00 569,395.00 569,395.00 

4513    MUNICIPAL REVOLVING FUND 110,975.51 133,412.00 133,412.00 133,412.00 

4514    STATE FIRE PROTECTION 993,020.80 500,000.00 1,449,624.00 1,449,624.00 

4515    PRO-RATA STATE SALESTAX 26,568,249.86 31,969,801.00 31,969,801.00 31,969,801.00 

4516    SEWER GRANT REPMT - SALES 4,453,642.98 0.00 0.00 0.00 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        979 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4517    HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 2,022,629.04 1,808,881.00 1,808,881.00 1,808,881.00 

4518    HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION CHARGE 14,766.77 20,423.00 20,423.00 20,423.00 

4533    WIRELESS RADIO COMMUNICATION 0.00 101,763.00 101,763.00 0.00 

4535    BUS & TRUCK PRIVILEGE TAX 394,411.65 431,879.00 431,879.00 431,879.00 

4548    MDOT-LITTER PICKUP-JPD 0.00 12,660.00 12,660.00 12,660.00 

4548    MS-NATIONAL PARK SERVICE  0.00 0.00 0.00 

4599 OTHER STATE FUNDING  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 

        TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL - 

STATE 35,490,990.22 35,878,863.00 36,828,487.00 36,726,724.00 

      

 LOCAL     

      

4611 PRO-RATA COUNTY ROAD TAX 

                                 

736,460  

                                

670,284  

                           

670,284  

                             

670,284  

4613 SMITH ROBERTSON MUSEUM 

                                            

10  

                                     

3,300  

                               

3,300  

                                  

3,300  

 

         TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL - 

LOCAL 

                                 

736,470  

                                

673,584  

                           

673,584  

                             

673,584  

      

 ADMISSIONS, FEES, RENTALS     

4232 PASSPORT 

                                    

89,207  

                                  

70,058  70,058 

                                

70,058  

4574 TSA 

                                    

63,287  

                                  

33,395  33,395 

                                

33,395  

4596 AD VAL APP 

                                             

-    

                                        

100  100 

                                     

100  

4634 SMALL CELL 

                                      

1,000  

                                     

3,500  3,500 

                                  

3,500  

4715 PARKING METERS 

                                    

22,452  

                                

100,000  

                           

100,000  

                             

100,000  

4724 LOCAL RECORDS FEE 

                                         

865  

                                     

3,669  

                               

3,669  

                                  

3,669  

4732 CRASH REPORT 

                                    

77,875  

                                  

62,750  

                             

62,750  

                                

62,750  

4812 MUN AUD-THALIA MARA HALL RENT 

                                 

183,966  

                                

156,625  

                           

156,625  

                             

156,625  

4820 

SMITH ROBERTSON MUSEUM - 

DONATION 

                                            

19  

                                        

600  

                                   

600  

                                     

600  

4821 

SMITH ROBERTSON MUSEUM - 

ADMISSIONS 

                                      

3,097  

                                     

4,000  

                               

4,000  

                                  

4,000  

4822 SMITH ROBERTSON MUS - ROOM RENT 

                                         

783  

                                     

5,425  

                               

5,425  

                                  

5,425  

4823 SENIOR CENTER RESERVATION 

                                             

-    

                                     

1,200  

                               

1,200  

                                  

1,200  

4824 SMITH ROBERTSON - GIFT SHOP 

                                      

1,912  

                                          

80  

                                     

80  

                                        

80  

4833 ARTS CTR - RENT ON COMMUNITY 

                                             

-    

                                     

4,100  

                               

4,100  

                                  

4,100  

4851 CARNIVAL INSPECTION FEE 

                                      

1,200  

                                          

50  

                                     

50  

                                        

50  

4852 DAYCARE FIRE INSPECTION-AF 

                                      

8,550  

                                     

5,880  

                               

5,880  

                                  

5,880  

4855 FIRE WATER FLOW TEST FEE 

                                      

6,400  

                                     

2,800  

                               

2,800  

                                  

2,800  

4856 FIRE REPORTS & ETC. 

                                    

17,900  

                                  

17,200  

                             

17,200  

                                

17,200  

4860 ACCIDENT REPORT FEE 

                                    

33,255  

                                

124,171  

                           

124,171  

                             

124,171  

4861 BACKGROUND CHECK FEE 

                                      

2,525  

                                  

10,530  

                             

10,530  

                                

10,530  

4864 FINGERPRINTING 

                                    

26,110  

                                  

24,115  

                             

24,115  

                                

24,115  

4865 VERIFICATION OF RECORD FEE 

                                    

17,605  

                                  

17,789  

                             

17,789  

                                

17,789  

4868 BAIL BONDSMAN APPLICANT  

                                             

-    

                                        

150  

                                   

150  

                                     

150  

4874 

TELECOMMUNICATION FRANCHISE 

AGREEM 

                                 

276,917  

                                

380,741  

                           

380,741  

                             

380,741  

4875 RENTS AND ROYALTIES 

                                    

11,100  

                                  

31,100  

                             

31,100  

                                

31,100  

4876 TOWER RENTALS 

                              

4,186,641  

                             

4,250,000  

                       

4,250,000  

                          

4,250,000  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        980 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4880 RENT PISTOL RANGE  

                                         

185  

                                     

2,323  

                               

2,323  

                                  

2,323  

4883 SPRINKLER-HYDRO STATIC-PUMP 

                                      

1,850  

                                        

720  

                                   

720  

                                     

720  

4884 FIRE ALARM ACCEPTANCE TEST 

                                      

4,900  

                                     

1,000  

                               

1,000  

                                  

1,000  

4885 FIRE RE-INSPECTION 

                                         

975  

                                     

5,000  

                               

5,000  

                                  

5,000  

4886 FIRE KNOX 

                                             

-    

                                          

25  

                                     

25  

                                        

25  

4888 FIRE SUPPRESSION SYSTEM TE 

                                      

1,500  

                                        

600  

                                   

600  

                                     

600  

4889 FIRE TRUCK ON SITE 

                                             

-    

                                     

3,600  

                               

3,600  

                                  

3,600  

4890 OUTDOOR ADVERTISING 

                                    

11,970  

                                  

11,970  

                             

11,970  

                                

11,970  

4891 RENTAL FEE - FIRE MUSEUM 

                                             

-    

                                        

260  

                                   

260  

                                     

260  

4893 SCHOOL TOURS FEE - FIRE MUSEUM 

                                             

-    

                                     

1,476  

                               

1,476  

                                  

1,476  

4894 RENTAL INSPECTIONS 

                                      

2,700  

                                        

350  

                                   

350  

                                     

350  

4914 LAND RENTAL 

                                    

14,196  

                                  

10,000  

                             

10,000  

                                

10,000  

 

         TOTAL ADMISSIONS, FEES AND 

RENTALS 

                              

5,070,940  

                             

5,347,352  

                       

5,347,352  

                          

5,347,352  

      

      

 INTEREST REVENUES:     

4911 INTEREST EARNED ON INVESTMENTS 

                                         

609  

                                  

11,399  

                             

11,399  

                                

11,399  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS 

                                 

140,996  

                                

382,698  

                           

382,698  

                             

375,664  

 

      TOTAL INTEREST EARNED ON 

INVESTMENTS 

                                 

141,606  

                                

394,097  

                           

394,097  

                             

387,063  

      

 REVENUES     

    MISCELLANEOUS INCOME:      

      

4647    RENTAL &REGISTRY 

                                 

969,102  

                                

786,679  

                           

786,679  

                             

786,679  

5410 SALE OF EASEMENT  

                                             

-    

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                  

5,000  

5411    PUBLIC UTILITY FRANCHISE FEE 

                              

5,526,097  

                             

4,752,792  

                       

5,357,792  

                          

4,752,792  

5412    FRANCHISE CABLE TELEVISION 

                                 

979,418  

                             

1,200,000  

                       

1,200,000  

                          

1,200,000  

5413    NUCLEAR POWER PLANTS 

                              

1,564,036  

                             

1,602,421  

                       

1,602,421  

                          

1,602,421  

5414    IN-LIEU-OF PROPERTY TAX 

                                    

66,389  

                             

1,010,651  

                             

61,027  

                                

61,027  

5417    WATER/SEWER FRANCHISE FEE 

                                 

972,534  

                                

972,534  

                           

972,534  

                             

972,534  

5426    SALE OF LAND 

                                 

107,051  

                                  

60,167  

                             

60,167  

                                

60,167  

5427    SALE OF FIXED ASSETS 

                                 

622,085  

                                

255,706  

                           

255,706  

                                

55,706  

5435    SMALL ANIMAL CONTROL 

                                             

-    

                                     

1,200  

                               

1,200  

                                  

1,200  

5451 

   POLICE TRAINING REIMBURSEMENTS 

OTHER AGENCIES 

                                    

21,600  

                                  

20,000  

                             

20,000  

                                

20,000  

5454    POLICE-MISC 

                                         

657  

                                  

65,348  

                             

65,348  

                                

65,348  

5463    POLICE - SALE OF WEAPONS 

                                            

10  

                                          

15  

                                     

15  

                                        

15  

5466    PUBLIC SAFETY COMM TRNG REIMB 

                                             

-    

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                

80,603  

5467    UNION STATION TENANTS/JRA  

                                    

36,849  

                                

102,379  

                           

102,379  

                             

102,379  

5475    PROCEEDS OF FORFEITURES  

                                    

10,294  

                                

139,149  

                           

139,149  

                                         

-    

5511    GRANTS & DONATION  

                                    

25,718  

                                

280,640  

                           

280,640  

                             

280,640  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        981 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

5515    INDIRECT COST 

                              

2,357,913  

                             

2,680,223  

                       

2,680,223  

                          

2,680,223  

5520    OTHER DEPARTMENTS 

                                    

47,761  

                                  

90,148  

                             

90,148  

                                

90,148  

5524 I.D. BADGE 

                                            

30  

                                        

180  

                                   

180  

                                     

180  

5525 PARKING FEE - CITY EMPLOYEES 

                                      

2,999  

                                     

6,730  

                               

6,730  

                                  

6,730  

5545   ADMIN. FEE - PAYROLL DEDUCTION 

                                    

13,132  

                                  

15,725  

                             

15,725  

                                

15,725  

5550   MS VALLEY REFUND 

                                             

-    

                                        

800  

                                   

800  

                                     

800  

5551   ENTERGY REFUND 

                                            

29  

                                     

1,000  

                               

1,000  

                                  

1,000  

5552   SCB REFUND 

                                             

-    

                                        

220  

                                   

220  

                                     

220  

5576    BUILDING & PERMIT - MISC. 

                                    

85,489  

                                

110,957  

                           

110,957  

                             

110,957  

5577    PLUMBING EXAM 

                                    

14,050  

                                  

11,000  

                             

11,000  

                                

11,000  

5578    ELECTRICAL EXAM 

                                    

10,275  

                                        

100  

                                   

100  

                                     

100  

5580    PENALTY ON DEMO/GRASS/WEED 

                                      

4,043  

                                  

30,000  

                             

30,000  

                                

30,000  

5614    SITE PLAN, REVIEW 

                                    

15,795  

                                  

16,157  

                             

16,157  

                                

16,157  

5616    SALE OF MAPS, PLANS, SPEC 

                                              

5  

                                        

158  

                                   

158  

                                     

158  

5620    SMITH ROBERSTON - NISSAN GRANT 

                                             

-    

                                  

20,115  

                             

20,115  

                                

20,115  

5628    TRAFFIC 

                                             

-    

                                        

170  

                                   

170  

                                     

170  

5634 GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SYSTEM  

                                             

-    

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                     

100  

5656    ABSTRACT FEES 

                                      

6,480  

                                     

6,961  

                               

6,961  

                                  

6,961  

5657    FINANCE - M 

                                             

-    

                                          

10  

                                     

10  

                                        

10  

5660    CELLULAR REBATE 

                                    

34,878  

                                  

32,000  

                             

32,000  

                                

32,000  

5666    CITY CLERK 

                                    

19,946  

                                  

15,271  

                             

15,271  

                                

15,271  

5667 CEMETERIES 

                                             

-    

                                  

25,000  

                             

25,000  

                                

25,000  

5675 FIRE DEPARTMENT 

                                         

194  

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                     

100  

5676 FIRE SAFETY EDUCATION PROGRAM 

                                         

214  

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                     

200  

5692    INKIND FEES 

                                    

19,342  

                                  

29,237  

                             

29,237  

                                

29,237  

5694    PUBLICATION - MISC 

                                      

2,008  

                                     

7,089  

                               

7,089  

                                  

7,089  

5711    MARY JONES DAYCARE 

                                             

-    

                                        

220  

                                   

220  

                                     

220  

5725    CAFETERIA PLAN - FLEXIBLE SPENDING 

                                             

-    

                                

150,000  

                           

150,000  

                             

150,000  

5795    SETTLEMENT OF INSURANCE CLAIMS 

                                 

501,798  

                                  

75,000  

                             

75,000  

                                

75,000  

5821    PROCEEDS OF LONG TERM DEBT 

                                             

-    

                                

375,850  

                           

375,850  

                             

375,850  

5830    FEES FOR LOST FUELMAN CARDS 

                                         

240  

                                        

181  

                                   

181  

                                     

181  

          TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 

                            

14,038,462  

                          

14,950,183  

                     

14,605,559  

                        

13,747,413  

      

      

 OPERATING TRANSFERS IN:     

5911 TRANSFER IN/FROM GENERAL FUND 

                                 

362,630  

                                

314,779  

                           

561,487  

                             
457,134  

5912 TRANSFER IN/FROM WATER/SEWER 

                                             

-    

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                          

1,477,105  

5914 TRANSFER IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS 

                              

1,500,000  

                             

1,528,200  

                       

1,066,400  

                          

2,194,640  

          TOTAL OPERATING TRANSFERS IN 

                              

1,862,630  

                             

1,842,979  

                       

1,627,887  

                          

4,128,879  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        982 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

  

 

 

POLICE 

      

      

       

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                 

22,543,290  

 $                

29,142,720  

 $            

29,152,720  

 $              

30,419,073  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                      

1,987,957  

                     

2,493,296  

                 

2,485,531  

                   

2,226,845  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

1,750,709  

                     

1,794,621  

                 

1,897,229  

                   

1,683,931  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                      

2,349,436  

                     

1,025,887  

                 

1,825,771  

                   

1,466,961  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                      

1,303,615  

                     

1,345,066  

                 

1,343,386  

                   

1,321,066  

             

 

         TOTAL FROM ALL SOURCES OTHER 

THAN TAXATION  

                            

60,210,039  

                          

62,328,433  62,711,723 

                        

64,194,584  

      

      

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE 

                                             

-    

                             

1,825,115  

                       

3,437,069  

                          

6,907,963  

      

      

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES OTHER 

THAN TAXATION 

                            

60,210,039  

                          

64,153,548  66,148,791 

                        

71,102,547  

      

      

      

      
      

 TAXES:            

      

4111    REAL PROPERTY 

                            

36,193,102  

                          

36,643,499  

                     

36,643,499  

                        

36,482,211  

4112    PERSONAL PROPERTY 

                            

19,263,050  

                          

19,218,180  

                     

19,218,180  

                        

19,811,009  

4113    DELINQUENT REALTY 

                                 

321,251  

                                

927,952  

                           

927,952  

                             

927,952  

4114    DELINQUENT PERSONAL 

                                    

35,899  

                                

218,093  

                           

218,093  

                             

218,093  

4115    AUTOMOTIVE 

                              

6,245,562  

                             

6,511,984  

                       

6,511,984  

                          

6,758,985  

4116    MOTOR VEHICLE RENTAL TAX 

                                 

883,929  

                                

784,544  

                           

784,544  

                             

784,544  

4118    INTEREST ON CURRENT 

                                 

378,985  

                                

801,265  

                           

801,265  

                             

801,265  

4119    INTEREST ON PRIOR YEARS 

                                 

837,097  

                                

614,406  

                           

614,406  

                             

614,406  

4131    RAIL CAR TAXES 

                                    

64,089  

                                  

64,473  

                             

64,473  

                                

64,473  

4134 1% METRO 

                              

2,479,007  

                             

4,630,563  

                       

4,630,563  

                                         

-    

4135    TAX FORFEITED LAND 

                                 

176,477  

                                

100,000  

                           

100,000  

                             

100,000  

4140    COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT 

                                      

7,290  

                                     

8,000  

                               

8,000  

                                  

8,000  

                  

          TOTAL TAXES 

                            

66,885,737  

                          

70,522,959  

                     

70,522,959  

                        

66,570,938  

                  

 

TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND 

ANTICIPATED     

 REVENUE FROM ALL SOURCES   

 $               

127,095,776  

 $              

134,676,507  

 $          

136,671,751  

 $            

137,673,485  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        983 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                                 

-    

                                

-    

                            

-    

                              

-    

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

12,120  

                         

40,796  

                   

380,881  

                       

61,404  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                 

29,947,127  

 $                

35,842,386  

 $            

37,085,518  

 $              

37,179,280  

      

      

      
FIRE 

      

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                 

20,659,521  

 $                

22,643,637  

 $            

22,643,637  

 $              

22,471,565  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                        

664,128  

                       

770,608  

                   

715,608  

                     

803,198  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                        

914,596  

                       

802,188  

                   

707,188  

                     

802,188  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                        

559,911  

                       

939,138  

                 

1,099,755  

                   

1,010,552  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                                 

-    

                               

69  

                           

69  

                             

69  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

52,057  

                         

52,057  

                     

41,440  

                       

30,643  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                 

22,850,213  

 $                

25,207,697  

 $            

25,207,697  

 $              

25,118,215  

      

      

      
PUBLIC WORKS 

      

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

6,016,193  

 $                  

8,188,553  

 $              

7,953,452  

 $                

8,294,191  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                      

1,265,177  

                     

1,602,879  

                 

1,941,635  

                   

1,697,410  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

2,375,530  

                     

3,521,842  

                 

3,533,029  

                   

6,095,777  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                        

371,868  

                       

450,731  

                   

465,593  

                     

474,302  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                                 

-    

                       

236,754  

                   

235,713  

                     

880,838  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                                 

-    

                                

-    

                            

-    

                              

-    

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

85,512  

                       

151,534  

                   

151,534  

                     

117,724  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                 

10,114,279  

 $                

14,152,293  

 $            

14,280,956  

 $              

17,560,242  

      

      

      
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

      

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

2,675,620  

 $                  

3,533,271  

 $              

3,762,237  

 $                

4,762,875  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                        

113,148  

                       

120,205  

                   

106,205  

                       

82,064  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        984 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

4,908,117  

                     

4,747,716  

                 

4,552,789  

                   

4,738,085  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                          

95,750  

                       

108,000  

                   

102,100  

                     

500,000  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                          

69,695  

                         

71,675  

                     

57,536  

                       

66,675  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                      

1,898,609  

                     

1,898,609  

                 

1,898,609  

                   

1,898,609  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                                 

-    

                           

1,025  

                       

1,025  

                              

-    

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

9,760,939  

 $                

10,480,501  

 $            

10,480,501  

 $              

12,048,308  

       

      

      

      
HUMAN & CULTURAL SERVICES 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

1,486,681  

 $                  

1,830,004  

 $              

1,765,497  

 $                

1,907,172  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                          

71,309  

                       

102,628  

                   

173,140  

                     

103,129  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                        

722,062  

                       

626,796  

                   

682,517  

                     

628,577  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                        

382,984  

                       

402,621  

                   

289,095  

                     

229,082  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                        

253,342  

                       

290,000  

                   

475,000  

                     

290,000  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                          

69,102  

                         

69,102  

                     

62,484  

                       

69,102  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

24,133  

                         

20,939  

                     

20,939  

                       

28,656  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

3,009,613  

 $                  

3,342,090  

 $              

3,468,672  

 $                

3,255,718  

      

      
HUMAN RESOURCES 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                      

865,675  

 $                     

945,041  

 $                 

945,041  

 $                

1,001,733  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                          

20,679  

                         

20,687  

                     

20,487  

                       

26,187  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                          

81,424  

                         

92,055  

                     

93,922  

                       

97,056  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                          

30,755  

                         

61,036  

                     

97,266  

                       

52,736  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                          

69,476  

                       

226,811  

                   

141,970  

                     

101,337  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                            

5,858  

                         

11,541  

                     

11,541  

                       

55,952  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

1,073,867  

 $                  

1,357,171  

 $              

1,310,227  

 $                

1,335,001  

      

      
ADMINISTRATION 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

3,237,144  

 $                  

4,327,312  

 $              

4,306,732  

 $                

4,638,885  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        985 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                          

24,489  

                         

44,270  

                   

140,892  

                       

60,318  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                        

554,434  

                     

1,358,828  

                 

1,301,909  

                   

1,444,078  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                                 

-    

                         

19,123  

                            

-    

                              

-    

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                                 

-    

                         

10,100  

                     

10,100  

                       

10,100  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

3,816,067  

 $                  

5,759,633  

 $              

5,759,633  

 $                

6,153,381  

      

      
GENERAL GOVERNMENT 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

4,820,858  

 $                  

5,843,072  

 $              

5,975,930  

 $                

6,706,052  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                          

92,315  

                       

229,122  

                   

269,122  

                     

229,036  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

3,944,996  

                     

7,574,492  

                 

7,325,491  

                   

6,847,579  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                          

55,122  

                         

75,214  

                     

99,706  

                       

79,326  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                      

1,283,169  

                       

610,648  

                   

824,648  

                     

610,563  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                    

12,945,573  

                   

14,174,422  

               

14,356,362  

                 

10,007,033  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                      

1,676,189  

                     

1,371,160  

                 

1,371,160  

                   

1,339,788  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                 

24,818,223  

 $                

29,878,130  

 $            

30,222,419  

 $              

25,819,377  

      

      
MUNICIPAL CLERK 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                      

443,880  

 $                     

571,546  

 $                 

571,546  

 $                   

572,495  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                            

3,942  

                         

19,958  

                     

19,958  

                       

19,558  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                        

143,093  

                       

209,516  

                   

187,516  

                     

660,470  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                                 

-    

                               

45  

                     

22,045  

                             

45  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                      

590,915  

 $                     

801,065  

 $                 

801,065  

 $                

1,252,568  

      

      

      

      

      

      

      
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

2,753,663  

 $                  

2,717,960  

 $              

2,508,086  

 $                

2,881,004  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                        

290,922  

                       

557,708  

                   

546,710  

                     

534,238  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        986 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

2,007,291  

                     

1,927,439  

                 

2,753,311  

                   

1,986,927  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                      

1,019,106  

                     

1,103,226  

                 

1,103,226  

                   

1,058,395  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                                 

-    

                     

1,446,000  

                 

1,040,522  

                   

1,446,000  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

84,120  

                       

103,208  

                   

103,208  

                       

44,831  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

6,155,102  

 $                  

7,855,541  

 $              

8,055,063  

 $                

7,951,395  

      

      

 

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 

EXPENDITURES 

 $               

112,136,346  

 $              

134,676,507  

 $          

136,671,751  

 $            

137,673,485  

      

      

      
CLAIMS FUND 

      

 REVENUES     

4911 
INTEREST EARNED ON 

INVESTMENTS 

                        

225,074  

                               

50  

                           

50  

                             

50  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS 

                               

724  

                                

-    

                            

-    

                              

-    

5911 
TRANSFER IN/FROM GENERAL 

FUND 

                      

1,000,000  

                     

1,925,943  

                 

1,925,943  

                         
1,925,943  

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE 

                                 

-    

                     

5,093,473  

                 

5,093,473  

                   

5,093,473  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                      

1,225,797  

                     

7,019,466  

                 

7,019,466  

                   

7,019,466  

      

      

      

      

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                               

850  

                           

5,723  

                       

5,723  

                         

5,723  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS 

                        

525,319  

                     

7,013,743  

                 

7,013,743  

                   

7,013,743  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                      

526,169  

 $                  

7,019,466  

 $              

7,019,466  

 $                

7,019,466  

      

      

      
FEDERAL GRANTS 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4421 TITLE IIIB OUTREACH  20579 31579 20579 31579 

4423 TITLE III-B TRANSPORTATION  120000 152365 150000 152365 

4425 TITLE III CONGREGATE MEALS  0 160441 88440 160441 

4431 NCSC AIDES  328728 469617 469617 476257 

4432 SSBG TITLE XX HOME DELIVERED  0 354706 215566 354706 

4449 MMRS GRANT-METRO MED RESPONSE  0 25198 25198 25198 

4460 HOME PROGRAM  66100.57 4045576 5845192 4442042 

4461 CDBG-HOUSING & COMM DEVELOPMT  1073925.94 6159684 7799812 7799277 

4468 EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT  115318.76 232400 333356 232516 

4490 CITY MATCHING FUNDS  0 429809 429809 429809 

4498 H O P W A GRANT - DEPT. OF HUD  1681380.46 2254156 3377208 3724381 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        987 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4591 ESG COVID 2020  221461.35 27557 370 370 

4595 CDBG COVID CARES  542839.34 1704194 1618719 796198 

4610 CORONAVIRUS RECOVERY FUNDS  0 13705946 13299038 2821016 

4639 MDOT- ERBR PROJECTS  0 0 268945 0 

4640 STATE STREET SIGNAL PROJEC  0 0 1162050 0 

4650 2022 COPS MICROGRANT  0 0 174948 0 

4656 HOME AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN  0 3184710 3184490 3184710 

4661 TERRY RD REHAB AND SIDEWALK  0 0 947414 0 

4675 KABOOM - PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT  0 38151 38151 0 

4679 FEMA-4598-DR-MS  1049500.2 0 0 0 

4688 2020 SAKI GRANT DOJ  201275.56 824841 824841 0 

4691 2019 ED BRYNE MEMORIAL GRANT  201830 0 42241 0 

4697 MEADOWBROOK - 108076  0 0 350019 0 

4699  2022 CRIME GUN INTEL GRANT  0 0 675000 0 

4764 2021 ED BRYNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE  0 0 247212 36272 

4789 LITTLE J RAIL TRAIL  0 0 198756 0 

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  64113.43 20232 9128 9128 

5482 TIGER GRANT  0 5738434 5738434 0 

5483 LEAD-BASED HAZARD GRANT  249996.61 1581981 1581981 1581981 

5484 MHC BLIGHT ELIMINATION PROGRAM  0 1861029 1826615 1747332 

4799 DFA-HB603 0 0 238922 238922 

5687 TITLE III CONGREGATE DONATION  0 150 150 150 

5778 HOME - PROGRAM INCOME  1230 2000 2000 2000 

5787 PROGRAM INCOME - MINCAP  8067.2 4000 4000 4000 

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  0 381048 321053 402550 

5911 TRANSFERS IN/FROM GENERAL FUND  122838 122838 116220 98427 

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                   

5,946,346  

 $                

43,512,642  

 $            

51,625,474  

 $              

28,751,627  

      

      

      

 FEDERAL GRANTS FUND     

 PERSONAL SERVICE  
 $                   

1,547,883  

 $                  

2,100,674  

 $              

1,826,973  

 $                

1,475,361  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                        

225,566  

                       

759,284  

                 

1,052,740  

                     

999,201  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                        

940,815  

                     

9,319,687  

               

18,354,556  

                   

2,797,640  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY  
                       

(571,383) 

                     

2,577,527  

                 

6,696,203  

                   

1,679,575  

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 
APPROPRIATIONS 

                      

1,151,092  

                   

28,755,470  

               

19,234,525  

                 

15,845,373  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS  
                      

1,500,000  

                                

-    

                 

4,460,477  

                   

5,954,477  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

4,793,974  

 $                

43,512,642  

 $            

51,625,474  

 $              

28,751,627  

      

      

      
DEBT SERVICE 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4227 AIRCRAFT REGISTRATION  

                               

812  0  0  0  

4517 HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION  

                        

209,115  18,926  18,926  14,761  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        988 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4518 
HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 

CHARGEBACK  

                            

1,659  0  0  0  

4911 INTEREST EARNED ON INVESTMENTS  

                          

22,074  0  0  0  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                          

30,149  0  0  0  

5418 CAPITAL CTY CONVENTION COMMISS  

                      

1,924,120  0  0  4,718,688  

5670 COUNTY TAXES  

                        

344,370  222,000  222,785  222,000  

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  

                                 

-    1,534,106  1,534,106  2,659,200  

5914 TRANSFERS IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS  

                    

11,140,558  15,265,872  15,266,872  10,106,308  

5937 PMTS FROM OTHER FUNDS  

                                 

-    0  0  0  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                    

13,672,856  

                   

17,040,904  

               

17,042,689  

                 

17,720,957  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                      

3,897,184  

                     

2,917,253  

                 

2,917,253  

                   

2,790,279  

4112 CURRENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                      

2,001,889  1,484,871  1,484,871  1,463,593  

4113 DELINQUENT REALTY TAXES  

                          

59,005  1  1  0  

4114 DELINQUENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                            

5,220  0  0  0  

4115 AD VALOREM TAX ON AUTOMOBILES  

                        

721,759  511,632  511,632  510,116  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                      

6,685,057  

                     

4,913,757  

                 

4,913,757  

                   

4,763,988  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                 

20,357,913  

 $                

21,954,661  

 $            

21,956,446  

 $              

22,484,945  

      

      

      

 DEBT SERVICE     

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                          

11,286  

                         

15,996  

                     

17,745  

                       

14,146  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS  
                      

6,687,124  

                     

6,466,788  

                 

6,466,788  

                   

7,437,948  

 DEBT SERVICE 
                    

14,383,549  

                   

15,471,877  

               

15,471,913  

                 

15,032,851  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                 

21,081,959  

 $                

21,954,661  

 $            

21,956,446  

 $              

22,484,945  

      

      

      
PARKS & ZOO 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4227 HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION  

                               

305  500  500  350  

4517 
HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 

CHARGEBACK  

                          

78,763  65,000  65,000  65,000  

4518 GROVE PARK GREEN FEES  

                               

591  660  660  660  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        989 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4576 GROVE PK ELEC. GOLF CART RENT  

                            

6,959  10,000  10,000  5,000  

4577 SONNY GUY GREEN FEES  

                          

91,187  150,000  150,000  31,537  

4578 SONNY GUY PK ELEC GLF CART REN  

                               

545  35,000  35,000  300  

4716 RANGE BALLS  

                            

1,925  10,000  10,000  1,800  

4717 SWIMMING FEES  

                            

3,165  3,500  3,500  1,200  

4720 ATHLETIC FEES  

                          

44,284  87,000  87,000  46,500  

4721 GYM USER FEES  

                          

25,204  41,000  41,000  20,000  

4722 SMITH WILL STAD RENT CONCESS  

                            

5,169  13,800  13,800  5,000  

4741 PARKS BUILDING RENTALS  

                               

364  3,391  3,391  1,000  

4742 PARKS FIELD RENTALS  

                          

16,322  22,042  22,042  17,000  

4743 PARKS CONCESSIONS  

                          

10,807  13,500  13,500  9,500  

4744 PARKS PROGRAMS REGISTRATION  

                                 

-    0  0  0  

4745 JONES CENTER RENTAL  

                          

12,237  13,500  13,500  10,500  

4746 DANCE KARATE AEROBICS  

                            

1,850  5,500  5,500  1,500  

4747 PARKS-OTHER  

                               

139  100  100  100  

4748 VENDOR FEES - PARK EVENTS  

                            

2,410  5,000  5,000  1,400  

4749 ADMISSIONS /SUMMER FESTIVALS  

                                 

-    8,000  8,000  0  

4750 MYNELLE GARDEN-PHOTOGRAPHY  

                                 

-    1,000  1,000  0  

4752 MYNELLE GARDEN ADMISSIONS  

                               

163  2,000  2,000  100  

4757 MYNELLE GARDEN RENTAL  

                               

500  600  600  600  

4758 MYNELLE GARDEN WEDDINGS  

                                 

-    2,500  2,500  0  

4762 MYNELLE GARDEN GIFT SHOP SALES  

                            

2,451  0  0  1  

4779 DONATIONS-SUMMER FESTIVALS  

                               

100  300  300  100  

4780 RENTS AND ROYALTIES  

                            

2,419  3,000  3,000  1,500  

4781 ZOO GIFT SHOP  

                                 

-    499  499  499  

4782 ZOO ADMISSIONS  

                            

2,600  3,800  3,800  1,200  

4784 ZOO VENDOR FEES  

                                

64  100  100  50  

4817 INTEREST EARNED ON INVESTMENTS  

                                 

-    5,000  5,000  0  

4875 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                            

7,210  25,000  25,000  7,500  

4911 GOLF MERCHANDISE  

                               

160  20  20  20  

4913 GRANTS & DONATIONS  

                               

421  1,880  1,880  500  

5511 OTHER DEPARTMENTS  

                          

12,010  11,414  21,414  0  

5520 TRANSFERS IN/FROM GENERAL FUND  

                            

1,220  2,100  2,100  1,000  

5911  

                      

6,039,109  5,956,051  5,956,051  6,266,679  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        990 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

5914 TRANSFERS IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS  

                                 

-    0  28,100  0  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                      

6,370,652  

                     

6,502,757  

                 

6,540,857  

                   

6,498,096  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                      

1,407,566  

                     

1,407,471  

                 

1,407,471  

                   

1,400,738  

4112 CURRENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                        

749,787  738,167  738,167  760,645  

4113 DELINQUENT REALTY TAXES  

                          

13,786  19,883  19,883  19,883  

4114 DELINQUENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                            

1,485  3,883  3,883  3,883  

4115 AD VALOREM TAX ON AUTOMOBILES  

                        

245,721  250,124  250,124  259,512  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                      

2,418,346  

                     

2,419,528  

                 

2,419,528  

                   

2,444,661  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                   

8,788,998  

 $                  

8,922,285  

 $              

8,960,385  

 $                

8,942,757  

      

      

      

 PARKS     

 PERSONAL SERVICE  
 $                   

5,160,103  

 $                  

6,188,850  

 $              

6,188,850  

 $                

6,191,318  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                        

685,102  

                       

766,129  

                   

825,388  

                     

787,055  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                      

1,961,742  

                     

1,497,079  

                 

1,603,022  

                   

1,514,000  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY  
                        

160,156  

                       

408,688  

                   

253,986  

                     

393,432  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS  
                                 

-    

                                

-    

                     

28,100  

                              

-    

 DEBT SERVICE  
                          

47,857  

                         

61,039  

                     

61,039  

                       

56,952  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

8,014,961  

 $                  

8,921,785  

 $              

8,960,385  

 $                

8,942,757  

      

        
D&R 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4227 AIRCRAFT REGISTRATION  

                               

414  604  604  604  

4517 HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION  

                        

104,361  100,000  100,000  100,000  

4518 
HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 

CHARGEBACK  

                            

1,100  1,000  1,000  1,000  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                            

1,190  0  0  0  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                        

107,065  

                       

101,604  

                   

101,604  

                     

101,604  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                      

1,872,123  

                     

2,241,304  

                 

2,241,304  

                   

2,329,954  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        991 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4112 CURRENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                        

994,153  1,140,816  1,140,816  1,222,137  

4113 DELINQUENT REALTY TAXES  

                          

26,270  17,086  17,086  17,086  

4114 DELINQUENT PERSONAL TAXES  
                            

2,856  7,000  7,000  7,000  

4115 AD VALOREM TAX ON AUTOMOBILES  

                        

465,612  393,083  393,083  425,960  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                      

3,361,014  

                     

3,799,289  

                 

3,799,289  

                   

4,002,137  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                   

3,468,080  

 $                  

3,900,893  

 $              

3,900,893  

 $                

4,103,741  

      

      

      

 DISABILITY & RELIEF     

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 

APPROPRIATIONS 

                      

3,469,363  3,900,893 3,900,893 4,103,741 

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 
                      

3,469,363  

                     

3,900,893  

                 

3,900,893  

                   

4,103,741  

        

      
LIBRARY 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4227 AIRCRAFT REGISTRATION  

                               

262  0  0  0  

4517 HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION  

                          

67,342  18,169  18,169  34,309  

4518 
HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 

CHARGEBACK  

                               

510  0  0  0  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                          

68,114  

                         

18,169  

                     

18,169  

                       

34,309  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                      

1,203,470  

                     

1,203,387  

                 

1,203,387  

                   

1,197,631  

4112 CURRENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                        

641,173  631,133  631,133  650,352  

4113 DELINQUENT REALTY TAXES  

                          

11,823  0  0  0  

4114 DELINQUENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                            

1,248  0  0  0  

4115 AD VALOREM TAX ON AUTOMOBILES  

                        

212,263  213,856  213,856  221,883  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                      

2,069,978  

                     

2,048,376  

                 

2,048,376  

                   

2,069,866  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                   

2,138,092  

 $                  

2,066,545  

 $              

2,066,545  

 $                

2,104,175  

      

      

      

 LIBRARY     



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        992 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                        

113,442  

                       

119,537  

                   

119,537  

                     

119,537  

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 
APPROPRIATIONS 

                      

1,947,008  

                     

1,947,008  

                 

1,947,008  

                   

1,984,638  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

2,060,450  

 $                  

2,066,545  

 $              

2,066,545  

 $                

2,104,175  

      

      
STATE GRANTS 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4564 BUDDY BUTTS RACEWAY TRACK  

                                 

-    86,387  0  0  

4573 402 POLICE TRAFFIC SERVICES  

                                 

-    25,552  25,552  25,552  

4575 DPS CORONA SUPPLEMENT GRANT  

                                 

-    700  700  700  

4588 CHICAGO JOBS CORP  

                        

181,235  0  150,679  0  

4597 DFA JACKSON ZOO BOND  

                                 

-    20,700  104,470  13,339  

4598 NLC-SOUTHERN CITIES INCLUSION  

                                 

-    0  15,000  0  

4638 DFA-PLANETARIUM  

                                 

-    669,353  669,353  444,353  

4644 DFA-SB2971-LIVINGSTON PARK  

                          

15,000  0  15,000  0  

4648 DFA-LAKE HICO AND NORTHGATE  

                        

500,000  0  500,000  0  

4649 DFA-SB2971-TOUGALOO CENTER  

                          

15,000  0  15,000  0  

4660 DFA-SB2971-PETE BROWN GOLF  

                      

2,000,000  1,104,329  474,788  461,353  

4676 DFA- THALIA MARA HALL $2M  

                                 

-    13,500  3,953  0  

4677 DFA- EUBANKS HB 1353  

                                 

-    0  1,000,000  0  

4680 
NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING 

COMM  

                                 

-    62,704  62,704  33,114  

4681 MISSISSIPPI HUMANITIES COUNCIL  

                                 

-    80,215  80,215  36,329  

4682 ASPEN INSTITUTE  

                                 

-    103,125  103,125  66,468  

4683 NLC GRANT CAO  

                                 

-    162,100  157,200  43,928  

4693 
ROBERT WOOD JOHNSON 

FOUNDATION  

                                 

-    7,200  7,200  0  

4694 RAND CORPORATIONS  

                                 

-    0  0  0  

4695 NLC ENTREPRENEURSHIP  

                          

35,000  35,000  42,545  35,000  

4738 NLC MICROLENDING  

                                 

-    0  238,922  238,922  

4763 FITLOT PARTNERSHIP  

                            

3,510  3,510  3,510  0  

4786 HARTFORD INSURANCE  

                                 

-    10,000  10,000  10,000  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                            

3,437  10,812  10,812  10,812  

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  

                                 

-    557,392  560,902  561,588  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                      

2,753,182  

                     

2,952,579  

                 

4,251,630  

                   

1,981,458  

      



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        993 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

      

      

 STATE GRANTS FUND     

 PERSONAL SERVICE  
 $                      

233,522  

 $                     

162,955  

 $                 

308,559  

 $                   

181,359  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                        

118,032  

                       

286,421  

                   

299,625  

                     

180,791  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                      

1,813,710  

                     

1,859,215  

                 

1,510,857  

                   

1,266,899  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY  
                        

177,871  

                       

375,845  

                 

1,950,389  

                     

327,409  

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 
APPROPRIATIONS 

                                 

-    

                       

260,943  

                   

175,000  

                       

25,000  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS 
                                 

-    

                           

7,200  

                       

7,200  

                              

-    

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

2,343,135  

 $                  

2,952,579  

 $              

4,251,630  

 $                

1,981,458  

      

      
IMPROVEMENTS 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4536 MDOT - REIMBURSEMENT  

                                 

-    1,613,016  1,613,016  1,748,022  

4542 MDOT-TCSP TRAFFIC CALMING GRAN  

                                 

-    157,516  157,516  0  

4554 MDOT - STPD 7257-00 (001)  

                                 

-    500,000  500,000  500,000  

4558 MDOT - MILL STREET PROJECT  

                                 

-    1,649,667  1,649,667  0  

4559 
MDOT-FONDREN ENHANCEMNT 

PROJCT  

                                 

-    129,533  129,533  129,533  

4601 CMPDD- NORTH JACKON SIGNALS  

                                 

-    13,032  13,032  13,032  

4603 MILL STATE FORT WEB WOOD WIL  

                                 

-    2,093,473  2,093,473  0  

4604 MILL & REPAIR NORTHSIDE/I55  

                                 

-    1,264,764  1,264,764  19,573  

4621 STREET RESURFACING  

                                 

-    34,110  34,110  34,110  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                            

6,675  4,350  4,350  4,350  

5511 GRANTS & DONATIONS  

                                 

-    725  725  725  

5795 SETTLEMENT OF INS CLAIM PROP  

                                 

-    106,966  410,808  10,023,468  

5821 PROCEEDS OF LONG TERM DEBT  

                                 

-    329,414  329,414  0  

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  

                                 

-    1,993,353  1,993,353  2,034,267  

5911 TRANSFERS IN/FROM GENERAL FUND  

                        

160,000  160,000  160,000  160,000  

5914 TRANSFERS IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS  

                                 

-    1,177,397  1,177,397  2,326,502  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                        

166,675  

                   

11,227,316  

               

11,531,158  

                 

16,993,582  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                        

795,852  

                     

1,481,328  

                 

1,848,507  

                   

1,481,328  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                        

795,852  

                     

1,481,328  

                 

1,848,507  

                   

1,481,328  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        994 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                      

962,528  

 $                

12,708,644  

 $            

13,379,665  

 $              

18,474,910  

      

      

      

 IMPROVEMENT FUND     

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                                 

-    

                         

45,204  

                     

45,204  

                         

5,264  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                                 

-    

                     

5,485,450  

                   

969,360  

                     

139,255  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY  
                       

(394,500) 

                     

3,522,790  

                 

8,199,522  

                 

13,641,560  

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 
APPROPRIATIONS 

                      

1,534,401  

                     

3,580,200  

                 

3,947,379  

                   

2,362,329  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS 
                      

1,500,000  

                         

75,000  

                   

218,200  

                   

2,326,502  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

2,639,901  

 $                

12,708,644  

 $            

13,379,665  

 $              

18,474,910  

      

      

      
CAPITAL PROJECTS 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4142 MODERNIZATION TAX  

                                 

-    54,620  54,620  0  

4536 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                                 

-    3,290,619  3,290,619  0  

4543 MDOT 

                    

10,172,702  9,849,040  9,849,040  9,849,040  

4563 MDOT 

                        

218,477  85,000  93,430  49,230  

4913 SALE OF BONDS 

                      

6,977,216  6,249,148  12,882,780  0  

5820 PAYMENT FROM OTHER FUNDS 

                                 

-    0  0  0  

5822  

                                 

-    10,534,514  9,747,614  8,119,548  

5899  

                                 

-    0  0  0  

5914 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  

                                 

-    4,935,307  4,935,307  0  

5937          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                    

17,368,394  

                   

34,998,248  

               

40,853,410  

                 

18,017,818  

      

 TAXES     

4142 1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  

                    

16,321,865  

                   

16,122,280  

               

16,122,280  

                 

16,335,563  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                    

16,321,865  

                   

16,122,280  

               

16,122,280  

                 

16,335,563  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                 

33,690,259  

 $                

51,120,528  

 $            

56,975,690  

 $              

34,353,381  

      

      

      



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        995 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

      

      

 EXPENDITURES     

      

 CAPITAL PROJECTS     

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                            

1,600  1600 58100 
                              

-    

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  731508.16 13010226 3693840 1087397 

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 3515174.72 6778104 34846337 15683989 

 OPERATING TRANSFERS  0 25984680 7651060 4165521 

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 4671590.08 5345918 10726353 13416474 

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

8,918,273  

 $                

51,120,528  

 $            

56,975,690  

 $              

34,353,381  

      

      
ENTERPRISE* 

      

 REVENUES     

      

4220 SEWER CONNECTION PERMITS  0 60971 60971 0 

4270 LAND FILL CHARGES  99068.39 30883 30883 50005 

4271 SPECIAL TRASH COLLECTION FEES  0 3000 3000 3000 

4473 DOT-FTA FORMUAL GRANT 5307  3909107 5986391 5986391 5986391 

4521 MS-DEQ GRANTS-SOLID WASTE/etc  26171.7 0 0 0 

4536 MDOT - REIMBURSEMENT  480000 480000 480000 480000 

4623 FTA-AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN (ARP)  0 1000000 1000000 1000000 

4698 WATER THIRD PARTY MANAGER  0 0 0 1742317 

4711 GARBAGE PICKUP FEES  17700791.18 14253308 14253308 14815766 

4712 GARBAGE PICKUP FEES PRES.HILLS  424393.77 318000 318000 318000 

4734 FTA CARES ACT  148547 0 0 55000 

4736 FTA DISCRETIONARY 5339 (B)  0 4301754 4301754 6245046 

4737 FTA DISCRETIONARY CIG  0 1250000 1250000 1250000 

4911 INTEREST EARNED ON INVESTMENTS  313909.83 0 0 0 

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  269.39 20 20 20 

5311 WATER CHARGES  32542814.61 29623549 29623549 0 

5312 WATER CHARGES-TRIANGLE  367291.43 420701 420701 0 

5315 DEVELOPMENT CHARGES  11525 71868 71868 0 

5319 SEWER CHARGES  35282532.24 21417493 21417493 0 

5320 SEWER CHARGES-TRIANGLE  419483.74 507203 507203 0 

5321 MISCELLANEOUS  -1813219.31 614603 614603 0 

5322 MISC-TRIANGLE  0 1260 1260 0 

5323 MADISON COUNTY WATER REVENUE  0 451860 451860 0 

5342 SERVICE CONNECTIONS  35021.92 119819 119819 0 

5369 BYRAM SEWER REVENUE  101949.47 0 0 0 

5373 RIDGELAND  WEST SEWER REVENUE  1040284.53 126519 126519 0 

5380 MADISON CO SEWER REVENUE  1127040.32 2353569 2353569 0 

5385 FOREST WOODS UTILITY SEWER REV  0 125536 125536 0 

5390 JATRAN FARE REVENUE  379848.1 400000 400000 400000 

5392 JATRAN ADVERTISING REVENUE  0 0 0 50000 

5393 LEACHATE DISPOSAL  65939.71 50000 50000 0 

5428 SALE OF SCRAP METAL  120.8 0 0 0 

5520 OTHER DEPARTMENTS  0 0 0 0 

5627 RECYCLING PROGRAM  7675.41 5000 5000 5000 

5794 SETTLEMENT OF SIEMENS CLAIM  0 5496787 5496787 2520826 

5821 PROCEEDS OF LONG TERM DEBT  4546816.8 43571302 43571302 0 

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  0 16014825 17212261 8909251 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        996 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

5911 TRANSFERS IN/FROM GENERAL FUND  4777729 2077729 2452729 2112331 

5912 TRANSFERS IN/FROM WATER/SEWER  19219120 99287753 99288393 0 

5914 TRANSFERS IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS  0 228500 228500 2336950 

      

 TOTAL REVENUES 

 $               

121,214,232  

 $              

250,650,203  

 $          

252,223,279  

 $              

48,279,903  

      

      

      

 EXPENDITURES     

 WATER OPER AND MAIN     

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                 

19,219,120  

 $                

99,516,253  

 $            

99,516,253  

 $                

1,895,745  

 SUPPLIES& MATERIALS 

                      

6,159,424  

                     

3,980,804  

                 

3,980,804  

                   

1,742,317  

 OTHER SERVICES AND CHARGES 

                        

363,055  

                         

11,000  

                     

65,878  

                              

-    

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                      

7,710,867  

                   

36,403,447  

               

36,407,020  

                     

759,137  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS 29971.54 8661995 12863889 0 

 DEBT SERVICE -5465736.96 46220112 42018218 7704082 

 OPERATING TRANSFERS 

                    

24,063,697  

                   

24,678,394  

               

24,678,394  

                   

1,171,950  

      

 TOTAL EXPENSES 

 $                 

52,080,397  

 $              

219,472,005  

 $          

219,530,456  

 $              

13,273,231  

      

 TRANSPORTATION     

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                      

487,632  

 $                     

757,840  

 $                 

757,840  

 $                   

746,797  

 SUPPLIES& MATERIALS 

                        

536,667  

                       

728,925  

                   

952,302  

                     

973,545  

 OTHER SERVICES AND CHARGES 

                      

6,779,503  

                   

10,337,102  

               

10,744,168  

                 

11,901,817  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                          

26,532  

                     

4,565,000  

                 

5,074,182  

                   

4,815,000  

      

 TOTAL EXPENSES 

 $                   

7,830,333  

 $                

16,388,867  

 $            

17,528,492  

 $              

18,437,159  

      

 SANITATION     

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                      

756,748  

 $                  

1,111,757  

 $              

1,111,757  

 $                

1,248,880  

 SUPPLIES& MATERIALS 

                        

144,147  

                       

206,985  

                   

183,485  

                     

184,629  

 OTHER SERVICES AND CHARGES 

                    

12,446,971  

                   

13,130,589  

               

13,209,089  

                 

13,721,004  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                                 

-    

                       

300,000  

                   

285,000  

                   

1,375,000  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS 

                          

40,000  

                         

40,000  

                   

375,000  

                       

40,000  

      

 TOTAL EXPENSES 

 $                 

13,387,866  

 $                

14,789,331  

 $            

15,164,331  

 $              

16,569,513  

      

 TOTAL ENTERPRISE EXPENSES 

 $                 

73,298,596  

 $              

250,650,203  

 $          

252,223,279  

 $              

48,279,903  

      

      

      

 

                                                                                                     

INTERNAL SERVICE      

      



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        997 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

      

 REVENUES     

      

 GRP INS - ACTIVE EMPLOYEES  

 $                   

1,419,110  

 $                  

1,383,491  

 $              

1,383,491  

 $                

1,383,491  

 GRP INS - RETIRED EMPLOYEES  

 $                       

62,500  

 $                      

68,181  

 $                  

68,181  

 $                    

68,181  

 GRP INS-D&R RETIRED EMPLOYEES  

 $                      

734,995  

 $                     

780,000  

 $                 

780,000  

 $                   

780,000  

 GRP INS - CITY MATCH  

                    

11,800,227  

                   

13,425,071  

               

13,425,071  

                 

13,306,872  

 GRP INS - FORMER EMPLOYEES  

                          

46,361  

                         

10,000  

                     

10,000  

                       

10,000  

 SETTLEMNT OF INS CLAIM CITY EM  

                      

1,018,668  

                       

216,165  

                   

216,165  

                     

216,165  

      

 REVENUES 

 $                 

15,081,861  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

15,882,908  

 $              

15,764,709  

      

      

      

 OTHER SERVICES AND CHARGES 

 $                 

13,798,189  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

16,632,754  

 $              

15,764,709  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

 $                 

13,798,189  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

16,632,754  

 $              

15,764,709  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

 $                 

13,798,189  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

16,632,754  

 $              

15,764,709  

      

   TOTAL EXPENDITURES  

 $                 

13,798,189  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

16,632,754  

 $              

15,764,709  

      

      

      

 

METRO JACKSON CONVENTION 

&VISTORS BUREAU     

 

(AGENCY FUND 230) - BUDGET NOT 

REQUIRED     

      

      

 CAPITAL CITY CONVENTION CENTER      

 

(FUND 0124) - BUDGET NOT 

REQUIRED     
 

 

Council Member Banks moved adoption; Vice President Grizzell seconded. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Lindsay recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, Sharon Thames, 

Deputy Chief Financial Officer and Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of Council, who provided a brief 

overview of said item. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks who moved; seconded by Vice 

President Grizzell to amend said order to accept the proposal presented by Sharon Thames, 

Deputy Chief Finance Officer in regards to the Master Lease Agreement. The motion prevailed 

by the following vote:  

 

Yeas –Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes. 

Absent – None.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        998 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks who moved; seconded by Vice 

President Grizzell to amend said order to allocate funds using Fund 391 ARPA in the amount of 

$202,000 to youth engagement and $30,000 to legal fund for state lobbyist. 

Yeas –Banks, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay.  

Nays – Foote. 

Abstentions – Stokes. 

Absent – None.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks who moved; seconded by Vice 

President Grizzell to amend said order to allocate funds from Fund 370 in the amount of 

$400,000.00 for Stormwater. 

Yeas –Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Abstentions – Stokes. 

Absent – None.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks who moved; seconded by Council 

Member Hartley to amend said order to allocate funds from Fund 370 in the amount of 

$300,000.00 to fund a disparity study. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay. 

Nays – Stokes. 

Absent – None.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Lindsay, called for a vote on said item as amended: 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE MUNICIPAL BUDGET FOR 

THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the governing authorities of each municipality of the State of Mississippi shall, not later 

than September 15th of each year, prepare a complete budget of the municipal revenues, expenses 

and working cash balances estimated for the next fiscal year, and shall prepare a statement showing 

the aggregate revenues collected during the current year in said municipality for municipal 

purposes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the statement of revenue and expenses shall show every source of revenue along with 

the amount derived from each source; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the budget and statement of revenue and expenses, shall be published at least one (1) 

time during September in a newspaper published in the municipality; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, prior to the adopting of the budget, the governing authority of each municipality shall 

hold at least one (1) public hearing to provide the general public with an opportunity to comment 

on the taxing and spending plan incorporated in the proposed budget; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the public hearing shall be held at least one (1) week prior to the adoption of the budget 

with advance notice and held outside normal working hours and the advance notice shall include 

an announcement published or posted in the same manner as required for the final adopted budget; 

and 

 WHEREAS, on August 19th, 22nd and 26th of 2024, a notice of a public hearing on the 

proposed budget for the upcoming fiscal year for the City of Jackson, MS was advertised in the 

Mississippi Link and the Clarion Ledger; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        999 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 WHEREAS, the required public hearing was advertised for and held on August 30, 2024, 

at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers located in City Hall, 219 South President Street, Jackson, 

Mississippi 39201; and 

 WHEREAS, the proposed budget is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

Exhibit “A”; and 

 WHEREAS, as mandated by Section 21-35-9 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, 

as amended, the proposed budget sets out separately each item for which any appropriation of 

expenditures is authorized to be expended and the fund out of which it is to be paid, the proposed 

budget also sets out the total amount appropriated and authorized to be expended for each fund, 

the cash balance in the fund at the close of the present preceding fiscal year, the working cash 

balance necessary for the next fiscal year, the estimated amount, if any, which will accrue to the 

fund from sources other than taxation for the current fiscal year, and the amount necessary to be 

raised for each fund by tax levy during the current fiscal year. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY ACTING 

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE MUNICIPALITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Declaration of official intent. The City of Jackson, Mississippi, hereby declares 

its official intent to approve and adopt the Municipal Budget, attached hereto and incorporated by 

reference as Exhibit “A,” that sets out separately each item for which any appropriation of 

expenditures is authorized to be expended and the fund out of which it is to be paid, the total 

amount appropriated and authorized to be expended for each fund, the cash balance in the fund at 

the close of the present preceding fiscal year, the working cash balance necessary for the next 

fiscal year, the estimated amount, if any, which will accrue to the fund from sources other than 

taxation for the current fiscal year, and the amount necessary to be raised for each fund by tax levy 

during the current fiscal year. 

Section 2.   Incidental action. The Mayor is authorized to take such action as may be 

necessary to carry out the purpose of this Resolution. The City of Jackson shall not authorize any 

expenditure of money, and the city clerk shall not issue any warrant for same, except for bonds, 

notes, debts and interest, after October 1, unless and until this budget is finally approved, and such 

approval is entered upon the Jackson City Council minutes.  

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1000 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

 

 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI     

 BUDGET OF ESTIMATED REVENUES     

 AND EXPENDITURES FOR THE FISCAL     

 YEAR ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2025     

      

      

GENERAL  FUND  

        

   2022-2023 2023-2024 2023-2024 2024-2025 

   Actual  Adopted  Revised Adopted 

      

 REVENUES     

       

 LICENSES AND PERMITS:     

      

4210    PRIVILEGE LICENSES - MISC 

                                         

$40  

                                     

$100  

                               

$100  

                                   

$100  

4211    PRIVILEGE LICENSES 

                                 

408,723  

                                

355,000  

                           

355,000  

                             

355,000  

4215    BUILDING PERMITS 

                              

1,021,783  

                                

685,309  

                           

685,309  

                             

685,309  

4216    A/C & DUCT PERMITS 

                                    

15,322  

                                  

43,085  

                             

43,085  

                                

43,085  

4217    PLUMBING PERMITS 

                                    

21,030  

                                  

32,000  

                             

32,000  

                                

32,000  

4218    ELECTRIC PERMITS 

                                 

162,502  

                                

156,509  

                           

156,509  

                             

156,509  

4219    GAS PERMITS 

                                    

33,262  

                                  

32,144  

                             

32,144  

                                

32,144  

4221    MAINTENANCE FEES 

                                            

75  

                                     

1,000  

                               

1,000  

                                  

1,000  

4222    LANDSCAPE PERMITS 

                                         

135  

                                        

350  

                                   

350  

                                     

350  

4223    HISTORIC PRESERVATION 

                                      

3,331  

                                     

3,000  

                               

3,000  

                                  

3,000  

4224    DANCE HALL & REC FEES 

                                         

225  

                                     

2,000  

                               

2,000  

                                  

2,000  

4225 TRANSIT MERCHANTS 

                                             

-    

                                     

1,250  

                               

1,250  

                                  

1,250  

4227 AIRCRAFT REGIST FEES 

                                      

7,832  

                                  

12,710  

                             

12,710  

                                

12,710  

4229 ADULT ENTERTAINMENT LICENSE 

                                      

5,732  

                                     

3,000  

                               

3,000  

                                  

3,000  

4230 SPECIAL EVENT FEE 

                                    

19,115  

                                     

3,000  

                               

3,000  

                                  

3,000  

4240    SIGN --MISC. 

                                             

-    

                                     

7,527  

                               

7,527  

                                  

7,527  

4241    SIGN PERMITS  

                                    

26,150  

                                  

35,850  

                             

35,850  

                                

35,850  

4242    SIGN REGISTRATION 

                                             

-    

                                        

300  

                                   

300  

                                     

300  

4243    SIGNS TEMPORARY 

                                         

360  

                                     

2,570  

                               

2,570  

                                  

2,570  

4249    FIRE INSPECTIONS PERMITS 

                                    

47,957  

                                  

60,000  

                             

60,000  

                                

60,000  

4250    COMMERICAL BURN PERMIT 

                                      

1,400  

                                        

401  

                                   

401  

                                     

401  

4251    COMB. & FLAM. LIQUID PERMIT 

                                      

4,750  

                                     

7,400  

                               

7,400  

                                  

7,400  

4252    FIREWORKS DISPLAY PERMIT 

                                      

1,650  

                                        

900  

                                   

900  

                                     

900  

4260    ZONING PERMITS 

                                    

45,985  

                                  

38,834  

                             

38,834  

                                

38,834  

4280 TAXICAB LICENSE FEES 

                                         

100  

                                        

500  

                                   

500  

                                     

500  

          TOTAL LICENSES & PERMITS 

                      

1,827,460  

                     

1,484,739  

                 

1,484,739  

                   

1,484,739  

      

 FINES AND FORFEITURES:     

      



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1001 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4311    MISDEMEANOR FINES 

                                    

88,458  

                                

200,000  

                           

200,000  

                             

200,000  

4312    VEHICLE PARKING FINES 

                                    

12,585  

                                  

50,000  

                             

50,000  

                                

50,000  

4313    MOVING TRAFFIC VIOLATIONS 

                                 

479,461  

                                

671,704  

                           

665,086  

                             

671,704  

4314    CITY COURT COST 

                                      

2,452  

                                     

6,425  

                               

6,425  

                                  

6,425  

4315    WARRANT FEE 

                                    

28,686  

                                  

69,439  

                             

69,439  

                                

69,439  

4316    ANIMAL CONTROL CITATIONS 

                                            

25  

                                     

1,387  

                               

1,387  

                                  

1,387  

4318    MUNICIPAL COURT COMPUTER 

                                      

5,570  

                                     

9,766  

                               

9,766  

                                  

9,766  

4319    MUNICIPAL COURT DRIVER IMPR FEE 

                                             

-    

                                          

35  

                                     

35  

                                        

35  

4322    ADMINISTRATIVE FEE - DEL C 

                                    

87,904  

                                

184,683  

                           

184,683  

                             

184,683  

4323    CONTEMPT FEE - MUNICIPAL COURT 

                                    

16,081  

                                  

51,674  

                             

51,674  

                                

51,674  

4324 

   COMPUTERIZED CRIME PREVENTION- 

POLICE 

                                      

5,632  

                                  

11,115  

                             

11,115  

                                

11,115  

4325    MUNICIPAL COURT ENHANCEMENT 

                                    

56,178  

                                  

85,000  

                             

85,000  

                                

85,000  

4326    JACKSON ENCHANCEMENT FEE 

                                    

28,081  

                                  

49,976  

                             

49,976  

                                

49,976  

4330    BAD CHECK FEES 

                                         

290  

                                     

1,153  

                               

1,153  

                                  

1,153  

4340    DAILY STORAGE FEE - VEHICLE 

                                    

80,000  

                                  

62,139  

                             

62,139  

                                

62,139  

4341    WRECKER FEE 

                                    

49,050  

                                  

60,000  

                             

60,000  

                                

60,000  

4344    EXPUNGEMENT FEE - MUNICIPAL 

                                      

1,100  

                                     

8,650  

                               

8,650  

                                  

8,650  

4345    JACKSON COLLECTION FEE 

                                    

11,051  

                                  

30,000  

                             

30,000  

                                

30,000  

4346    DOCKET FEE - MUNICIPAL COUT 

                                    

22,884  

                                  

70,535  

                             

70,535  

                                

70,535  

4347    DROPPED CHARGE FEE - MUN COURT 

                                         

950  

                                        

900  

                                   

900  

                                     

900  

4348    CASH BOND CLEARING ACCOUNT 

                                      

6,377  

                                     

5,091  

                               

5,091  

                                  

5,091  

4349    REARRAIGNMENT FEE - MUN COURT 

                                      

5,125  

                                     

9,833  

                               

9,833  

                                  

9,833  

       TOTAL FINES AND FORFEITURES 

                        

987,940  

                     

1,639,505  

                 

1,632,887  

                   

1,639,505  

      

      

      

 REVENUES     

 INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUE     

      

  FEDERAL     

      

4408 POLICE OVERTIME - FBI/DEA GRANT 

                                    

23,416  

                                  

59,325  

                             

59,325  

                                

59,325  

4410 DEA - MS GULF COAST (HIDTA) 

                                    

15,781  

                                  

26,806  

                             

26,806  

                                         

-    

4420 DEA - ASSEST & FORFEITURE 

                                    

14,344  

                                  

31,000  

                             

31,000  

                                         

-    

 

       TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL - 

FEDERAL 

                                    

53,541  

                                

117,131  

                           

117,131  

                                

59,325  

      

 STATE     

      

4511    ALCOHOL PERMITS - ABC 357,231.74 330,649.00 330,649.00 330,649.00 

4512    GASOLINE TAX 576,061.87 569,395.00 569,395.00 569,395.00 

4513    MUNICIPAL REVOLVING FUND 110,975.51 133,412.00 133,412.00 133,412.00 

4514    STATE FIRE PROTECTION 993,020.80 500,000.00 1,449,624.00 1,449,624.00 

4515    PRO-RATA STATE SALESTAX 26,568,249.86 31,969,801.00 31,969,801.00 31,969,801.00 

4516    SEWER GRANT REPMT - SALES 4,453,642.98 0.00 0.00 0.00 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1002 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4517    HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 2,022,629.04 1,808,881.00 1,808,881.00 1,808,881.00 

4518    HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION CHARGE 14,766.77 20,423.00 20,423.00 20,423.00 

4533    WIRELESS RADIO COMMUNICATION 0.00 101,763.00 101,763.00 0.00 

4535    BUS & TRUCK PRIVILEGE TAX 394,411.65 431,879.00 431,879.00 431,879.00 

4548    MDOT-LITTER PICKUP-JPD 0.00 12,660.00 12,660.00 12,660.00 

4548    MS-NATIONAL PARK SERVICE  0.00 0.00 0.00 

4599 OTHER STATE FUNDING  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 

        TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL - 

STATE 35,490,990.22 35,878,863.00 36,828,487.00 36,726,724.00 

      

 LOCAL     

      

4611 PRO-RATA COUNTY ROAD TAX 

                                 

736,460  

                                

670,284  

                           

670,284  

                             

670,284  

4613 SMITH ROBERTSON MUSEUM 

                                            

10  

                                     

3,300  

                               

3,300  

                                  

3,300  

 

         TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL - 

LOCAL 

                                 

736,470  

                                

673,584  

                           

673,584  

                             

673,584  

      

 ADMISSIONS, FEES, RENTALS     

4232 PASSPORT 

                                    

89,207  

                                  

70,058  70,058 

                                

70,058  

4574 TSA 

                                    

63,287  

                                  

33,395  33,395 

                                

33,395  

4596 AD VAL APP 

                                             

-    

                                        

100  100 

                                     

100  

4634 SMALL CELL 

                                      

1,000  

                                     

3,500  3,500 

                                  

3,500  

4715 PARKING METERS 

                                    

22,452  

                                

100,000  

                           

100,000  

                             

100,000  

4724 LOCAL RECORDS FEE 

                                         

865  

                                     

3,669  

                               

3,669  

                                  

3,669  

4732 CRASH REPORT 

                                    

77,875  

                                  

62,750  

                             

62,750  

                                

62,750  

4812 MUN AUD-THALIA MARA HALL RENT 

                                 

183,966  

                                

156,625  

                           

156,625  

                             

156,625  

4820 

SMITH ROBERTSON MUSEUM - 

DONATION 

                                            

19  

                                        

600  

                                   

600  

                                     

600  

4821 

SMITH ROBERTSON MUSEUM - 

ADMISSIONS 

                                      

3,097  

                                     

4,000  

                               

4,000  

                                  

4,000  

4822 SMITH ROBERTSON MUS - ROOM RENT 

                                         

783  

                                     

5,425  

                               

5,425  

                                  

5,425  

4823 SENIOR CENTER RESERVATION 

                                             

-    

                                     

1,200  

                               

1,200  

                                  

1,200  

4824 SMITH ROBERTSON - GIFT SHOP 

                                      

1,912  

                                          

80  

                                     

80  

                                        

80  

4833 ARTS CTR - RENT ON COMMUNITY 

                                             

-    

                                     

4,100  

                               

4,100  

                                  

4,100  

4851 CARNIVAL INSPECTION FEE 

                                      

1,200  

                                          

50  

                                     

50  

                                        

50  

4852 DAYCARE FIRE INSPECTION-AF 

                                      

8,550  

                                     

5,880  

                               

5,880  

                                  

5,880  

4855 FIRE WATER FLOW TEST FEE 

                                      

6,400  

                                     

2,800  

                               

2,800  

                                  

2,800  

4856 FIRE REPORTS & ETC. 

                                    

17,900  

                                  

17,200  

                             

17,200  

                                

17,200  

4860 ACCIDENT REPORT FEE 

                                    

33,255  

                                

124,171  

                           

124,171  

                             

124,171  

4861 BACKGROUND CHECK FEE 

                                      

2,525  

                                  

10,530  

                             

10,530  

                                

10,530  

4864 FINGERPRINTING 

                                    

26,110  

                                  

24,115  

                             

24,115  

                                

24,115  

4865 VERIFICATION OF RECORD FEE 

                                    

17,605  

                                  

17,789  

                             

17,789  

                                

17,789  

4868 BAIL BONDSMAN APPLICANT  

                                             

-    

                                        

150  

                                   

150  

                                     

150  

4874 

TELECOMMUNICATION FRANCHISE 

AGREEM 

                                 

276,917  

                                

380,741  

                           

380,741  

                             

380,741  

4875 RENTS AND ROYALTIES 

                                    

11,100  

                                  

31,100  

                             

31,100  

                                

31,100  

4876 TOWER RENTALS 

                              

4,186,641  

                             

4,250,000  

                       

4,250,000  

                          

4,250,000  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1003 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4880 RENT PISTOL RANGE  

                                         

185  

                                     

2,323  

                               

2,323  

                                  

2,323  

4883 SPRINKLER-HYDRO STATIC-PUMP 

                                      

1,850  

                                        

720  

                                   

720  

                                     

720  

4884 FIRE ALARM ACCEPTANCE TEST 

                                      

4,900  

                                     

1,000  

                               

1,000  

                                  

1,000  

4885 FIRE RE-INSPECTION 

                                         

975  

                                     

5,000  

                               

5,000  

                                  

5,000  

4886 FIRE KNOX 

                                             

-    

                                          

25  

                                     

25  

                                        

25  

4888 FIRE SUPPRESSION SYSTEM TE 

                                      

1,500  

                                        

600  

                                   

600  

                                     

600  

4889 FIRE TRUCK ON SITE 

                                             

-    

                                     

3,600  

                               

3,600  

                                  

3,600  

4890 OUTDOOR ADVERTISING 

                                    

11,970  

                                  

11,970  

                             

11,970  

                                

11,970  

4891 RENTAL FEE - FIRE MUSEUM 

                                             

-    

                                        

260  

                                   

260  

                                     

260  

4893 SCHOOL TOURS FEE - FIRE MUSEUM 

                                             

-    

                                     

1,476  

                               

1,476  

                                  

1,476  

4894 RENTAL INSPECTIONS 

                                      

2,700  

                                        

350  

                                   

350  

                                     

350  

4914 LAND RENTAL 

                                    

14,196  

                                  

10,000  

                             

10,000  

                                

10,000  

 

         TOTAL ADMISSIONS, FEES AND 

RENTALS 

                              

5,070,940  

                             

5,347,352  

                       

5,347,352  

                          

5,347,352  

      

      

 INTEREST REVENUES:     

4911 INTEREST EARNED ON INVESTMENTS 

                                         

609  

                                  

11,399  

                             

11,399  

                                

11,399  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS 

                                 

140,996  

                                

382,698  

                           

382,698  

                             

375,664  

 

      TOTAL INTEREST EARNED ON 

INVESTMENTS 

                                 

141,606  

                                

394,097  

                           

394,097  

                             

387,063  

      

 REVENUES     

    MISCELLANEOUS INCOME:      

      

4647    RENTAL &REGISTRY 

                                 

969,102  

                                

786,679  

                           

786,679  

                             

786,679  

5410 SALE OF EASEMENT  

                                             

-    

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                  

5,000  

5411    PUBLIC UTILITY FRANCHISE FEE 

                              

5,526,097  

                             

4,752,792  

                       

5,357,792  

                          

4,752,792  

5412    FRANCHISE CABLE TELEVISION 

                                 

979,418  

                             

1,200,000  

                       

1,200,000  

                          

1,200,000  

5413    NUCLEAR POWER PLANTS 

                              

1,564,036  

                             

1,602,421  

                       

1,602,421  

                          

1,602,421  

5414    IN-LIEU-OF PROPERTY TAX 

                                    

66,389  

                             

1,010,651  

                             

61,027  

                                

61,027  

5417    WATER/SEWER FRANCHISE FEE 

                                 

972,534  

                                

972,534  

                           

972,534  

                             

972,534  

5426    SALE OF LAND 

                                 

107,051  

                                  

60,167  

                             

60,167  

                                

60,167  

5427    SALE OF FIXED ASSETS 

                                 

622,085  

                                

255,706  

                           

255,706  

                                

55,706  

5435    SMALL ANIMAL CONTROL 

                                             

-    

                                     

1,200  

                               

1,200  

                                  

1,200  

5451 

   POLICE TRAINING REIMBURSEMENTS 

OTHER AGENCIES 

                                    

21,600  

                                  

20,000  

                             

20,000  

                                

20,000  

5454    POLICE-MISC 

                                         

657  

                                  

65,348  

                             

65,348  

                                

65,348  

5463    POLICE - SALE OF WEAPONS 

                                            

10  

                                          

15  

                                     

15  

                                        

15  

5466    PUBLIC SAFETY COMM TRNG REIMB 

                                             

-    

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                

80,603  

5467    UNION STATION TENANTS/JRA  

                                    

36,849  

                                

102,379  

                           

102,379  

                             

102,379  

5475    PROCEEDS OF FORFEITURES  

                                    

10,294  

                                

139,149  

                           

139,149  

                                         

-    

5511    GRANTS & DONATION  

                                    

25,718  

                                

280,640  

                           

280,640  

                             

280,640  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1004 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

5515    INDIRECT COST 

                              

2,357,913  

                             

2,680,223  

                       

2,680,223  

                          

2,680,223  

5520    OTHER DEPARTMENTS 

                                    

47,761  

                                  

90,148  

                             

90,148  

                                

90,148  

5524 I.D. BADGE 

                                            

30  

                                        

180  

                                   

180  

                                     

180  

5525 PARKING FEE - CITY EMPLOYEES 

                                      

2,999  

                                     

6,730  

                               

6,730  

                                  

6,730  

5545   ADMIN. FEE - PAYROLL DEDUCTION 

                                    

13,132  

                                  

15,725  

                             

15,725  

                                

15,725  

5550   MS VALLEY REFUND 

                                             

-    

                                        

800  

                                   

800  

                                     

800  

5551   ENTERGY REFUND 

                                            

29  

                                     

1,000  

                               

1,000  

                                  

1,000  

5552   SCB REFUND 

                                             

-    

                                        

220  

                                   

220  

                                     

220  

5576    BUILDING & PERMIT - MISC. 

                                    

85,489  

                                

110,957  

                           

110,957  

                             

110,957  

5577    PLUMBING EXAM 

                                    

14,050  

                                  

11,000  

                             

11,000  

                                

11,000  

5578    ELECTRICAL EXAM 

                                    

10,275  

                                        

100  

                                   

100  

                                     

100  

5580    PENALTY ON DEMO/GRASS/WEED 

                                      

4,043  

                                  

30,000  

                             

30,000  

                                

30,000  

5614    SITE PLAN, REVIEW 

                                    

15,795  

                                  

16,157  

                             

16,157  

                                

16,157  

5616    SALE OF MAPS, PLANS, SPEC 

                                              

5  

                                        

158  

                                   

158  

                                     

158  

5620    SMITH ROBERSTON - NISSAN GRANT 

                                             

-    

                                  

20,115  

                             

20,115  

                                

20,115  

5628    TRAFFIC 

                                             

-    

                                        

170  

                                   

170  

                                     

170  

5634 GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SYSTEM  

                                             

-    

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                     

100  

5656    ABSTRACT FEES 

                                      

6,480  

                                     

6,961  

                               

6,961  

                                  

6,961  

5657    FINANCE - M 

                                             

-    

                                          

10  

                                     

10  

                                        

10  

5660    CELLULAR REBATE 

                                    

34,878  

                                  

32,000  

                             

32,000  

                                

32,000  

5666    CITY CLERK 

                                    

19,946  

                                  

15,271  

                             

15,271  

                                

15,271  

5667 CEMETERIES 

                                             

-    

                                  

25,000  

                             

25,000  

                                

25,000  

5675 FIRE DEPARTMENT 

                                         

194  

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                     

100  

5676 FIRE SAFETY EDUCATION PROGRAM 

                                         

214  

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                                     

200  

5692    INKIND FEES 

                                    

19,342  

                                  

29,237  

                             

29,237  

                                

29,237  

5694    PUBLICATION - MISC 

                                      

2,008  

                                     

7,089  

                               

7,089  

                                  

7,089  

5711    MARY JONES DAYCARE 

                                             

-    

                                        

220  

                                   

220  

                                     

220  

5725    CAFETERIA PLAN - FLEXIBLE SPENDING 

                                             

-    

                                

150,000  

                           

150,000  

                             

150,000  

5795    SETTLEMENT OF INSURANCE CLAIMS 

                                 

501,798  

                                  

75,000  

                             

75,000  

                                

75,000  

5821    PROCEEDS OF LONG TERM DEBT 

                                             

-    

                                

375,850  

                           

375,850  

                             

375,850  

5830    FEES FOR LOST FUELMAN CARDS 

                                         

240  

                                        

181  

                                   

181  

                                     

181  

          TOTAL MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 

                            

14,038,462  

                          

14,950,183  

                     

14,605,559  

                        

13,747,413  

      

      

 OPERATING TRANSFERS IN:     

5911 TRANSFER IN/FROM GENERAL FUND 

                                 

362,630  

                                

314,779  

                           

561,487  

                             
457,134  

5912 TRANSFER IN/FROM WATER/SEWER 

                                             

-    

                                            

-    

                                      

-    

                          

1,477,105  

5914 TRANSFER IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS 

                              

1,500,000  

                             

1,528,200  

                       

1,066,400  

                          

2,194,640  

          TOTAL OPERATING TRANSFERS IN 

                              

1,862,630  

                             

1,842,979  

                       

1,627,887  

                          

4,128,879  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1005 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

  

 

 

POLICE 

      

      

       

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                 

22,543,290  

 $                

29,142,720  

 $            

29,152,720  

 $              

30,419,073  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                      

1,987,957  

                     

2,493,296  

                 

2,485,531  

                   

2,226,845  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

1,750,709  

                     

1,794,621  

                 

1,897,229  

                   

1,683,931  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                      

2,349,436  

                     

1,025,887  

                 

1,825,771  

                   

1,466,961  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                      

1,303,615  

                     

1,345,066  

                 

1,343,386  

                   

1,321,066  

             

 

         TOTAL FROM ALL SOURCES OTHER 

THAN TAXATION  

                            

60,210,039  

                          

62,328,433  62,711,723 

                        

64,194,584  

      

      

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE 

                                             

-    

                             

1,825,115  

                       

3,437,069  

                          

6,907,963  

      

      

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES OTHER 

THAN TAXATION 

                            

60,210,039  

                          

64,153,548  66,148,791 

                        

71,102,547  

      

      

      

      
      

 TAXES:            

      

4111    REAL PROPERTY 

                            

36,193,102  

                          

36,643,499  

                     

36,643,499  

                        

36,482,211  

4112    PERSONAL PROPERTY 

                            

19,263,050  

                          

19,218,180  

                     

19,218,180  

                        

19,811,009  

4113    DELINQUENT REALTY 

                                 

321,251  

                                

927,952  

                           

927,952  

                             

927,952  

4114    DELINQUENT PERSONAL 

                                    

35,899  

                                

218,093  

                           

218,093  

                             

218,093  

4115    AUTOMOTIVE 

                              

6,245,562  

                             

6,511,984  

                       

6,511,984  

                          

6,758,985  

4116    MOTOR VEHICLE RENTAL TAX 

                                 

883,929  

                                

784,544  

                           

784,544  

                             

784,544  

4118    INTEREST ON CURRENT 

                                 

378,985  

                                

801,265  

                           

801,265  

                             

801,265  

4119    INTEREST ON PRIOR YEARS 

                                 

837,097  

                                

614,406  

                           

614,406  

                             

614,406  

4131    RAIL CAR TAXES 

                                    

64,089  

                                  

64,473  

                             

64,473  

                                

64,473  

4134 1% METRO 

                              

2,479,007  

                             

4,630,563  

                       

4,630,563  

                                         

-    

4135    TAX FORFEITED LAND 

                                 

176,477  

                                

100,000  

                           

100,000  

                             

100,000  

4140    COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT 

                                      

7,290  

                                     

8,000  

                               

8,000  

                                  

8,000  

                  

          TOTAL TAXES 

                            

66,885,737  

                          

70,522,959  

                     

70,522,959  

                        

66,570,938  

                  

 

TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND 

ANTICIPATED     

 REVENUE FROM ALL SOURCES   

 $               

127,095,776  

 $              

134,676,507  

 $          

136,671,751  

 $            

137,673,485  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1006 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                                 

-    

                                

-    

                            

-    

                              

-    

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

12,120  

                         

40,796  

                   

380,881  

                       

61,404  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                 

29,947,127  

 $                

35,842,386  

 $            

37,085,518  

 $              

37,179,280  

      

      

      
FIRE 

      

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                 

20,659,521  

 $                

22,643,637  

 $            

22,643,637  

 $              

22,471,565  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                        

664,128  

                       

770,608  

                   

715,608  

                     

803,198  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                        

914,596  

                       

802,188  

                   

707,188  

                     

802,188  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                        

559,911  

                       

939,138  

                 

1,099,755  

                   

1,010,552  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                                 

-    

                               

69  

                           

69  

                             

69  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

52,057  

                         

52,057  

                     

41,440  

                       

30,643  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                 

22,850,213  

 $                

25,207,697  

 $            

25,207,697  

 $              

25,118,215  

      

      

      
PUBLIC WORKS 

      

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

6,016,193  

 $                  

8,188,553  

 $              

7,953,452  

 $                

8,294,191  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                      

1,265,177  

                     

1,602,879  

                 

1,941,635  

                   

1,697,410  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

2,375,530  

                     

3,521,842  

                 

3,533,029  

                   

6,095,777  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                        

371,868  

                       

450,731  

                   

465,593  

                     

474,302  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                                 

-    

                       

236,754  

                   

235,713  

                     

880,838  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                                 

-    

                                

-    

                            

-    

                              

-    

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

85,512  

                       

151,534  

                   

151,534  

                     

117,724  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                 

10,114,279  

 $                

14,152,293  

 $            

14,280,956  

 $              

17,560,242  

      

      

      
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

      

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

2,675,620  

 $                  

3,533,271  

 $              

3,762,237  

 $                

4,762,875  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                        

113,148  

                       

120,205  

                   

106,205  

                       

82,064  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1007 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

4,908,117  

                     

4,747,716  

                 

4,552,789  

                   

4,738,085  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                          

95,750  

                       

108,000  

                   

102,100  

                     

500,000  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                          

69,695  

                         

71,675  

                     

57,536  

                       

66,675  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                      

1,898,609  

                     

1,898,609  

                 

1,898,609  

                   

1,898,609  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                                 

-    

                           

1,025  

                       

1,025  

                              

-    

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

9,760,939  

 $                

10,480,501  

 $            

10,480,501  

 $              

12,048,308  

       

      

      

      
HUMAN & CULTURAL SERVICES 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

1,486,681  

 $                  

1,830,004  

 $              

1,765,497  

 $                

1,907,172  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                          

71,309  

                       

102,628  

                   

173,140  

                     

103,129  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                        

722,062  

                       

626,796  

                   

682,517  

                     

628,577  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                        

382,984  

                       

402,621  

                   

289,095  

                     

229,082  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                        

253,342  

                       

290,000  

                   

475,000  

                     

290,000  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                          

69,102  

                         

69,102  

                     

62,484  

                       

69,102  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

24,133  

                         

20,939  

                     

20,939  

                       

28,656  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

3,009,613  

 $                  

3,342,090  

 $              

3,468,672  

 $                

3,255,718  

      

      
HUMAN RESOURCES 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                      

865,675  

 $                     

945,041  

 $                 

945,041  

 $                

1,001,733  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                          

20,679  

                         

20,687  

                     

20,487  

                       

26,187  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                          

81,424  

                         

92,055  

                     

93,922  

                       

97,056  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                          

30,755  

                         

61,036  

                     

97,266  

                       

52,736  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                          

69,476  

                       

226,811  

                   

141,970  

                     

101,337  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                            

5,858  

                         

11,541  

                     

11,541  

                       

55,952  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

1,073,867  

 $                  

1,357,171  

 $              

1,310,227  

 $                

1,335,001  

      

      
ADMINISTRATION 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

3,237,144  

 $                  

4,327,312  

 $              

4,306,732  

 $                

4,638,885  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1008 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                          

24,489  

                         

44,270  

                   

140,892  

                       

60,318  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                        

554,434  

                     

1,358,828  

                 

1,301,909  

                   

1,444,078  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                                 

-    

                         

19,123  

                            

-    

                              

-    

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                                 

-    

                         

10,100  

                     

10,100  

                       

10,100  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

3,816,067  

 $                  

5,759,633  

 $              

5,759,633  

 $                

6,153,381  

      

      
GENERAL GOVERNMENT 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

4,820,858  

 $                  

5,843,072  

 $              

5,975,930  

 $                

6,706,052  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                          

92,315  

                       

229,122  

                   

269,122  

                     

229,036  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

3,944,996  

                     

7,574,492  

                 

7,325,491  

                   

6,847,579  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                          

55,122  

                         

75,214  

                     

99,706  

                       

79,326  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 

                      

1,283,169  

                       

610,648  

                   

824,648  

                     

610,563  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                    

12,945,573  

                   

14,174,422  

               

14,356,362  

                 

10,007,033  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                      

1,676,189  

                     

1,371,160  

                 

1,371,160  

                   

1,339,788  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                 

24,818,223  

 $                

29,878,130  

 $            

30,222,419  

 $              

25,819,377  

      

      
MUNICIPAL CLERK 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                      

443,880  

 $                     

571,546  

 $                 

571,546  

 $                   

572,495  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                            

3,942  

                         

19,958  

                     

19,958  

                       

19,558  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                        

143,093  

                       

209,516  

                   

187,516  

                     

660,470  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                                 

-    

                               

45  

                     

22,045  

                             

45  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                      

590,915  

 $                     

801,065  

 $                 

801,065  

 $                

1,252,568  

      

      

      

      

      

      

      
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

      

      

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                   

2,753,663  

 $                  

2,717,960  

 $              

2,508,086  

 $                

2,881,004  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS 

                        

290,922  

                       

557,708  

                   

546,710  

                     

534,238  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1009 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                      

2,007,291  

                     

1,927,439  

                 

2,753,311  

                   

1,986,927  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                      

1,019,106  

                     

1,103,226  

                 

1,103,226  

                   

1,058,395  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

                                 

-    

                     

1,446,000  

                 

1,040,522  

                   

1,446,000  

 DEBT SERVICES 

                          

84,120  

                       

103,208  

                   

103,208  

                       

44,831  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                   

6,155,102  

 $                  

7,855,541  

 $              

8,055,063  

 $                

7,951,395  

      

      

 

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 

EXPENDITURES 

 $               

112,136,346  

 $              

134,676,507  

 $          

136,671,751  

 $            

137,673,485  

      

      

      
CLAIMS FUND 

      

 REVENUES     

4911 
INTEREST EARNED ON 

INVESTMENTS 

                        

225,074  

                               

50  

                           

50  

                             

50  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS 

                               

724  

                                

-    

                            

-    

                              

-    

5911 
TRANSFER IN/FROM GENERAL 

FUND 

                      

1,000,000  

                     

1,925,943  

                 

1,925,943  

                         
1,925,943  

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE 

                                 

-    

                     

5,093,473  

                 

5,093,473  

                   

5,093,473  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                      

1,225,797  

                     

7,019,466  

                 

7,019,466  

                   

7,019,466  

      

      

      

      

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES 

                               

850  

                           

5,723  

                       

5,723  

                         

5,723  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS 

                        

525,319  

                     

7,013,743  

                 

7,013,743  

                   

7,013,743  

      

 TOTAL 

 $                      

526,169  

 $                  

7,019,466  

 $              

7,019,466  

 $                

7,019,466  

      

      

      
FEDERAL GRANTS 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4421 TITLE IIIB OUTREACH  20579 31579 20579 31579 

4423 TITLE III-B TRANSPORTATION  120000 152365 150000 152365 

4425 TITLE III CONGREGATE MEALS  0 160441 88440 160441 

4431 NCSC AIDES  328728 469617 469617 476257 

4432 SSBG TITLE XX HOME DELIVERED  0 354706 215566 354706 

4449 MMRS GRANT-METRO MED RESPONSE  0 25198 25198 25198 

4460 HOME PROGRAM  66100.57 4045576 5845192 4442042 

4461 CDBG-HOUSING & COMM DEVELOPMT  1073925.94 6159684 7799812 7799277 

4468 EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT  115318.76 232400 333356 232516 

4490 CITY MATCHING FUNDS  0 429809 429809 429809 

4498 H O P W A GRANT - DEPT. OF HUD  1681380.46 2254156 3377208 3724381 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1010 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4591 ESG COVID 2020  221461.35 27557 370 370 

4595 CDBG COVID CARES  542839.34 1704194 1618719 796198 

4610 CORONAVIRUS RECOVERY FUNDS  0 13705946 13299038 2821016 

4639 MDOT- ERBR PROJECTS  0 0 268945 0 

4640 STATE STREET SIGNAL PROJEC  0 0 1162050 0 

4650 2022 COPS MICROGRANT  0 0 174948 0 

4656 HOME AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN  0 3184710 3184490 3184710 

4661 TERRY RD REHAB AND SIDEWALK  0 0 947414 0 

4675 KABOOM - PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT  0 38151 38151 0 

4679 FEMA-4598-DR-MS  1049500.2 0 0 0 

4688 2020 SAKI GRANT DOJ  201275.56 824841 824841 0 

4691 2019 ED BRYNE MEMORIAL GRANT  201830 0 42241 0 

4697 MEADOWBROOK - 108076  0 0 350019 0 

4699  2022 CRIME GUN INTEL GRANT  0 0 675000 0 

4764 2021 ED BRYNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE  0 0 247212 36272 

4789 LITTLE J RAIL TRAIL  0 0 198756 0 

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  64113.43 20232 9128 9128 

5482 TIGER GRANT  0 5738434 5738434 0 

5483 LEAD-BASED HAZARD GRANT  249996.61 1581981 1581981 1581981 

5484 MHC BLIGHT ELIMINATION PROGRAM  0 1861029 1826615 1747332 

4799 DFA-HB603 0 0 238922 238922 

5687 TITLE III CONGREGATE DONATION  0 150 150 150 

5778 HOME - PROGRAM INCOME  1230 2000 2000 2000 

5787 PROGRAM INCOME - MINCAP  8067.2 4000 4000 4000 

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  0 381048 321053 402550 

5911 TRANSFERS IN/FROM GENERAL FUND  122838 122838 116220 98427 

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                   

5,946,346  

 $                

43,512,642  

 $            

51,625,474  

 $              

28,751,627  

      

      

      

 FEDERAL GRANTS FUND     

 PERSONAL SERVICE  
 $                   

1,547,883  

 $                  

2,100,674  

 $              

1,826,973  

 $                

1,475,361  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                        

225,566  

                       

759,284  

                 

1,052,740  

                     

999,201  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                        

940,815  

                     

9,319,687  

               

18,354,556  

                   

2,797,640  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY  
                       

(571,383) 

                     

2,577,527  

                 

6,696,203  

                   

1,679,575  

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 
APPROPRIATIONS 

                      

1,151,092  

                   

28,755,470  

               

19,234,525  

                 

15,845,373  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS  
                      

1,500,000  

                                

-    

                 

4,460,477  

                   

5,954,477  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

4,793,974  

 $                

43,512,642  

 $            

51,625,474  

 $              

28,751,627  

      

      

      
DEBT SERVICE 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4227 AIRCRAFT REGISTRATION  

                               

812  0  0  0  

4517 HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION  

                        

209,115  18,926  18,926  14,761  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1011 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4518 
HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 

CHARGEBACK  

                            

1,659  0  0  0  

4911 INTEREST EARNED ON INVESTMENTS  

                          

22,074  0  0  0  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                          

30,149  0  0  0  

5418 CAPITAL CTY CONVENTION COMMISS  

                      

1,924,120  0  0  4,718,688  

5670 COUNTY TAXES  

                        

344,370  222,000  222,785  222,000  

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  

                                 

-    1,534,106  1,534,106  2,659,200  

5914 TRANSFERS IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS  

                    

11,140,558  15,265,872  15,266,872  10,106,308  

5937 PMTS FROM OTHER FUNDS  

                                 

-    0  0  0  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                    

13,672,856  

                   

17,040,904  

               

17,042,689  

                 

17,720,957  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                      

3,897,184  

                     

2,917,253  

                 

2,917,253  

                   

2,790,279  

4112 CURRENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                      

2,001,889  1,484,871  1,484,871  1,463,593  

4113 DELINQUENT REALTY TAXES  

                          

59,005  1  1  0  

4114 DELINQUENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                            

5,220  0  0  0  

4115 AD VALOREM TAX ON AUTOMOBILES  

                        

721,759  511,632  511,632  510,116  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                      

6,685,057  

                     

4,913,757  

                 

4,913,757  

                   

4,763,988  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                 

20,357,913  

 $                

21,954,661  

 $            

21,956,446  

 $              

22,484,945  

      

      

      

 DEBT SERVICE     

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                          

11,286  

                         

15,996  

                     

17,745  

                       

14,146  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS  
                      

6,687,124  

                     

6,466,788  

                 

6,466,788  

                   

7,437,948  

 DEBT SERVICE 
                    

14,383,549  

                   

15,471,877  

               

15,471,913  

                 

15,032,851  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                 

21,081,959  

 $                

21,954,661  

 $            

21,956,446  

 $              

22,484,945  

      

      

      
PARKS & ZOO 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4227 HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION  

                               

305  500  500  350  

4517 
HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 

CHARGEBACK  

                          

78,763  65,000  65,000  65,000  

4518 GROVE PARK GREEN FEES  

                               

591  660  660  660  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1012 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4576 GROVE PK ELEC. GOLF CART RENT  

                            

6,959  10,000  10,000  5,000  

4577 SONNY GUY GREEN FEES  

                          

91,187  150,000  150,000  31,537  

4578 SONNY GUY PK ELEC GLF CART REN  

                               

545  35,000  35,000  300  

4716 RANGE BALLS  

                            

1,925  10,000  10,000  1,800  

4717 SWIMMING FEES  

                            

3,165  3,500  3,500  1,200  

4720 ATHLETIC FEES  

                          

44,284  87,000  87,000  46,500  

4721 GYM USER FEES  

                          

25,204  41,000  41,000  20,000  

4722 SMITH WILL STAD RENT CONCESS  

                            

5,169  13,800  13,800  5,000  

4741 PARKS BUILDING RENTALS  

                               

364  3,391  3,391  1,000  

4742 PARKS FIELD RENTALS  

                          

16,322  22,042  22,042  17,000  

4743 PARKS CONCESSIONS  

                          

10,807  13,500  13,500  9,500  

4744 PARKS PROGRAMS REGISTRATION  

                                 

-    0  0  0  

4745 JONES CENTER RENTAL  

                          

12,237  13,500  13,500  10,500  

4746 DANCE KARATE AEROBICS  

                            

1,850  5,500  5,500  1,500  

4747 PARKS-OTHER  

                               

139  100  100  100  

4748 VENDOR FEES - PARK EVENTS  

                            

2,410  5,000  5,000  1,400  

4749 ADMISSIONS /SUMMER FESTIVALS  

                                 

-    8,000  8,000  0  

4750 MYNELLE GARDEN-PHOTOGRAPHY  

                                 

-    1,000  1,000  0  

4752 MYNELLE GARDEN ADMISSIONS  

                               

163  2,000  2,000  100  

4757 MYNELLE GARDEN RENTAL  

                               

500  600  600  600  

4758 MYNELLE GARDEN WEDDINGS  

                                 

-    2,500  2,500  0  

4762 MYNELLE GARDEN GIFT SHOP SALES  

                            

2,451  0  0  1  

4779 DONATIONS-SUMMER FESTIVALS  

                               

100  300  300  100  

4780 RENTS AND ROYALTIES  

                            

2,419  3,000  3,000  1,500  

4781 ZOO GIFT SHOP  

                                 

-    499  499  499  

4782 ZOO ADMISSIONS  

                            

2,600  3,800  3,800  1,200  

4784 ZOO VENDOR FEES  

                                

64  100  100  50  

4817 INTEREST EARNED ON INVESTMENTS  

                                 

-    5,000  5,000  0  

4875 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                            

7,210  25,000  25,000  7,500  

4911 GOLF MERCHANDISE  

                               

160  20  20  20  

4913 GRANTS & DONATIONS  

                               

421  1,880  1,880  500  

5511 OTHER DEPARTMENTS  

                          

12,010  11,414  21,414  0  

5520 TRANSFERS IN/FROM GENERAL FUND  

                            

1,220  2,100  2,100  1,000  

5911  

                      

6,039,109  5,956,051  5,956,051  6,266,679  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1013 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

5914 TRANSFERS IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS  

                                 

-    0  28,100  0  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                      

6,370,652  

                     

6,502,757  

                 

6,540,857  

                   

6,498,096  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                      

1,407,566  

                     

1,407,471  

                 

1,407,471  

                   

1,400,738  

4112 CURRENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                        

749,787  738,167  738,167  760,645  

4113 DELINQUENT REALTY TAXES  

                          

13,786  19,883  19,883  19,883  

4114 DELINQUENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                            

1,485  3,883  3,883  3,883  

4115 AD VALOREM TAX ON AUTOMOBILES  

                        

245,721  250,124  250,124  259,512  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                      

2,418,346  

                     

2,419,528  

                 

2,419,528  

                   

2,444,661  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                   

8,788,998  

 $                  

8,922,285  

 $              

8,960,385  

 $                

8,942,757  

      

      

      

 PARKS     

 PERSONAL SERVICE  
 $                   

5,160,103  

 $                  

6,188,850  

 $              

6,188,850  

 $                

6,191,318  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                        

685,102  

                       

766,129  

                   

825,388  

                     

787,055  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                      

1,961,742  

                     

1,497,079  

                 

1,603,022  

                   

1,514,000  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY  
                        

160,156  

                       

408,688  

                   

253,986  

                     

393,432  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS  
                                 

-    

                                

-    

                     

28,100  

                              

-    

 DEBT SERVICE  
                          

47,857  

                         

61,039  

                     

61,039  

                       

56,952  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

8,014,961  

 $                  

8,921,785  

 $              

8,960,385  

 $                

8,942,757  

      

        
D&R 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4227 AIRCRAFT REGISTRATION  

                               

414  604  604  604  

4517 HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION  

                        

104,361  100,000  100,000  100,000  

4518 
HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 

CHARGEBACK  

                            

1,100  1,000  1,000  1,000  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                            

1,190  0  0  0  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                        

107,065  

                       

101,604  

                   

101,604  

                     

101,604  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                      

1,872,123  

                     

2,241,304  

                 

2,241,304  

                   

2,329,954  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1014 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

4112 CURRENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                        

994,153  1,140,816  1,140,816  1,222,137  

4113 DELINQUENT REALTY TAXES  

                          

26,270  17,086  17,086  17,086  

4114 DELINQUENT PERSONAL TAXES  
                            

2,856  7,000  7,000  7,000  

4115 AD VALOREM TAX ON AUTOMOBILES  

                        

465,612  393,083  393,083  425,960  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                      

3,361,014  

                     

3,799,289  

                 

3,799,289  

                   

4,002,137  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                   

3,468,080  

 $                  

3,900,893  

 $              

3,900,893  

 $                

4,103,741  

      

      

      

 DISABILITY & RELIEF     

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 

APPROPRIATIONS 

                      

3,469,363  3,900,893 3,900,893 4,103,741 

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 
                      

3,469,363  

                     

3,900,893  

                 

3,900,893  

                   

4,103,741  

        

      
LIBRARY 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4227 AIRCRAFT REGISTRATION  

                               

262  0  0  0  

4517 HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION  

                          

67,342  18,169  18,169  34,309  

4518 
HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 

CHARGEBACK  

                               

510  0  0  0  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                          

68,114  

                         

18,169  

                     

18,169  

                       

34,309  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                      

1,203,470  

                     

1,203,387  

                 

1,203,387  

                   

1,197,631  

4112 CURRENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                        

641,173  631,133  631,133  650,352  

4113 DELINQUENT REALTY TAXES  

                          

11,823  0  0  0  

4114 DELINQUENT PERSONAL TAXES  

                            

1,248  0  0  0  

4115 AD VALOREM TAX ON AUTOMOBILES  

                        

212,263  213,856  213,856  221,883  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                      

2,069,978  

                     

2,048,376  

                 

2,048,376  

                   

2,069,866  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                   

2,138,092  

 $                  

2,066,545  

 $              

2,066,545  

 $                

2,104,175  

      

      

      

 LIBRARY     



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1015 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                        

113,442  

                       

119,537  

                   

119,537  

                     

119,537  

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 
APPROPRIATIONS 

                      

1,947,008  

                     

1,947,008  

                 

1,947,008  

                   

1,984,638  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

2,060,450  

 $                  

2,066,545  

 $              

2,066,545  

 $                

2,104,175  

      

      
STATE GRANTS 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4564 BUDDY BUTTS RACEWAY TRACK  

                                 

-    86,387  0  0  

4573 402 POLICE TRAFFIC SERVICES  

                                 

-    25,552  25,552  25,552  

4575 DPS CORONA SUPPLEMENT GRANT  

                                 

-    700  700  700  

4588 CHICAGO JOBS CORP  

                        

181,235  0  150,679  0  

4597 DFA JACKSON ZOO BOND  

                                 

-    20,700  104,470  13,339  

4598 NLC-SOUTHERN CITIES INCLUSION  

                                 

-    0  15,000  0  

4638 DFA-PLANETARIUM  

                                 

-    669,353  669,353  444,353  

4644 DFA-SB2971-LIVINGSTON PARK  

                          

15,000  0  15,000  0  

4648 DFA-LAKE HICO AND NORTHGATE  

                        

500,000  0  500,000  0  

4649 DFA-SB2971-TOUGALOO CENTER  

                          

15,000  0  15,000  0  

4660 DFA-SB2971-PETE BROWN GOLF  

                      

2,000,000  1,104,329  474,788  461,353  

4676 DFA- THALIA MARA HALL $2M  

                                 

-    13,500  3,953  0  

4677 DFA- EUBANKS HB 1353  

                                 

-    0  1,000,000  0  

4680 
NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING 

COMM  

                                 

-    62,704  62,704  33,114  

4681 MISSISSIPPI HUMANITIES COUNCIL  

                                 

-    80,215  80,215  36,329  

4682 ASPEN INSTITUTE  

                                 

-    103,125  103,125  66,468  

4683 NLC GRANT CAO  

                                 

-    162,100  157,200  43,928  

4693 
ROBERT WOOD JOHNSON 

FOUNDATION  

                                 

-    7,200  7,200  0  

4694 RAND CORPORATIONS  

                                 

-    0  0  0  

4695 NLC ENTREPRENEURSHIP  

                          

35,000  35,000  42,545  35,000  

4738 NLC MICROLENDING  

                                 

-    0  238,922  238,922  

4763 FITLOT PARTNERSHIP  

                            

3,510  3,510  3,510  0  

4786 HARTFORD INSURANCE  

                                 

-    10,000  10,000  10,000  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                            

3,437  10,812  10,812  10,812  

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  

                                 

-    557,392  560,902  561,588  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                      

2,753,182  

                     

2,952,579  

                 

4,251,630  

                   

1,981,458  

      



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1016 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

      

      

 STATE GRANTS FUND     

 PERSONAL SERVICE  
 $                      

233,522  

 $                     

162,955  

 $                 

308,559  

 $                   

181,359  

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                        

118,032  

                       

286,421  

                   

299,625  

                     

180,791  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                      

1,813,710  

                     

1,859,215  

                 

1,510,857  

                   

1,266,899  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY  
                        

177,871  

                       

375,845  

                 

1,950,389  

                     

327,409  

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 
APPROPRIATIONS 

                                 

-    

                       

260,943  

                   

175,000  

                       

25,000  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS 
                                 

-    

                           

7,200  

                       

7,200  

                              

-    

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

2,343,135  

 $                  

2,952,579  

 $              

4,251,630  

 $                

1,981,458  

      

      
IMPROVEMENTS 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4536 MDOT - REIMBURSEMENT  

                                 

-    1,613,016  1,613,016  1,748,022  

4542 MDOT-TCSP TRAFFIC CALMING GRAN  

                                 

-    157,516  157,516  0  

4554 MDOT - STPD 7257-00 (001)  

                                 

-    500,000  500,000  500,000  

4558 MDOT - MILL STREET PROJECT  

                                 

-    1,649,667  1,649,667  0  

4559 
MDOT-FONDREN ENHANCEMNT 

PROJCT  

                                 

-    129,533  129,533  129,533  

4601 CMPDD- NORTH JACKON SIGNALS  

                                 

-    13,032  13,032  13,032  

4603 MILL STATE FORT WEB WOOD WIL  

                                 

-    2,093,473  2,093,473  0  

4604 MILL & REPAIR NORTHSIDE/I55  

                                 

-    1,264,764  1,264,764  19,573  

4621 STREET RESURFACING  

                                 

-    34,110  34,110  34,110  

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                            

6,675  4,350  4,350  4,350  

5511 GRANTS & DONATIONS  

                                 

-    725  725  725  

5795 SETTLEMENT OF INS CLAIM PROP  

                                 

-    106,966  410,808  10,023,468  

5821 PROCEEDS OF LONG TERM DEBT  

                                 

-    329,414  329,414  0  

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  

                                 

-    1,993,353  1,993,353  2,034,267  

5911 TRANSFERS IN/FROM GENERAL FUND  

                        

160,000  160,000  160,000  160,000  

5914 TRANSFERS IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS  

                                 

-    1,177,397  1,177,397  2,326,502  

          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                        

166,675  

                   

11,227,316  

               

11,531,158  

                 

16,993,582  

      

 TAXES     

4111 CURRENT REALTY TAXES  

                        

795,852  

                     

1,481,328  

                 

1,848,507  

                   

1,481,328  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                        

795,852  

                     

1,481,328  

                 

1,848,507  

                   

1,481,328  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1017 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                      

962,528  

 $                

12,708,644  

 $            

13,379,665  

 $              

18,474,910  

      

      

      

 IMPROVEMENT FUND     

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                                 

-    

                         

45,204  

                     

45,204  

                         

5,264  

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  
                                 

-    

                     

5,485,450  

                   

969,360  

                     

139,255  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY  
                       

(394,500) 

                     

3,522,790  

                 

8,199,522  

                 

13,641,560  

 

GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS, AND 
APPROPRIATIONS 

                      

1,534,401  

                     

3,580,200  

                 

3,947,379  

                   

2,362,329  

 OPERATING TRANSFERS 
                      

1,500,000  

                         

75,000  

                   

218,200  

                   

2,326,502  

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

2,639,901  

 $                

12,708,644  

 $            

13,379,665  

 $              

18,474,910  

      

      

      
CAPITAL PROJECTS 

      

      

 REVENUES     

4142 MODERNIZATION TAX  

                                 

-    54,620  54,620  0  

4536 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  

                                 

-    3,290,619  3,290,619  0  

4543 MDOT 

                    

10,172,702  9,849,040  9,849,040  9,849,040  

4563 MDOT 

                        

218,477  85,000  93,430  49,230  

4913 SALE OF BONDS 

                      

6,977,216  6,249,148  12,882,780  0  

5820 PAYMENT FROM OTHER FUNDS 

                                 

-    0  0  0  

5822  

                                 

-    10,534,514  9,747,614  8,119,548  

5899  

                                 

-    0  0  0  

5914 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  

                                 

-    4,935,307  4,935,307  0  

5937          

 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM SOURCES 

OTHER THAN TAXATION 

                    

17,368,394  

                   

34,998,248  

               

40,853,410  

                 

18,017,818  

      

 TAXES     

4142 1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  

                    

16,321,865  

                   

16,122,280  

               

16,122,280  

                 

16,335,563  

         

          TOTAL TAXES 

                    

16,321,865  

                   

16,122,280  

               

16,122,280  

                 

16,335,563  

      

 TOTAL AVAILABLE CASH AND      

 

ANTICIPATED REVENUE FROM ALL 

SOURCES 

 $                 

33,690,259  

 $                

51,120,528  

 $            

56,975,690  

 $              

34,353,381  

      

      

      



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1018 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

      

      

 EXPENDITURES     

      

 CAPITAL PROJECTS     

 SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  
                            

1,600  1600 58100 
                              

-    

 OTHER SERVICES & CHARGES  731508.16 13010226 3693840 1087397 

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 3515174.72 6778104 34846337 15683989 

 OPERATING TRANSFERS  0 25984680 7651060 4165521 

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTION 4671590.08 5345918 10726353 13416474 

      

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

 $                   

8,918,273  

 $                

51,120,528  

 $            

56,975,690  

 $              

34,353,381  

      

      
ENTERPRISE* 

      

 REVENUES     

      

4220 SEWER CONNECTION PERMITS  0 60971 60971 0 

4270 LAND FILL CHARGES  99068.39 30883 30883 50005 

4271 SPECIAL TRASH COLLECTION FEES  0 3000 3000 3000 

4473 DOT-FTA FORMUAL GRANT 5307  3909107 5986391 5986391 5986391 

4521 MS-DEQ GRANTS-SOLID WASTE/etc  26171.7 0 0 0 

4536 MDOT - REIMBURSEMENT  480000 480000 480000 480000 

4623 FTA-AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN (ARP)  0 1000000 1000000 1000000 

4698 WATER THIRD PARTY MANAGER  0 0 0 1742317 

4711 GARBAGE PICKUP FEES  17700791.18 14253308 14253308 14815766 

4712 GARBAGE PICKUP FEES PRES.HILLS  424393.77 318000 318000 318000 

4734 FTA CARES ACT  148547 0 0 55000 

4736 FTA DISCRETIONARY 5339 (B)  0 4301754 4301754 6245046 

4737 FTA DISCRETIONARY CIG  0 1250000 1250000 1250000 

4911 INTEREST EARNED ON INVESTMENTS  313909.83 0 0 0 

4913 INTEREST EARNED ON REPOS  269.39 20 20 20 

5311 WATER CHARGES  32542814.61 29623549 29623549 0 

5312 WATER CHARGES-TRIANGLE  367291.43 420701 420701 0 

5315 DEVELOPMENT CHARGES  11525 71868 71868 0 

5319 SEWER CHARGES  35282532.24 21417493 21417493 0 

5320 SEWER CHARGES-TRIANGLE  419483.74 507203 507203 0 

5321 MISCELLANEOUS  -1813219.31 614603 614603 0 

5322 MISC-TRIANGLE  0 1260 1260 0 

5323 MADISON COUNTY WATER REVENUE  0 451860 451860 0 

5342 SERVICE CONNECTIONS  35021.92 119819 119819 0 

5369 BYRAM SEWER REVENUE  101949.47 0 0 0 

5373 RIDGELAND  WEST SEWER REVENUE  1040284.53 126519 126519 0 

5380 MADISON CO SEWER REVENUE  1127040.32 2353569 2353569 0 

5385 FOREST WOODS UTILITY SEWER REV  0 125536 125536 0 

5390 JATRAN FARE REVENUE  379848.1 400000 400000 400000 

5392 JATRAN ADVERTISING REVENUE  0 0 0 50000 

5393 LEACHATE DISPOSAL  65939.71 50000 50000 0 

5428 SALE OF SCRAP METAL  120.8 0 0 0 

5520 OTHER DEPARTMENTS  0 0 0 0 

5627 RECYCLING PROGRAM  7675.41 5000 5000 5000 

5794 SETTLEMENT OF SIEMENS CLAIM  0 5496787 5496787 2520826 

5821 PROCEEDS OF LONG TERM DEBT  4546816.8 43571302 43571302 0 

5899 APPLIED FUND BALANCE/R.E.  0 16014825 17212261 8909251 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1019 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

5911 TRANSFERS IN/FROM GENERAL FUND  4777729 2077729 2452729 2112331 

5912 TRANSFERS IN/FROM WATER/SEWER  19219120 99287753 99288393 0 

5914 TRANSFERS IN/FROM OTHER FUNDS  0 228500 228500 2336950 

      

 TOTAL REVENUES 

 $               

121,214,232  

 $              

250,650,203  

 $          

252,223,279  

 $              

48,279,903  

      

      

      

 EXPENDITURES     

 WATER OPER AND MAIN     

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                 

19,219,120  

 $                

99,516,253  

 $            

99,516,253  

 $                

1,895,745  

 SUPPLIES& MATERIALS 

                      

6,159,424  

                     

3,980,804  

                 

3,980,804  

                   

1,742,317  

 OTHER SERVICES AND CHARGES 

                        

363,055  

                         

11,000  

                     

65,878  

                              

-    

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                      

7,710,867  

                   

36,403,447  

               

36,407,020  

                     

759,137  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS 29971.54 8661995 12863889 0 

 DEBT SERVICE -5465736.96 46220112 42018218 7704082 

 OPERATING TRANSFERS 

                    

24,063,697  

                   

24,678,394  

               

24,678,394  

                   

1,171,950  

      

 TOTAL EXPENSES 

 $                 

52,080,397  

 $              

219,472,005  

 $          

219,530,456  

 $              

13,273,231  

      

 TRANSPORTATION     

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                      

487,632  

 $                     

757,840  

 $                 

757,840  

 $                   

746,797  

 SUPPLIES& MATERIALS 

                        

536,667  

                       

728,925  

                   

952,302  

                     

973,545  

 OTHER SERVICES AND CHARGES 

                      

6,779,503  

                   

10,337,102  

               

10,744,168  

                 

11,901,817  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                          

26,532  

                     

4,565,000  

                 

5,074,182  

                   

4,815,000  

      

 TOTAL EXPENSES 

 $                   

7,830,333  

 $                

16,388,867  

 $            

17,528,492  

 $              

18,437,159  

      

 SANITATION     

 PERSONNEL SERVICES 

 $                      

756,748  

 $                  

1,111,757  

 $              

1,111,757  

 $                

1,248,880  

 SUPPLIES& MATERIALS 

                        

144,147  

                       

206,985  

                   

183,485  

                     

184,629  

 OTHER SERVICES AND CHARGES 

                    

12,446,971  

                   

13,130,589  

               

13,209,089  

                 

13,721,004  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

                                 

-    

                       

300,000  

                   

285,000  

                   

1,375,000  

 GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS 

                          

40,000  

                         

40,000  

                   

375,000  

                       

40,000  

      

 TOTAL EXPENSES 

 $                 

13,387,866  

 $                

14,789,331  

 $            

15,164,331  

 $              

16,569,513  

      

 TOTAL ENTERPRISE EXPENSES 

 $                 

73,298,596  

 $              

250,650,203  

 $          

252,223,279  

 $              

48,279,903  

      

      

 

 

 

      

 

                                                                                                     

INTERNAL SERVICE      



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1020 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

      

      

 REVENUES     

      

 GRP INS - ACTIVE EMPLOYEES  

 $                   

1,419,110  

 $                  

1,383,491  

 $              

1,383,491  

 $                

1,383,491  

 GRP INS - RETIRED EMPLOYEES  

 $                       

62,500  

 $                      

68,181  

 $                  

68,181  

 $                    

68,181  

 GRP INS-D&R RETIRED EMPLOYEES  

 $                      

734,995  

 $                     

780,000  

 $                 

780,000  

 $                   

780,000  

 GRP INS - CITY MATCH  

                    

11,800,227  

                   

13,425,071  

               

13,425,071  

                 

13,306,872  

 GRP INS - FORMER EMPLOYEES  

                          

46,361  

                         

10,000  

                     

10,000  

                       

10,000  

 SETTLEMNT OF INS CLAIM CITY EM  

                      

1,018,668  

                       

216,165  

                   

216,165  

                     

216,165  

      

 REVENUES 

 $                 

15,081,861  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

15,882,908  

 $              

15,764,709  

      

      

      

 OTHER SERVICES AND CHARGES 

 $                 

13,798,189  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

16,632,754  

 $              

15,764,709  

 TRANSFERS AND OTHER FUNCTIONS 

 $                 

13,798,189  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

16,632,754  

 $              

15,764,709  

 CAPITAL OUTLAY 

 $                 

13,798,189  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

16,632,754  

 $              

15,764,709  

      

   TOTAL EXPENDITURES  

 $                 

13,798,189  

 $                

15,882,908  

 $            

16,632,754  

 $              

15,764,709  

      

      

      

      

      

 

METRO JACKSON CONVENTION 

&VISTORS BUREAU     

 

(AGENCY FUND 230) - BUDGET NOT 

REQUIRED     

      

      

 CAPITAL CITY CONVENTION CENTER      

 

(FUND 0124) - BUDGET NOT 

REQUIRED     
 

 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay. 

Nays – Stokes. 

Absent – None.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for Introduction, Agenda Item No. 1:  

 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

PREVENTING ANY ADMINISTRATION, DEPARTMENT HEAD OR 

EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON FROM RESTRICTING, 

CANCELLING, AND OR DECREASING THE FULL VIEWABLE ACCESS OF 

ALL BUDGET INFORMATION INCLUDING EXPENSE AND REVENUE 

REPORTS, CASH REPORTS, ENCUMBRANCES AGAINST ALL CITY 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1021 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

ACCOUNTS AND ALL INFORMATION PERTAINING TO THE BUDGET OF 

THE CITY OF JACKSON ON ANY NETWORK, SOFTWARE, OR RECORD 

KEPT.   

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Jackson Mississippi has the legislative authority to 

approve, claims, contracts, contract amendments, departmental budget amendments, approve an 

annual budget, and monitor its encumbrances and live spending of money it has appropriated and 

or set aside; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Jackson agrees that the City Council and Office of the 

Clerk of Council shall have access to all budget information at any time members desire to make 

all required and presented decisions; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Jackson hereby agrees that live access to all budget 

information in real time is necessary to perform its legislative duties. 

 

BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the City Council of Jackson, Mississippi hereby 

prevents any administration, department head or employee of the City of Jackson from restricting, 

cancelling and or decreasing the full viewable access of all budget information including expense 

revenue reports, cash reports, encumbrances against all city accounts and all information 

pertaining to the budget of the City of Jackson, on any network, software, or record kept. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Stokes to make said item effective immediately. The motion prevailed by the following 

vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

 

 Thereafter, President Lindsay requested that the Clerk read the Order:  

 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

PREVENTING ANY ADMINISTRATION, DEPARTMENT HEAD OR 

EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON FROM RESTRICTING, 

CANCELLING, AND OR DECREASING THE FULL VIEWABLE ACCESS OF 

ALL BUDGET INFORMATION INCLUDING EXPENSE AND REVENUE 

REPORTS, CASH REPORTS, ENCUMBRANCES AGAINST ALL CITY 

ACCOUNTS AND ALL INFORMATION PERTAINING TO THE BUDGET OF 

THE CITY OF JACKSON ON ANY NETWORK, SOFTWARE, OR RECORD 

KEPT.   

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Jackson Mississippi has the legislative authority to 

approve, claims, contracts, contract amendments, departmental budget amendments, approve an 

annual budget, and monitor its encumbrances and live spending of money it has appropriated and 

or set aside; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Jackson agrees that the City Council and Office of the 

Clerk of Council shall have access to all budget information at any time members desire to make 

all required and presented decisions; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Jackson hereby agrees that live access to all budget 

information in real time is necessary to perform its legislative duties. 

 

BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the City Council of Jackson, Mississippi hereby 

prevents any administration, department head or employee of the City of Jackson from restricting, 

cancelling and or decreasing the full viewable access of all budget information including expense 

revenue reports, cash reports, encumbrances against all city accounts and all information 

pertaining to the budget of the City of Jackson, on any network, software, or record kept. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1022 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

 

Council Member Banks moved adoption; President Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RESCINDING THE ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER 

INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH MV CONTRACT TRANSPORTATION INC FOR 

THE PROVISION OF OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE OF JACKSON'S 

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (JTRAN) COMMENCING JANUARY 1, 

2024.  

WHEREAS, on November 7, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved an order 

authorizing the Mayor to enter into a contract with MV Transportation, Inc.; and 

WHEREAS, on January 3, 2024, the Council approved an order to correct the legal name 

of the contractor from MV Transportation, Inc. to MV Contract Transportation Inc. in order to 

execute a maintenance and operation contract; and 

WHEREAS, since the approval of the MV Contract Transportation Inc. there has been 

several strikes and has caused significant disruptions in service and raising concerns about the 

company's ability to ensure the well-being and security of its workforce and the public; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council believes it is in the best interest of the City of 

Jackson to rescind the January 3, 2024 Order and all other orders giving MV Contract 

Transportation Inc. authorization to operate. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City Council rescinds the previous order 

authorizing the Mayor to enter into an agreement with MV Contract Transportation Inc. for the 

provision of operations and maintenance of Jackson's public transportation system (JTRAN) is 

hereby rescinded. 

 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Lindsay recognized Charles Tornes Jr., President of Local 1208, Dr. Scott 

Crawford, Jarrett Andrews, Human Resource Manager of MV Transportation, Inc. and 

Drew Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

After a thorough discussion, President Lindsay recognized Council Member Banks who moved, 

seconded by Vice President Grizzell to go into Closed Session to discuss Agenda Items No. 3 

and 5. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay. 

Nays – Stokes. 

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Lindsay announced to the public that the Council voted to go into Closed Session to 

discuss Agenda Items No. 3 and 5 – Litigation and Potential Litigation.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

During Closed Session, Council Member Banks moved and Vice President Grizzell seconded 

to go into the Executive Session to discuss Agenda Items No. 3 and 5 – Litigation and Potential 

Litigation.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1023 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Foote. 

 

Note: Council Member Foote left the meeting during the discussion. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

President Lindsay announced that the Council voted to go into Executive Session to discuss 

Agenda Items No. 3 and 5 – Litigation and Potential Litigation. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Note: Council Member Foote returned to the meeting during the discussion. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Council Member Stokes moved, seconded by Vice President Grizzell to come out of Executive 

Session.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Lindsay announced to the public that the Council voted to come out of Executive 

Session and action was taken. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

During Executive Session, the Council took action on Agenda Item No. 3 with the following vote: 

 

ORDER RESCINDING THE ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER 

INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH MV CONTRACT TRANSPORTATION INC FOR 

THE PROVISION OF OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE OF JACKSON'S 

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (JTRAN) COMMENCING JANUARY 1, 

2024.  

WHEREAS, on November 7, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved an order 

authorizing the Mayor to enter into a contract with MV Transportation, Inc.; and 

WHEREAS, on January 3, 2024, the Council approved an order to correct the legal name 

of the contractor from MV Transportation, Inc. to MV Contract Transportation Inc. in order to 

execute a maintenance and operation contract; and 

WHEREAS, since the approval of the MV Contract Transportation Inc. there has been 

several strikes and has caused significant disruptions in service and raising concerns about the 

company's ability to ensure the well-being and security of its workforce and the public; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council believes it is in the best interest of the City of 

Jackson to rescind the January 3, 2024 Order and all other orders giving MV Contract 

Transportation Inc. authorization to operate. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDEREDthat the City Council rescinds the previous order 

authorizing the Mayor to enter into an agreement with MV Contract Transportation Inc. for the 

provision of operations and maintenance of Jackson's public transportation system (JTRAN) is 

hereby rescinded. 

 

Yeas – Hartley and Stokes. 

Nays – Banks, Foote, Grizzell and Lindsay.  

Absent – None.   

 

Note: Said item failed due to a lack of a majority vote.  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                            WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 2:00 P.M.                        1024 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 
 

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 

 

• Council Member Banks announced the following: 

 

▪ Requested the Administration to provide the Council with an update regarding the 

status of the three fire stations that are offline. 

 

• Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff announced the following: 

 

▪ Richard’s Disposal would not be picking up garbage on Thursday due to the 

weather conditions. 

                                                         * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until the Regular Council Meeting at 10:00 a.m. on September 24, 2024.  At 4:24 p.m., 

the Council stood adjourned.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

 

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST: 

  

             _______________________________        

                                                                        CITY CLERK 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 







REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
              MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.     1025 

MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Zoning Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi was convened in the Council Chambers in City Hall at 2:30 p.m. on September 16, 
2024, being the third Monday of said month when and where the following things were had and 
done to wit: 

Present: Council Members: Virgi Lindsay, Council President, Ward 7; Brian 
Grizzell, Council Vice President, Ward 4 (via teleconference); Ashby 
Foote, Ward 1 (via teleconference); Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 (via 
teleconference) and Aaron Banks, Ward 6 (via teleconference). Directors: 
Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of Council; Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy 
Clerk of Council; Ester Ainsworth, Zoning Administrator and Ramona 
Williams, Deputy City Attorney. 

Absent:   Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

The meeting was called to order by President Virgi Lindsay. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

President Lindsay recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 
with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4259, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 
and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 
zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 
and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Lindsay requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

ORDER GRANTING RAAD MUDHISH GOBAH A CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT TO ALLOW FOR A TOBACCO PARAPHERNALIA RETAIL 
BUSINESS WITHIN A C-3 (GENERAL) COMMERCIAL DISTRICT FOR THE 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4886 HIGHWAY 18 WEST (PARCEL 831-101), CASE 
NO. 4259. 

            WHEREAS, Raad Mudhish Gobah has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for a 
tobacco paraphernalia retail business within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property 
located at 4886 Highway 18 West (Parcel 831-101) in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District 
of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 
has recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a tobacco paraphernalia retail 
business within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located at 4886 Highway 18 
West (Parcel 831-101); and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, September 16, 
2024 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 
City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on July 4, 2024 and July 18, 2024 that a hearing 
had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 28, 2024, all as provided for by 
ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 
City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit within the existing 
C-3 (General) Commercial District of the City of Jackson; and

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 
opinion that proposed use is compatible with the character of development in the vicinity relative 
to density, bulk and intensity of structures, parking, and other uses and that a Conditional Use 
Permit be granted to allow for a tobacco paraphernalia retail business for the property located at 

Consent Agenda Item No. 5
10.8.2024
(S.Jordan, Lindsay)



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1026 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

4886 Highway 18 West (Parcel 831-101) within the existing C-3 (General) Commercial District 
of the City of Jackson.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 
Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

Being all of Lots 1 and 2 of the 903 Subdivision as platted and recorded in the Office of the 
Chancery Clerk, Hinds County, Mississippi, and being more particularly described as follows, to 
wit: 

Commencing at an iron pin at the Northwest corner of Lot 1 of the 903 Subdivision as platted and 
recorded in the Office of the Chancery Clerk, Hinds County, Mississippi and use as the POINT 
OF BEGINNING, said Northwest corner also being on the South Right-of-Way of Mississippi 
Highway No. 18. From said POINT OF BEGINNING run North 41 degrees 08 minutes 04 seconds 
East along the said South Right-of-Way for a distance of 87.55 feet, to an iron pin; thence South 
41 degrees 48 minutes 00 seconds East along the said South Right-of Way for a distance of 2.15 
feet to an iron pin; thence North 42 degrees 33 minutes 10 seconds East along the said South Right-
of-Way for a distance of 80.79 feet, to an iron pin; thence North 36 degrees 42 minutes 59 seconds 
East along the said South Right-of-Way for a distance of 51.50 feet, to an iron pin at the Northwest 
corner of Lot 2 of the said 903 Subdivision; thence South 47 degrees 03 minutes 07 seconds East 
for a distance of 41.36 feet, to an iron pin; thence North 42 degrees 54 minutes 33 seconds East 
for a distance of 16.05 feet, to an iron pin; thence South 47 degrees 08 minutes 37 seconds East 
for a distance of 32.00 feet, to an iron pin; thence South 68 degrees 20 minutes 00 seconds East 
for a distance of 68.13 feet to an iron pin; thence East for a distance of 50.51 feet, to an iron pin at 
the Northeast corner of Lot 2 of the said 903 Subdivision; thence South 00 degrees 05 minutes 39 
seconds West for a distance of 140.81 feet, to an iron pin at the beginning of a curve to the right, 
said curve having a radius of 100.00 feet and a chord bearing South 09 degrees 33 minutes 40 
seconds West for a distance of 33.73 feet; thence along said curve to the right for an arc length of 
33.90 feet, to an iron pin; thence South 19 degrees 29 minutes 03 seconds West for a distance of 
98.37 feet, to an iron pin at the Northeast corner of Lot 1 of the said 903 Subdivision; thence South 
19 degrees 27 minutes 36 seconds West for a distance of 141.36 feet, to an iron pin at the Southeast 
corner of Lot 1 of the said 903 subdivision, said Southeast corner also being on the North Right-
of-Way of Chadwick Drive; thence North 70 degrees 33 minutes 41 seconds West along the said 
North Right-of-Way for a distance of 388.57 feet, to an iron pin; thence North 30 degrees 29 
minutes 55 seconds West along the said North Right-of-Way for a distance of 43.81 feet, to an 
iron pin at the Southwest corner of Lot 1 of the said 903 Subdivision, said Southwest corner also 
being on the South Right of-Way of Mississippi Highway No. 18; thence North 44 degrees 47 
minutes 47 seconds East along the said South Right-of-Way for a distance of 16.99 feet to an iron 
pin; thence North 50 degrees 12 minutes 39 seconds East for a distance of 115.82 feet, to an iron 
pin; thence South 47 degrees 23 minutes 03 seconds East along the said South Right-of-Way for a 
distance of 1.99 feet, to an iron pin; thence North 50 degrees 12 minutes 57 seconds East along the 
said South Right-of-Way for a distance of 35.60 feet, to an iron pin; thence North 42 degrees 30 
minutes 22 seconds East along the said South Right-of-Way for a distance of 32.04 feet to the 
POINT OF BEGINNING. Said parcel being all of Lots 1 and 2 of the 903 Subdivision as platted 
and recorded in the Office of the Chancery Clerk, Hinds County, Mississippi, and contains 2.92 
acres. 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a tobacco 
paraphernalia retail business within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located 
at 4886 Highway 18 West (Parcel 831-101).  The tobacco paraphernalia retail business shall 
operate according to the regulations as detailed in Section 702.05.02 (17) of the City of Jackson 
Zoning Ordinance as detailed:  Use Permits for a shall be issued to the owner of the store (Raad 
Mudhish Gobah);  the Use Permit will not run with the land and the subsequent owners of a 
tobacco paraphernalia retail business at this location must apply for and receive a new Use 
Permit; the Use Permit shall be renewed annually; and  a tobacco paraphernalia business cannot 
be located within five hundred (500) feet of a kindergarten -12th grade school, church or located 
within one thousand (1000) feet of another tobacco paraphernalia business. An additional 
Condition for the Use Permit shall be that that compliance with adopted Property Maintenance, 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1027 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

Building, Fire Law Enforcement and Zoning codes be maintained at all times.  However, that 
before a Use Permit is issued for any structure to be erected or use thereof on the said property, 
the applicant must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review process. 
 
Vice President Grizzell moved adoption; President Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Lindsay recognized Raas Mudish Gobah, Applicant, who spoke in favor of a Use 
Permit to allow for tobacco paraphernalia retail business within a C-3 (General) Commercial 
District. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Foote, Hartley, Grizzell and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Banks and Stokes. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
Note:  Council Member Banks joined the meeting. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
President Lindsay recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 
with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4261, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 
and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 
zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 
and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Lindsay requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

ORDER GRANTING BASHEER ALTAHESH A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO 
ALLOW FOR A TOBACCO PARAPHERNALIA RETAIL BUSINESS WITHIN A C-3 
(GENERAL) COMMERCIAL DISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4800 
HIGHWAYS 55 NORTH SUITE 6B (PARCEL: 511-480), CASE NO. 4261. 
  

            WHEREAS, Basheer Altahesh has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for a tobacco 
paraphernalia retail business within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located 
at 4800 Highway 55 North Suite 6B (Parcel: 511-480) in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District 
of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 
has recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a tobacco paraphernalia retail 
business within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located at 4800 Highway 55 
North Suite 6B (Parcel: 511-480); and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, September 16, 
2024 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 
City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on August 8, 2024 and August 22, 2024 that a 
hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 28, 2024, all as provided for 
by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1028 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit within the existing 
C-3 (General) Commercial District of the City of Jackson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 
opinion that proposed use is compatible with the character of development in the vicinity relative 
to density, bulk and intensity of structures, parking, and other uses that a Conditional Use Permit 
be granted to allow for a tobacco paraphernalia retail business for the property located at 4800 
Highway 55 North Suite 6B (Parcel: 511-480) within the existing C-3 (General) Commercial 
District of the City of Jackson.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 
Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

Commence at a 1 ½ " galvanized pipe at an old fence corner, as described in Deed Book 698, 
Page 83, marking the southwest corner of the NW 1/2 of the SE 1/2 of Section 13, T6N, RI E, 
City of Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi, and run thence North 00 degrees 55 minutes East for 
a distance of 202.37 feet; run thence North 89 degrees 38 minutes 40 seconds West for a distance 
of 139.59 feet to a point on the east right-of-way of 1-55 North; run thence Northerly along said 
east right-of-way the following bearings and distances: 

North 08 degrees 57 minutes East for 58.99 feet; 

South 89 degrees 03 minutes East for 17.17 feet;  

North 08 degrees 57 minutes East for 72.84 feet;  

North 02 degrees 06 minutes East for 25.20 feet; 

North 05 degrees 45 minutes East for 72.93 feet 

to the POINT OF BEGINNING of the parcel of land herein described. From said point of 
beginning continue along said east right-of-way the following bearings and distances: 

North 05 degrees 45 minutes East for 52.27 feet; 

North 08 degrees 57 minutes East for 70.00 feet; 

North 1 0 degrees 20 minutes West for 21.20 feet; 

North 08 degrees 57 minutes East for 155.00 feet; 

North 62 degrees 25 minutes East for 8.60 feet; 

North 08 degrees 57 minutes East for 67.37 feet; 

thence leaving said east right-of-way run South 89 degrees 48 minutes 45 seconds East along the 
south side of Old Square Subdivision for a distance of 451.41 feet to a point of 64.00 feet east of 
the southwest corner of Lot 7 of said Old Square Subdivision; run thence North 12 degrees 17 
minutes 1 5 seconds East for a distance of 106.78 feet to the south right-of-way of Old Square (as 
laid out and in use, September , 1979) said point being further described as being in a 48.9164 
degree curve having a central angle of 47 degrees 55 minutes and a radius of 1 17.13 feet; run 
thence South 48 degrees 05 minutes 15 seconds East and run along said 48.9164 degree curve to 
the right for a chord distance of 26.35 feet to the PT; run thence South 41 degrees 53 minutes 45 
seconds East along said south right-of-way of Old Square for a distance of 7.07 feet to a PC of a 
23.2258 degrees curve having a central angle of 47 degrees 58 minutes and a radius of 246.69 feet; 
run thence South 45 degrees 10 minutes 45 seconds East and run along said 23.2258 degrees curve 
for a chord distance of 28.34 feet to the northeast corner of aforementioned Lot 7; run thence South 
55 degrees 07 minutes 40 seconds East along said 23.2258 degree curve for a chord distance of 
56.18 feet; thence leaving said right-of-way run South 40 degrees 47 minutes 55 seconds West for 
a distance of 69.52 feet to a point 23 feet south of the southeast corner of the aforementioned Lot 
7; run thence South 00 degrees 29 minutes East along the west side of Lefleur's Square Subdivision 
for a distance of 516.26 feet; run thence North 80 degrees 03 minutes West for a distance of 400.10 
feet; run thence North 00 degrees 57 minutes East for a distance of 165.25 feet; run thence North 

Angela Harris
Moved over to align with margin



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1029 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

89 degrees 03 minutes West for a distance of 181.03 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING, 
containing 6.36 acres, more or less. 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a tobacco 
paraphernalia retail business within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located 
at 4800 Highway 55 N –Suite B (Parcel 511-480).  The tobacco paraphernalia retail business shall 
operate according to the regulations as detailed in Section 702.05.02 (17) of the City of Jackson 
Zoning Ordinance as detailed:  Use Permits for a shall be issued to the owner of the store (Basheer 
Altahesh);  the Use Permit will not run with the land and the subsequent owners of a tobacco 
paraphernalia retail business at this location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit; the 
Use Permit shall be renewed annually; and  a tobacco paraphernalia business cannot be located 
within five hundred (500) feet of a kindergarten -12th grade school, church or located within one 
thousand (1000) feet of another tobacco paraphernalia business. An additional Condition for the 
Use Permit shall be that that compliance with adopted Property Maintenance, Building, Fire Law 
Enforcement and Zoning codes be maintained at all times.  However, that before a Use Permit is 
issued for any structure to be erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant must meet 
the requirements established through the Site Plan Review process. 

 
Council Member Foote moved adoption; President Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no representative from the Applicant.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Hartley and Stokes. 

Note:  Council Member Hartley left the meeting during the discussion. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

President Lindsay recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 
with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4262, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 
and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 
zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 
and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Lindsay requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

ORDER GRANTING LINDA WARE A USE PERMIT TO ALLOW FOR THE 
PLACEMENT OF A MANUFACTURED HOUSE WITHIN A R-1 (SINGLE-
FAMILY) RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT ON THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 3987 
SAYLES & DIXON RD. (PARCEL 805-8-2), CASE NO. 4262. 

 
            WHEREAS, Linda Ware has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for the placement 
of manufactured house within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District on the property located 
at 3987 Sayles & Dixon Rd. (Parcel 805-8-2) in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds 
County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 
has recommended approval of a Use Permit to allow for the placement of a manufactured house 
within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District on the property at 3987 Sayles & Dixon Rd. 
(Parcel 805-8-2); and 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1030 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, September 16, 
2024 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 
City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on August 8, 2024 and August 22, 2024 that a 
hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 28, 2024, all as provided for 
by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 
City Planning Board had recommended approval of the petitioned Use Permit within the existing 
R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District of the City of Jackson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 
opinion that proposed use would not be detrimental to the continued use, value, or development of 
properties in the vicinity and not being hazardous, detrimental, or disturbing to present surrounding 
land uses due to noises, glare, smoke, dust, odor, fumes, water pollution, vibration, electrical 
interference, or other nuisances in addition to being in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan 
and that a Use Permit be granted to allow for the placement of a manufactured house within the 
existing R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District for the property located at 3987 Sayles & Dixon 
Rd. (Parcel 805-8-2)  located in the City of Jackson.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 
Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

132 ft. E & W x660 Ft N & S Beg 264 ft. W of Lot 9 Hendricks Est. ptn. In N ½ SE ¼ NW ¼ Sec. 
13 T6N R1W Cont. 2 acres 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Use Permit to allow for the placement of a 
manufactured house within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District on the property located at 
3987 Sayles & Dixon Rd. (Parcel 805-8-2).  However, that before a Use Permit is issued for any 
structure to be erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant must meet the requirements 
established for the placement of a manufactured house and through the Site Plan Review process.  
The requirements for the placement of a manufactured house shall be that: 

 The unit is not located in the R-1A & R-3 Residential Districts;  
 The unit is new or less than ten (10) years old; 
 The units are similar to surrounding neighborhood features; 
 Landscaping is similar to surrounding neighborhood features; 
 The permanent hitch, wheels, axles, or other devices allowing transportation are removed;  
 The unit is erected on a conventional foundation and is permanently affixed to the 

property;  
 Permanent water and sewer facilities are available to the site;  
 The unit has a HUD Certification Label (tag); and 
 Prior to the placement of the unit on the site and the issuance of a building permit, 

documented approval of the unit from the State of Mississippi Fire Marshall’s Office must 
be obtained. 
 

Council Member Banks moved adoption; President Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Lindsay recognized Brenda Manual, Representative for the Applicant, who spoke 
in favor of a Use Permit to allow for the placement of a manufactured house within a R-1 (Single-
Family) Residential District. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1031 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

Note: Council Member Hartley returned to the meeting during the discussion.   
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDINANCE APPROVING AMENDMENT TO THE TEXT OF THE OFFICIAL 
ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON MISSISSIPPI AND 
RESPECTIVELY ADOPTED ON MAY 29, 1974 WITH SUBSEQUENT 
AMENDMENTS IN ORDER TO PROVIDE FOR AND ESTABLISH MORE 
EFFECTIVE ZONING REGULATIONS FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON 
MISSISSIPPI. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF JACKSON, MS: 

Plain Text = Existing Text  

Underline = New Text 

1 = Renumbering 

Strikethrough = Deleted Text 

 That Article VII-A for Mixed Use Districts is hereby amended to create Section 712-A 
Farish Street Area Cultural Mixed-Use District (FSA-CMUD) to be detailed and 
regulated as follows: 
 

712-A Purpose of the District 
The purpose and intent of the Farish Street Area Cultural Mixed Used District (hereinafter referred 
to as FSA-CMUD is to preserve the cultural and architectural history of the Farish Street 
community.  The FSA-CMUD is designed to protect the unique character of the Farish Street area 
and promote the district for the education, pleasure and general welfare of the local community 
and the City of Jackson. The intent of the FSA-CMUD is to encourage the healthy mix of 
residential, commercial, recreational, arts and retail uses in the Farish Street area with an improved 
pedestrian environment.  The FSA-CMUD is compatible with the Downtown Regional Mixed-
Use Center found in the Land Use Plan portion of the City of Jackson’s Comprehensive Plan. The 
goals and objectives of the Farish Street Area Cultural Mixed-Use District are designed to: 

1. Foster development in the Farish Street Area promoting more harmonious mix of land uses, 
bulk regulations and a more environmentally sensitive community; 

2. Create stronger Neighborhood and Business District – The Farish Street Area Cultural Mixed-
Use District will encourage a return to the traditional town center; 
a. Mixed income residential development that includes affordable and market rate housing to 

serve a variety of housing needs.  
b. Institutional development; retail development, and commercial development within the 

context of an integrated new urbanism community. 
3. Maintain a human building scale, rather than monolithic or monumental scale; 
4. Encourage appropriate adaptive reuse of existing buildings that emphasizes the original 

architecture of the buildings;  
5. Create pedestrian interest at the street level and re-create a vibrant commercial district; 
6. Consider the scale, texture and pattern of building materials;  
7. Consider the quality of open space incorporated in new and renovated buildings; 
8. Reduce visual impact of surface parking lots;  
9. Reduce or eliminate off street parking;  
10. Create Gateway Elements at important entrances and sites; 
11. Allow for public arts that reflects the historic figures and culture of the area;  
12. Establish continuity of design with pedestrian scale lights, signs, and street trees; 
13. Establish street and sidewalk widths; planting & landscaping requirements; and parking 

requirements; 

Angela Harris
inserted

Angela Harris
space below

Angela Harris
inserted hyphen throughout where needed



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1032 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

14. Improve the quality of new developments in the FSA Cultural Mixed-Use District by requiring 
the provision of specified public amenities in appropriate locations; 

15. Promote the most desirable use of land, that will conserve and enhance the value of land and 
buildings; thereby, protecting and increasing the City of Jackson’s tax revenues;  

16. Ensure consistency with the Future Land Use, Master Plan and Design Guidelines for the 
Farish Street District as well as the City of Jackson’s Comprehensive Plan; 

17. Create development bonuses and other incentives to encourage the development of a diverse 
and complimentary mix of institutions;  

18. Create pedestrian linkages from the Farish Street Area Cultural Mixed-Use District to other 
downtown districts within the FSA-CMUD and adjacent areas;  

 

712.01-A Location/Designated Area  

The FSA-CMUD is in the northwestern periphery of Downtown Jackson. More specifically, its 
boundaries are as follows: 

 

Northern Boundary: Southern side of Fortification 
Street 

Eastern Boundary: Western side of Lamar Street 

Southern Boundary: Northern side of Amite Street  

Western Boundary: Both sides of Mill Street. 

 

The FSA-CMUD District consists of approximately 
+/- 189 acres and encompasses approximately 607 
parcels of land.  

 

 

712.02-A Farish Street Area Cultural Mixed Use 
District Review & Administration       

 

Prior to the issuance of a building permit those 
properties located within the FSA-CMUD District 
will be subject to compliance with the Farish Street 
Historic District Design Guidelines and approval by 

the City of Jackson Historic Preservation Commission. Also, the portion of the Farish Street Area 
Cultural Mixed-Use District that is encompassed within the boundaries of the FSA- CMUD and 
the Business Improvement District are encouraged to partner with the Downtown Jackson Partners. 

No building or demolition permit shall be issued by the Department of Planning & Economic 
Development for new construction, alterations, additions, or demolitions without the approval of 
the Site Plan Review and Historic Preservation Committees.  

712.03-A General Regulations 
 
These General Regulations are the broad guidelines defining the Farish Street Area Cultural 
Mixed-Use District. Specific requirements are defined in each of the separately enumerated sub 
districts. 

1. All new construction, major additions, renovations, relocations and demolitions in the FSA-
CMUD   shall require Site Plan Review and Certificate of Appropriateness as outlined in this 
Ordinance and other relevant ordinances.  

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1033 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

2. All infill housing and commercial buildings/properties (when applicable) shall be 
comparable to the architectural styles of the street/area. 

 
3. All Streets shall have sidewalks that must be ADA (American Disabilities Act) compliant. 

The FSA community is intended to maximize the use of sidewalks in creating a walkable 
community.  Sidewalks shall consist of a minimum of two zones: (a) an amenity zone of not 
less than three (3) feet in width; (b) an open walkway or pedestrian zone.  Sidewalk materials 
and details will conform to the Farish Street Historic District Design Guidelines. The 
guidelines for the specific sub districts will specifically regulate sidewalk widths. 

 

4. Building Heights, Building Setbacks; and Yard Requirements will be regulated by these 
guidelines. 

 

5. Parking requirements are regulated by these zoning regulations. 
 

6. Sidewalks, lighting, street trees and street furniture shall comply with the FSA Design 
Guidelines. 

  

7. Any master plan prepared by the City of Jackson or an interested private entity containing 
consistent, cohesive and desirable standards for sidewalks; lighting; street trees, and street 
furnishings may be adopted by City Council after approval of the Site Plan Review 
Committee.  Any guidelines contained in such a plan shall take precedence over standards in 
Section 1107.09 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

8. In addition to requirements set forth in Section 707.09-A of the Zoning Ordinance, 
development entities and/or property owners shall formulate architectural design standards 
and conduct a review for development within this District.  All standards to be imposed by 
an entity not affiliated with the City of Jackson shall not conflict with any requirement of the 
Zoning Ordinance, Sign Ordinance, Farish Street Neighborhood Historic District Design 
Guidelines or any other adopted standard of the City of Jackson. 

 

712.04-A Buffering, Landscaping, Lighting and Screening & Parking Requirements 

It is the intent of this section to establish standards to promote the protection, preservation, 
appearance, character and value of properties throughout the Farish Street area.  The following 
regulations apply:  

1. Approved buffer zones required for: 
 Separation of differing land uses 
 Addition of buildings to a lot 
 Expansion of a structure or parking facility 
 Separation of churches and religious facilities from buildings and land uses  
 

2. Landscape materials should be hardy and adaptable to local conditions, easily maintained, 
and drought tolerant. Use of native plants is strongly encouraged. 

3. The design for parking areas shall include deciduous and evergreen trees to provide shade 
and break up expanses of asphalt. One tree, a minimum of 2½ -3-inch caliper at the time 
of planting, shall be required for every 5 parking spaces. There should be no more than 10 
spaces between landscape islands or medians. 

4. Landscape islands or medians shall have no dimension narrower than five (5) feet. 
5. Interior landscaping is required for parking lots containing ten or more spaces at a ratio of 

20 square feet of landscape area for every 100 square feet of parking area. All landscaped 
areas should be protected by wheel stops or curbing, or be of sufficient width to prevent 
damage to plants by overhanging vehicles. 

6. Existing vegetation should be incorporated into overall site design. 
7. Landscaped areas shall be irrigated by mechanical sprinkler systems. 
8. Required perimeter setback areas shall be densely landscaped with a combination of trees 

and shrubs, which form a 90 percent ground cover within three years of planting. 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1034 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

9. Required landscaping shall include a combination of trees and shrubs as follows: 
 For every 20 square feet of landscaped area: three (3) shrubs and either one (1) 

deciduous tree, 2½ to 3-inch caliper at time of planting, or one (1) evergreen tree, 
having a minimum height of 10 feet at the time of planting.   

 Tree spacing shall be as follows: Perimeter areas around parking lots 20 to 30 feet on 
center; other perimeter areas 30 feet on center. 

  Interior site landscaping is required to define pedestrian ways, enclose outdoor 
gathering and seating areas, and reduce building mass. 

10. Architectural features such as low walls, fountains, and sculptures may be used in places 
where planting areas are limited or restricted. 

11. Project entrances should be enhanced through changes in paving materials such as brick 
pavers, textured and colored concrete, providing entry structures and unity in planting of 
trees and shrubs. 

12. Individual trees along walkways and along sidewalks in the internal portions of projects 
should be planted in tree wells or planter boxes. 

13. Open storm water detention facilities should be incorporated into project landscaping and 
open space where geographically feasible.  

14. Open storm water detention facilities shall be landscaped and screened. 
15. Moving and flashing lights are prohibited. 
16. Entrances, parking areas, and other public spaces shall be adequately lighted to serve as a 

deterrent to personal and property crime. Lighting fixtures will be selected and approved 
to minimize light spillover onto adjacent properties 

17.  Lighting standards should be designed and sited to be compatible with the character of the 
development. 

18.  Fences shall be constructed with appropriate fencing material and designed to deter or 
facilitate the removal of graffiti –  The following applies: 
 No chain link fences in Arts & Entertainment District or Commercial District (except 

in rear yards only) 
 No barbed wire 
 No razor wire 
 No sheet metal 
 No unfinished concrete masonry units 
 No plywood 

 
Parking Requirements 

Required off-street parking is governed by 1108-A of this Ordinance, with the following 
parking reductions allowed: 

1. On-street parking located adjacent to any lot shall be counted toward meeting the 
parking requirements for that lot as set forth in this article.  

2. Shared parking is allowed as governed by this Ordinance.  
3. A fifty) (50) percent reduction in required parking shall be available for all uses 

regardless of conditions specified in 1 and 2 above.  
 
712.05-A - Permitted Land Uses 

The following uses shall be permitted in the FSA-CMUD. The uses shall be permitted strictly in 
accordance with the zoning restrictions as established by the zoning guidelines for each sub 
district: 

Antique and Specialty Retail Shops 

Art Galleries, Museums, Artists’ Studios, Photo Studios 

Automotive service and repair establishments 

Banks, Savings Institutions, and Credit Unions 

Bars 

Business Incubator Facility 

Catering Services 

Charging Stations 

Angela Harris
corrected numbering and removed bold



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1035 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

Child Care Center/Residential 

Child Care Center/Commercial 

Churches and Places of Worship on sites of up to one (1) acre 

Community Recreational Center 

Convenience Type Grocery Store 

Cottage Industries  

Educational Facilities, Colleges, Universities, Business Schools, Training Facilities; Libraries  

Dry Cleaners and Coin Laundries 

Home occupation, if the home occupation shall be clearly incidental to the residential use of the 
dwelling and shall not change the essential residential character of the dwelling. 

Hotels 

Live/Work Units 

Mixed-Use Buildings 

Night Clubs 

Off-street Surface Parking 

Parking Garages  

Personal & Commercial Services  

Philanthropic Institutions 

Pop-up Retail  

Public and Governmental offices 

Private Monitoring Facilities  

Professional Services and Offices 

Recording, Radio and Broadcasting Facilities 

Restaurants (Fast Food, General or Neighborhood) Bars, Cabarets and Taverns including those 
with outdoor live entertainment venues, walk-up windows and outdoor seating areas for serving 
food and beverages such as plazas, courtyards, patios and sidewalks when such areas are owned 
and/or maintained by the restaurant, bar or other establishment providing food or drink to patrons 
in these outdoor areas. 

Residential Community Facility 

Multifamily Dwellings 

Single-family detached and attached dwellings including patio homes, condominiums and 
townhouses; 

Two- family dwellings; accessory dwelling units 

Dwelling units above the first-floor commercial buildings or in mix-use buildings 

Short Term Rentals  

Specialty Retail  

Retail Stores 

Wireless broadcast stations (WiFi) 

Theaters – movie and performance indoor / outdoor with seating 

Open space as included within the overall site plan 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1036 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

Recreation Facilities  

Vendor Park  

712.06-A Uses Which May Be Permitted as Use Permits 

The following Use Permits are permitted in the FSA-CMUD provided they are established in 
accordance with the procedures and provisions of this Ordinance. 

1. Any of the above uses provided in the FSA- CMUD which will be subject to review for 
compatibility with existing land uses in the respective zoning districts. 

 
2. Liquor Stores - Use Permits for liquor stores are issued to the owner of the liquor store rather 

than to the owner of the land; they do not run with the land but will allow the store to remain 
at a specific location until such time as the ownership of the liquor store changes. Subsequent 
owners of the liquor store at this location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit.  

 
3. Multi-purpose parking areas  

 

ZONING DISTRICTS 

712.06.1-A –FSA Residential District: The purpose of this district is to provide areas for the 
development of medium density residential uses and structures. It is the intent of this Ordinance 
that these districts be located in the portions of the FSA-CMUD where a protected environment 
suitable for medium density residential use can be provided, as well as in established medium 
density residential areas as a means to ensure their continuance. In fulfilling the purpose of this 
district, the townhouse or row house concept may be used which permits the construction of single-
family dwellings immediately adjacent to one another without side yards between the individual 
units and which units may or may not be structurally connected. The purpose of this district may 
also be fulfilled by the use of the zero lot line concept which permits the construction of detached 
single-family dwellings on lots without a side yard requirement on one side of the lot. This concept 
permits better use of the entire lot by compacting the usual front, rear, and side yards into one or 
more internal gardens which may be completely walled in or screened. 

706.01.1-A Uses Permitted: 

1. Single-family detached and attached dwellings including patio homes, condominiums and 
townhouses; 

2. Two- family dwellings 
3. Transitional Housing for six or fewer residents 
4. Row or Townhouse dwellings 
5. Zero lot line dwellings 
 
706.01.2 Uses Which May Be Permitted as Use Permits: 

1. Child Care Center Residential 
2. Home occupation, if the home occupation shall be clearly incidental to the residential use of 

the dwelling and shall not change the essential residential character of the dwelling. 
3. Live/ Work Housing Units 
4. Cottage Industry  
5. Personal & Commercial Services  

 
706.01.3-A Regulations: 

1. Minimum lot area for single-family units- 5,000 square feet. 
2. Minimum lot area - 2,400 square feet for townhouses and 3,200 square feet for zero lot 

line dwellings. 
3. Minimum lot width - twenty-four (24) feet for townhouses and forty (40) feet for zero lot 

line houses, except that for corner lots the minimum shall be thirty-four (34) feet for 
townhouses and fifty (50) feet for zero lot line dwellings. 

4. Minimum front yard depth – Twenty (20) feet from street right-of-way line. 
5. Minimum side yard depth –five (5) feet, except on a corner lot, the minimum side yard on 

the street side shall be fifteen (15) feet 

Angela Harris
removed extra spacing paragraphs-sections throughout

Angela Harris
corrected font

Angela Harris
changed number font throughout



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1037 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

6. Minimum rear yard depth – Fifteen (15) feet, such space can be used for parking purposes 
and open carports. 

7. Maximum height – thirty-five (35) feet. 
8. Maximum lot coverage – fifty-five (55) percent 
9. Accessory structures – accessory structures of a type compatible with the surroundings 

shall be permitted, and when detached from the main building shall be set back a minimum 
of forty (40) feet from the front lot line, five (5) feet from the side lot line, and five (5) feet 
from the rear lot line. On corner lots, the accessory structure must be erected on the opposite 
corner of the lot from the street line. No accessory structure may be used as living quarters. 

10. A maximum of four (4) living units shall be allowed in each row of townhouses. When 
an end unit of a row house does not side on a street, an open space or court of at least 
twenty (20) feet in width shall be provided between it and the adjacent row of townhouses, 
and this open space or court shall be divided between the two immediately adjacent 
townhouse lots as to property or lot lines. 

11. Townhouses shall be constructed up to side lot lines without side yards and no windows, 
doors, or other openings shall face a side lot line except that the outside wall of end units 
may contain such openings. 

12. Zero lot line dwellings shall be constructed against the lot line on one side of a lot and no 
windows, doors, or other openings shall be permitted on this side. Where adjacent zero 
lot line dwellings are not constructed against a common lot line, the builder or developer 
must provide for a perpetual wall maintenance easement of five (5) feet in width along 
the adjacent lot and parallel with such wall. 
 

712.07-A FSA-Residential Mixed-Use District: The purpose of this district is to accommodate 
the development of residential uses along with compatible, low-intensity commercial uses to 
serve adjacent residential areas. Uses should be integrated physically and accessible by 
pedestrians in order to decrease reliance on individual automobiles, conserve land, maximize 
use of public infrastructure, increase the quality of life in neighborhoods and provide for the 
welfare of the citizens. 

 
712.07.01 –A Uses Permitted: 

1. Single-family detached and attached dwellings including patio homes & zero –lot line 
homes  

2. Two- family dwellings 
3. Personal & Commercial Services  
4. Short Term Rentals  
5. Specialty Retail 
6. Residential Child Care Center  
7. Catering Services  

 

712.07.02-A Uses Which May Be Permitted as Use Permits: 

1. Dry Cleaners & Coin Laundries  
2. Commercial Child Care Center  
3. Cottage Industries 
4. Residential Community Facility 
 
 
712.07.03-A Regulations 

Regulations shall be the same as Section 712.06.3-A 
 

712.08-A FSA-Restricted Commercial District: The purpose of this district is to provide for an 
attractive, pedestrian-oriented neighborhood center with compatible mix of medium density 
residential uses and commercial activity that serves the needs of the local and adjacent 
communities. 

712.08.01 –A Uses Permitted: 

1. Banks, Savings Institutions, and Credit Unions – No Drive Through 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1038 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

2. Business Incubator Facility 
3. Churches and Places of Worship on sites of up to one (1) acre 
4. Convenience Type Grocery Store- no petroleum dispensing, oil changing or car wash facilities 

allowed 
5. Dry Cleaners and Coin Laundries 
6. Live \Work Units 
7. Mixed-Use Buildings 
8. Personal & Commercial Services  
9. Professional Services and Offices  
10. Public and Governmental Offices 
11. Neighborhood Restaurant  
12. Retail Stores with 2,500 sq. ft. or less 
13. Two-family Dwellings 
14. Multi-family Dwellings 
15. Townhouses & Condominiums 
 

712.08.02 –A Uses Which May Be Permitted as Use Permits:  

1. Community Recreational Center 
2. Multi-purpose parking areas  
3. Vendor Park 

 
712..08.03-A Regulations: 

1. Regulations for residential used shall be the same as in the Residential Mixed Use District 
(Section 712.06.3-A) 

2. Minimum lot area for commercial buildings shall be 5,000 square feet. 
3. Minimum rear yard depth - fifteen (15) feet, except where it adjoins residentially zoned 

or residentially used, the rear yard requirement shall be increased to twenty-five (25) 
feet. 

 
712.09-A FSA- Limited Mixed Use Commercial District: The purpose of this district is to provide 
for an attractive, pedestrian-oriented commercial center with compatible mix of medium density 
residential uses and commercial activity that serves the needs of the local and adjacent 
communities.  

 
712.09.01 –A Uses Permitted: 

 
1. Catering Services 
2. Convenience Type Grocery Store 
3. Commercial Daycare Center  
4. Neighborhood Restaurant  
5. Short Term Rentals  
6. Pop up Retail  
7. Personal & Commercial Services 
8. Retail Store   
9. Specialty Retail Shops  

 
712.09.02 Uses Which May Be Permitted as Use Permits:  

1. Community Recreational Center 
2. Multi-purpose parking areas  
3. Vendor Park  

 
712.09.03-A Regulations: 

1. Lot size - Not regulated. 
2. Lot width- All lots shall have at least twenty-four (24) feet of frontage on a private or public 

street. 
3. Lot coverage- Not regulated for commercial and mixed-use structures 
4. Front yard- All buildings shall have a front yard setback of not more than five (5) feet; except 

where a plaza or courtyard is in the front yard, in which case the maximum setback shall be 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1039 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

thirty (30) feet; the plaza or courtyard shall be enclosed on three (3) sides and open to the 
sidewalk side, but partially enclosed with a combination of landscaping and a small wall or 
fence, in order to maintain the continuity of the streetscape. 

5. Residential units may have a maximum setback of fifteen (15) feet. When residential 
structures have a front yard setback greater than five (5) feet, a wooden, masonry, or wrought 
iron fence of three feet or less in height shall be erected in line with adjacent nonresidential 
building or at the five-foot setback line. 

6. Infill Context- new construction must comply with the visual characteristics of the area as 
approved by the Historic Preservation Commission. 

7. Side yard - None, except when adjacent to a detached residential structure, the distance 
between the commercial structure and the residential structure shall be a minimum of ten (10) 
feet. 

8. Rear yard- Residential units shall have a rear yard of twenty (20) feet.  Commercial uses shall 
have a five (5) foot rear yard when located adjacent to a public access alley or common drive. 
If a public access alley or common drive does not exist, commercial uses shall provide 
sufficient easement to provide for such a drive subject to Site Plan review design standards. 
If a commercial use rear yard abuts a residential or religious use a twenty-five (25) foot yard 
is required and within this area, a ten (10) feet transitional landscaping buffer and approved 
fencing material shall be provided. The remaining setback may be used for off-street parking. 

9. Building height- The maximum building height for principal structures shall be thirty-five 
(35) feet except for mixed-use buildings in which case the maximum building height shall be 
forty-five (45) feet. Maximum building height for accessory structures shall be fifteen (15) 
feet. Height regulations exclude steeples, cupolas and similar architectural elements. 

10. First floor elevations for residential structures with a five-foot front yard or less shall be at 
least eighteen (18) inches above the finished grade. 

11. Sidewalks shall be required for all new development and infill development. 
12. Sidewalk width and design shall adhere to existing sidewalks or to any proposed 

developments and is subject to approval by the Site Plan Review Committee. 
13. Required off-street parking is governed by Section1108-A of this Ordinance, with the 

following parking reductions allowed: 
14. On-street parking located adjacent to any lot shall be counted toward meeting the parking 

requirements for that lot as set forth I n this article. 
15. Shared parking is allowed as governed by this Ordinance. 
16. A twenty-five (25) percent reduction in required parking shall be available for all uses 

regardless of conditions specified in 1 and 2 above  
17. All buildings shall have the primary entrance visible and accessible from the street. 
18. All buildings on corner lots shall provide a corner entrance  
19. Building facades shall be aligned at the sidewalk edge. 
20. Wherever possible, buildings should utilize shared driveways and access roads. 
21. Driveway widths and curb cuts shall reflect those existing in the R. Jess Brown Commercial 

District.  
22. No more than one vehicular access point twelve (12) feet or less in width per lot shall be 

provided from the primary street for residential units.  
23. All new off-street parking lots shall be located in the rear of the building with an approved 

landscape plan that has been approved by the Historic Preservation Commission and Site Plan 
Review Committee.  

24. Drive-through windows are not permitted on any building. 
25. In commercial and mixed-use structures, windows, doors, display windows arcades shall 

comprise 50% of the total area for street-facing facades on the first floor. 
26. Roof-top mechanical equipment shall be screened from ground level view with a parapet or 

other architectural feature 
27. No liquor store shall be located within two hundred fifty (250) feet of any other such use, or 

located within five hundred (500) feet of any residentially zoned property, church, school, 
park, playground or public library. 

28. All new construction in this district shall require approval by the Historic Preservation 
Commission and Site Plan Review Committee as outlined in this Ordinance. 

712.10A FSA-General Commercial District: The purpose of this district is to provide areas for the 
development of retail and personal service type community commercial shopping centers of 
integrated design and medium to high density development in the FSA-CMUD. 

712.10.01 –A Uses Permitted: 

1. Automotive service and repair establishments 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1040 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

2. Banks, Savings Institutions, and Credit Unions with drive through windows 
3. Charging Stations 
4. Convenience Type Grocery Store  
5. Dwelling units above the first floor commercial buildings or in mixed-use buildings 
6. Mixed-Use Buildings  
7. Private Monitoring Facilities  
8. Professional Services and Offices  
9. Public and governmental offices 
10. Restaurants (Fast Food General & Neighborhood) 
11. Retail Stores with 3,500 sq. ft. or less 
12. Service Stations 
13. Wireless broadcast stations (Wi-Fi) 
 
712.10.02–A Uses Which May Be Permitted as Use Permits:  

1. Community Recreational Center 
2. Liquor Store 
3. Multi-purpose parking areas 
4. Vendor Park 
 
712.11-A FSA- Arts & Entertainment Cultural District: The purpose of this District is to create an 
attractive, pedestrian oriented center that has a compatible mix of low residential and low intensity 
commercial uses to create an atmosphere that reflects the historical and cultural significance of the 
FSA.  

712.11.01 –A Uses Permitted 

1. Antique and Specialty Retail Shops 
2. Art Galleries, Museums, Artists’ Studios, Photo Studios 
3. Catering Services 
4. Dwelling units above the first-floor commercial buildings or in mix-use buildings 
5. Hotel 
6. Medium Density housing- townhouses and condominiums 
7. Mixed-Use Buildings  
8. Personal & Commercial Services  
9. Professional Services & Offices  
10. Restaurants (Neighborhood, Fast Food, General) Bars, Cabarets and Taverns including those 

with outdoor live entertainment venues, walk-up windows and outdoor seating areas for 
serving food and beverages such as plazas, courtyards, patios and sidewalks when such areas 
are owned and/or maintained by the restaurant, bar or other establishment providing food or 
drink to patrons in these outdoor areas. 

11. Short Term Rentals  
12. Wireless broadcast stations (WiFi) 
13. Theaters – movie and performance indoor / outdoor with seating 
14. Pop Up Retail 
15. Open space as included within the overall site plan 
16. Vendor Park 
 
712.11.02 –A Uses Which May Be Permitted as Use Permits:  

1. Bars (shall not be located adjacent to a residential unit or mixed use building) 
2. Community Recreational Center  
3. Liquor Store 
4. Multi-purpose parking areas 
5. Night Clubs (shall not be located adjacent to a residential unit or mixed use building) 
712.11.03-A Regulations: 

1. Minimum lot area -- Not regulated. 
2. Minimum lot width – All new lots shall have at least twenty-four (24) feet of frontage on a 

public street, public courtyard or alley. 
3. Minimum front yard depth – No building shall have a front yard. All buildings should be on 

the front property line.  
4. Maximum front yard depth –Where a plaza or courtyard is in the front yard, the maximum 

setback shall be twenty (20) feet. The plaza or courtyard shall be enclosed on three (3) sides 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1041 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

and open to the sidewalk side, but partially enclosed with a combination of landscaping and a 
small wall or fence, in order to maintain the continuity of the streetscape.  

5. Minimum side yard – None required; however, if a side yard is provided, it must be a minimum 
of eight (8) feet and shall be used to provide direct access to public or private rear court yards 
or parking.  

6. Minimum rear yard – The rear yard shall be no less than 50 feet deep.  
7. Maximum building height – the building height for principal structures shall be thirty-five 35 

feet  
8. First floor elevation for residential uses shall be at least 18 inches above finished grade. 
9. Maximum lot coverage – Residential, ninety (90) percent. 
10. Interior Courtyards shall be no less than 60 feet by 60 feet 
11. Sidewalks shall consist of a minimum of two zones: (a) an amenity zone of not less than (3) 

feet in width and (b) an open walkway or pedestrian zone. A third zone, the storefront zone 
may be permitted. 

12. All new off-street parking lots shall be located in the rear of the building with an approved 
landscape and fencing plan that has been approved by the Historic Preservation Commission 
and Site Plan Review Committee.  

13. Shared parking is allowed as governed by the Zoning Ordinance 
14. Exterior storage - Exterior storage by a retail establishment is permitted only for items which 

by their nature are typically used outdoors in an unprotected environment. To protect the 
integrity of adjacent properties, the Zoning Administrator may require that exterior storage 
areas be completely screened from the street and from adjacent properties by a six (6) foot high 
wood or masonry fence or by natural plants or trees of equal minimum height so planted as to 
provide maximum opacity. 

15. Roof-top mechanical equipment shall be screened from ground level view with a parapet or 
other architectural feature. 

16. Drive-through windows are not permitted on any building. 
17. In commercial and mixed-use structures, windows, doors, display windows arcades shall 

comprise 50% of the total area for street-facing facades on the first floor. 
18. All building modifications, additions and new construction in the Jessie Mosley Cultural 

District shall require approval by the Historic Preservation Commission and Site Plan Review 
Committee as outlined in this Ordinance. 

 
712.12-A FSA Community Mixed Use District: The purpose of this District is to create an 
attractive, pedestrian oriented point of entry for the FSA-CMUD that has a compatible mix 
residential and low intensity commercial uses. These district regulations have been created to 
ensure that infill development and additions to existing buildings are consistent with recognized 
pedestrian scale improvements in terms of structural orientation, height, lot dimensional 
requirements and other site spatial relationships. 

712.12.01 Uses Permitted: 

1. Antique and Specialty Retail Shops 
2. Art Galleries, Museums, Artists’ Studios, Photo Studios 
3. Hotels  
4. Dwelling units above the first floor commercial buildings or in mixed-use buildings 
5. Restaurants (Fast Food. General, & Neighborhood) Bars, Cabarets and Taverns including those 

with outdoor live entertainment venues, walk-up windows and outdoor seating areas for 
serving food and beverages such as plazas, courtyards, patios and sidewalks when such areas 
are owned and/or maintained by the restaurant, bar or other establishment providing food or 
drink to patrons in these outdoor areas. 

6. Mixed-Use Buildings  
7. Personal & Commercial Services  
8. Public and Governmental Offices 
9. Recording, Radio & Broadcasting Facilities  
10. Restaurants (Fast Food, General or Neighborhood) Bars, Cabarets and Taverns including those 

with outdoor live entertainment venues, walk-up windows and outdoor seating areas for 
serving food and beverages such as plazas, courtyards, patios and sidewalks when such areas 
are owned and/or maintained by the restaurant, bar or other establishment providing food or 
drink to patrons in these outdoor areas. 

11. Retail Stores with 3,000 sq. ft. or less 
12. Wireless broadcast stations (Wi-Fi) 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1042 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

13. Theaters – movie and performance indoor / outdoor with seating 
14. Open space as included within the overall site plan 
15. Recreational Facilities  
 
712.12.02 Uses Which May Be Permitted as Use Permits:  

1. Banks, Savings Institutions, and Credit Unions - no drive through windows 
2. Catering Services 
3. Health Clubs\Day Spas 
4. Hotels  
5. Recreational facilities - Use Permits for the recreational facility are issued to the owner of the 

recreational facility rather than to the owner of the land; they do not run with the land but will 
allow the store to remain at a specific location until such time as the ownership of the 
recreational facility changes. Subsequent owners of the recreational facility at this location 
must apply for and receive a new Use Permit. 

6. Liquor Store - Use Permits for liquor stores are issued to the owner of the liquor store rather 
than to the owner of the land; they do not run with the land but will allow the store to remain 
at a specific location until such time as the ownership of the liquor store changes. Subsequent 
owners of the liquor store at this location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit. 

7. Off-street Surface Parking  
8. Vendor Park – limited to non-consumable goods 
 
712.03.-A Regulations: 

1. Minimum lot area -- Not regulated. 
2. Minimum lot width – All new lots shall have at least twenty-four (24) feet of frontage on a 

public street, public courtyard or alley. 
3. Minimum front yard depth – No building shall have a front yard. All buildings should be on 

the front property line.  
4. Maximum front yard depth –Where a plaza or courtyard is in the front yard, the maximum 

setback shall be twenty (20) feet. The plaza or courtyard shall be enclosed on three (3) sides 
and open to the sidewalk side, but partially enclosed with a combination of landscaping and a 
small wall or fence, in order to maintain the continuity of the streetscape.  

5. Minimum side yard – None required; however, if a side yard is provided, it must be a minimum 
of eight (8) feet and shall be used to provide direct access to public or private rear court yards 
or parking.  

6. Minimum rear yard – The rear yard shall be no less than 50 feet deep.  
7. Minimum and maximum building height -- minimum building height for principal structures 

shall be thirty-five 35 feet and the maximum building for those structures facing Fortification 
Street shall be 65 feet  

8. First floor elevation for residential uses shall be at least 18 inches above finished grade. 
9. Maximum lot coverage – Residential, ninety (90) percent. 
10. Interior Courtyards: Interior Courtyards shall be no less than 60 feet by 60 feet 
11. Sidewalks shall consist of a minimum of two zones: (a) an amenity zone of not less than (3) 

feet in width and (b) an open walkway or pedestrian zone. A third zone, the storefront zone 
may be permitted. 

12. Shared parking is allowed as governed by the Zoning Ordinance 
13. All new off-street parking lots shall be located in the rear of the building with an approved 

landscape and fencing plan that has been approved by the Historic Preservation Commission 
and Site Plan Review Committee.  

14. Drive-through windows are not permitted on any building. 
15. Roof-top mechanical equipment shall be screened from ground level view with a parapet or 

other architectural feature. 
16. Exterior storage - Exterior storage by a retail establishment is permitted only for items which 

by their nature are typically used outdoors in an unprotected environment. To protect the 
integrity of adjacent properties, the Zoning Administrator may require that exterior storage 
areas be completely screened from the street and from adjacent properties by a six (6) foot high 
wood or masonry fence or by natural plants or trees of equal minimum height so planted as to 
provide maximum opacity. 

17. In commercial and mixed-use structures, windows, doors, display windows arcades shall 
comprise 50% of the total area for street-facing facades on the first floor. 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1043 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

18. All building modifications, additions and new construction in this District shall require 
approval by the Historic Preservation Commission and Site Plan Review Committee as 
outlined in this Ordinance. 

 
712.13-A Leonard Court PUD: The purpose of this Planned Unit Development (PUD) District is 
to help preserve a portion of historic district that has a concentration of residential units that are 
architecturally contributing and intact while allowing for a development that: 

 Permits more flexibility and creativity in individual planned developments while reducing 
improvement costs through more efficient arrangements of varied land uses, buildings, 
circulation systems, and infrastructure; 

 Permits innovative site plans by granting relief from stricter and fixed regulations provided 
for in zoning districts otherwise established by this Ordinance; 

 Encourages the preservation and enhancement of the natural amenities of land and protects 
the natural features of a site; 

 Permits infill development and the development of sites made difficult for conventionally 
designed development because of shape, size, abutting development, poor accessibility or 
topography and by the use of stringent design and development controls; 

 Secures more usable open and recreational space than expected by the use of conventional 
regulations; and 

 Provides a living, working, and shopping environment within the layout of the site that 
contributes to a sense of community. 

 
712.13.01 –A Permitted Uses and Regulations:  

 Shall be governed by Sections 902-A thru 910-A of the Z 

That this Ordinance shall be in force and effect thirty (30) days after passage and after publication 
of the same by the petitioner. 

President Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Banks seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Lindsay recognized Dr. Sandra Faye Holly, Jimmie Stewart and Frank Figgers, 
who spoke in favor of a Comprehensive Rezoning of the Farish Street area and the relative text 
amendments to the City of Jackson Official Zoning Ordinance as adopted on May 29, 1974 and 
subsequently amended to establish the Farish Street Area Cultural Mixed-Use District (FSA-
CMUD). 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
Thereafter, President Lindsay called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell and Lindsay. 
Nays – None. 
Absent –Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
Cancelled Special Exceptions\Use Permits – No Action Required: 
    

(Ward 1)   SE 4097 – Lakeita F. Rox-Love – 5375 Red Fox Rd. (Parcel #551-168) 
 
• SE was granted to Lakeita F. Rox-Love on Sept. 21, 2020 to operate a Professional 

(Real Estate) Office within an R-1 (Single-family) Residential District. 
 

• Cancellation was based upon non-response and non-payment from the grantee by the 
deadline date of September 9, 2024. 

 
(Ward 5)   C-UP 4179 – Terrance Brent, Sr.  – 540 Raymond Rd. -Suite 2. (Parcel 
#217-9)  



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1044 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

• C-UP was granted to Terrance Brent, Sr. on Sept. 19, 2022 to operate a General 
Restaurant within a C-2 (Limited) Commercial District. 
 

• Cancellation was based upon non-response and non-payment from the grantee by the 
deadline date of September 9, 2024. 

 
(Ward 5)   C-UP 4122 – Andy Abrams Foundation – 540 Raymond Rd. – Suite 2. 
(Parcel #217-9)  
 
• C-UP was granted to Andy Abrams Foundation on Sept. 18, 2023 to operate a 

transitional housing for seven (7) to twelve (12) residents within a R-4 (Limited Multi-
family) Residential District. 
 

• Cancellation was based upon non-response and non-payment from the grantee by the 
deadline date of September 9, 2024. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
ORDER GRANTING EXTENSION OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS AND USE 
PERMITS FOR ONE YEAR. 

            Coming for consideration are requests for the approval of the following for certification of 
renewal for one year and after the anniversary date of approval for Use Permit or Special Exceptions 
as follows: 

CASE NO. NAME LOCATION USE GRANTED 

  SE– 3844  

Ward 1 
Anthony R. Simon 

621 E. Northside Dr. 

 
Professional Non-

Retail Office 09/16/13 

  C-UP 3914  

     Ward 7 

Richard & 
Company, LLC c/o 

Richard McKey 

Patton Ave. Parcel #48-97  

 
Accessory Parking Lot 

09/21/15 

 

  SE–4137 

     Ward 2 

Betty Sullivan 

 

1611 Countrywood Dr. 

 
Professional (Real 

Estate) Office 
09/20/21 

 

   C-UP 4141 

     Ward 7 
Miltoria Heath 

1110 Noel St. 

 
Commercial Child 

Care Center 
09/20/21 

 

  C-UP- 4125  

     Ward 5 
Lemuel & Archie 

Tripp 
3181 J R Lynch St. 

 
Community 

Recreational Facility 09/18/23 

  SE- 4219  

     Ward 5 
Kinya Godbolt 

34 Elaine Ct.  

 
Catering Service 

09/18/23 

 

  C-UP - 4220 

     Ward 4 

Jishnu Gosain 

 

4840 Highway 18 W 

 
Liquor Store 

09/18/23 

 

   C-UP 4222 

     Ward 7 

African Christian 
Fellowship USA, 

Inc. Jackson Chapter 
Abiye lyo 

 

1638 & 1640 S. Gallatin 
St.  

 

Community 
Recreational Facility 

09/18/23 

 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Council of the City of Jackson that the said Use Permits 
and/or Special Exceptions be and the same are hereby extended for another year from and after the 
anniversary date granting said permits. 

President Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Banks seconded. 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 2:30 P.M.                              1045 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Z 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – Stokes.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the next Regular Council Meeting to be held at 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, September 24, 
2024. At 3:30 p.m., the Council stood adjourned. 
 
 
PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
                                  ____________                                                     ,______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
 
 
                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 
      ATTEST: 
 
                                         ____________     
      CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 


















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































	September 16 2024 Regular Council Zoning Minutes FINAL.pdf
	712-A Purpose of the District
	712.03-A General Regulations


